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Restaurant, food and hotel ~~ &# - RmREE 713 813 856 768 706
Property investment and WERERER
development 154 120 114 263 90
867 933 970 1,031 796
Profit Attributable to BREEEA
owners of the Parent 1t a M 127 317 278 14 81
Basic Earnings per Share BREAZF
(HK cents) (&1L) 10.16 25.27 22.12 1.12 6.44
Net Assets BEZE 3,530 3,958 3,830 3,563 3,831
Total Assets BEE 6,084 6,306 6,262 6,393 6,772

Analysis of Revenue ATERSS CF H

A g g Attributable to Owners of the Parent

BRRIER AR DT

HK$ million HK$ million
BET BEET
1200 400
350

1000
300

800
250
600 200
150

400
100

200
50
0

2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA, Kai Cheung, PhD, SBS, BBS
(Honorary Chairman)

MA, Kai Yum, pPhD (Chairman)

MA, Hung Ming, John, PnD, BBS, JP
(Vice-chairman)

LIANG, Rui (Chief Executive Officer)

CHAN, Francis Ping Kuen

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO, Ming Chi, Charles

WONG, See King"

LO, Man Kit, Sam*

CHEUNG, Wah Fung, Christopher*

AUDIT COMMITTEE

LO, Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman)
WONG, See King
LO, Man Kit, Sam
CHEUNG, Wah Fung, Christopher

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

LO, Man Kit, Sam (Chairman)

LO, Ming Chi, Charles

WONG, See King

CHEUNG, Wah Fung, Christopher

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

MA, Kai Yum, pPhD (Chairman)

LO, Ming Chi, Charles

WONG, See King

LO, Man Kit, Sam

CHEUNG, Wah Fung, Christopher

* LO, Man Kit, Sam resigned as independent non-executive
director, member of the audit committee and nomination
committee, and chairman of the remuneration committee with
effect from 15 July 2021

i CHEUNG, Wah Fung, Christopher was appointed as an
independent non-executive director, a member of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee
with effect from 15 July 2021

WONG, See King was appointed as the chairman of the
remuneration committee with effect from 15 July 2021
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On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | would like
to present the Annual Report of Carrianna Group Holdings
Company Limited for the financial year ended 31 March 2021.

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s turnover was
HK$796,026,000 (2020: HK$1,031,070,000), decreased by
23% as compared to last year. The Group’s profit attributable
to shareholders was HK$81,004,000 (2020: HK$14,123,000),
increased by 474% from last year. The decrease in turnover
was mainly attributable to the sale of the land numbered
“H” and the construction in progress situated on it of the
Lianyungang project last year and the decrease in the turnover
of hotel business and restaurant business in Hong Kong. The
increase in operating profit attributable to shareholders was due
to the improvement in the operating results of the restaurant,
bakery and hotel businesses during the year.

2020/2021 had been a difficult year. The global trade disputes
and COVID-19 had hindered economic development and
caused instability to the global economy. Economic activities
were widely disrupted as lockdowns and travel bans were
imposed in various cities. Local demand was weakened and
uncertainty surrounding the pandemic lingered, which had
significantly affected the Group’s businesses during the year.

The Group continued to focus its property investment and
development in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macau Greater
Bay Area. Construction of the 13 storeys commercial building
situated at the vibrant central district of the Guangzhou South
high speed train station was completed and the property
was delivered by Vanke Group in October 2020. The leasing
of the office premises has been progressing well at around
73% occupancy to date. The property has a guarantee of 4%
investment return for 3 years. The addition of the high grade
commercial property to the investment properties portfolio in
the Mainland will bring additional leasing income to the Group.

In Hong Kong, the Group’s 50% owned residential property
re-development project at Haitan Street, Sham Shui Po
has entered its construction stage of development. The
project has a buildable gross floor area of 42,500 sq.ft.. The
associate company, Grand Creation Development Limited
has successfully acquired 100% of the property ownerships
by compulsory auction sale at end of 2020. Site investigation
and demolition works were conducted in the first quarter of
2021 and completed in May 2021. Foundation works have
commenced in the second quarter of 2021. The project is
expected to complete by mid-2023.
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The Group’s another 50% owned residential property re-
development project at Castle Peak Road, Sham Shui Po is
progressing well in schedule. The project has a buildable gross
floor area of 42,400 sq.ft.. As at today, the associate company,
Mega Success Limited has successfully acquired approximately
90% of the property ownerships of the Phase 1 development,
and it is expected all the remaining units will be acquired by
compulsory auction sale by the first quarter of 2022. Site
investigation and demolition works are estimated to commence
thereafter. The project is expected to complete by mid-2024.

The Group had recorded an increase of 4% in rental income
for the year. While there was a slight decrease in rental income
in Hong Kong, the investment properties in the Mainland have
recorded an increase in rental income as a result of the addition
of the Guangzhou South Station Property to the investment
properties portfolio this year.

The food and restaurant business is another core business of
the Group. Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the lockdowns
and disruptions to economic activities in the Mainland and
Hong Kong had affected the restaurant, food and hotel
segment businesses for the year. The business segment
recorded a decrease of 8% in turnover from last year, which
was mainly attributable to the decrease in the turnover of hotel
business and the restaurant business in Hong Kong. However,
segment profit increased significantly by 364% from last year
as a result of the improvement in the operating results of the
restaurant, bakery and hotel businesses as well as the support
by the government subsidies under the “Anti-epidemic Fund”
and “Employment Support Scheme.”

Turnover of the subsidiary Profit Smart group’s bread business
in Hong Kong reduced 8% from last year. However, the Profit
Smart group has recorded a significant increase in profit of
554% from last year. Apart from the support by the government
subsidies of the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and “Employment
Support Scheme”, the Profit Smart group has managed to
improve results of the retail shops by introducing new products
and improving sales. At the same time, the factory business
performance has continued to improve as a result of better cost
controls and operating efficiency. Management will continue
to strengthen product development and introduce more new
products with the aim to boost sales.
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The Group’s overall restaurant turnover decreased by
18% from last year. This was mainly due to the decrease
in the restaurant business in Hong Kong as a result of the
government policies to combat COVID-19 on social distancing
and restrictions including number of diners and dining hours of
restaurants. However, the restaurant business in the Mainland
recorded a 31% growth in turnover over last year due to the
quick recovery of the economy as a result of effective control
over COVID-19 and strong performance of the “Shun Yi" (JIE
&) Shunde cuisine restaurants. Turnover of “Shun Yi” Shunde
cuisine restaurants surged 158% this year. As a result of
management’s decisive measures to control costs including
rental, labour and food costs, together with the support by
the government subsidies of the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and
“Employment Support Scheme”, restaurant business has
managed to turn around to profit from a loss last year.

Affected by the outbreak of COVID-19, the Hong Kong
Delicious restaurant group recorded a decrease of 40%
in turnover from last year. The Delicious restaurant group
recorded a profit as against a loss last year. The improvement in
operating results was mainly attributable to the swift response
by management in the implementation of various cost control
measures in food, labour and rent to minimize the impact of
the virus outbreak on the restaurant operation and financial
performance, supported by the government subsidies of the
“Anti-epidemic Fund” and “Employment Support Scheme”.
The Group has also adjusted its business strategies according
to the market conditions to boost sales by increasing
promotions, new products, special discounts and takeaway
and home delivery. The Group was taking all necessary
measures to reduce costs and maintain the existing operations
in preparation for the business rebound as the COVID-19 is
easing down and economy recovering.
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Although there are economic uncertainties and challenges
ahead, management remains positive and cautiously optimistic
about the prospects of the Group’s property investment and
development business and the restaurant, food and hotel
business.

With its severe social restrictions and ability to contain the
COVID-19, China’s economy was able to rebound quickly
from the second quarter of 2020. The restaurant business
performance in the Mainland improved and revenue rebounded
further in the second half of the year as compared to the
first half. It is expected that China will continue to adopt its
monetary easing policies and GDP will rise to over 7% in
2021. The Group expects the business performance will
make progress along with the recovery of the economy and
increasing spending power in the Mainland.

Management will continue to focus its business development in
the Greater Bay Area where demand for commercial buildings
and office towers will remain strong. Also, the land supply
shortage, low level of interest rate and strong end-user demand
will continue to provide a strong support to the residential
property market in Hong Kong. While the existing investment
property portfolio provides steady income flow, the new
Guangzhou South Station Property and the 2 Shum Shui Po
property re-development projects will provide additional income
return to the Group in the short and medium term. The Group
will continue to look out for commercial and residential projects
with re-development value in the Greater Bay Area.
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With the introduction of the vaccines for COVID-19 and
increasing number of vaccinations, it is expected that there will
be gradual easing of lockdowns and travel bans and resuming
of business activities. Management has seen the picking up
again of the Group’s restaurant and bakery business. The
Group will continue to control costs and adjust its business
strategies in response to market changes to increase
competitiveness. The Group remains cautiously optimistic
about the restaurant and bakery business performance in the
coming year as the pandemic eases down.

In addition, with the advanced Hainan production facility in
operation, the Group is optimistic about the expansion of its
food business in the Mainland. The new bread production line
has commenced its operation in November 2020. Besides, the
factory is expected to produce packaged Hainan-style food
and Chinese-style dry meat products, so that the food business
will become more diversified and continue to contribute to the
growth of the Group’s food business in the next few years.

| would like to take this opportunity to extend my appreciation
to the Board, management team and staff for their support
and dedication to the Group and to shareholders, customers,
suppliers and other business partners for their unfailing
support.

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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HONORARY CHAIRMAN AND
EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MA Kai Cheung, PnD, SBS, BBS, aged 79, is the co-founder
of the Group. Mr. Ma has been appointed as Honorary
Chairman and re-designated as Non-Executive Director of the
Group since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma was re-designated as
Executive Director on 10 December 2020. Mr. Ma has over
30 years’ experience in the restaurant business and property
development. He was a committee member of the 9th,
10th and 11th National Committee of the Chinese People’s
Political Consultative Conference. He is the consultant of the
All-Chinese Federation of Returned Overseas Chinese, the
permanent honorary president of the Shenzhen Overseas
Chinese International Association, the permanent honorary
president of the Federation of Hong Kong Chiu Chow
Community Organizations Ltd., the permanent honorary
president of the Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce
Limited and the permanent honorary president of the Hong
Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association. Mr. Ma is the
elder brother of Mr. Ma Kai Yum.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

MA Kai Yum, PhD, aged 70, a co-founder of the Group,
has been an Executive Director of the Group since 1984,
and Chairman of the Group since 1 January 2014. Mr. Ma
accumulated many years of management experience from
garment business, property development, hotel and catering
business. Mr. Ma is currently responsible for the important
decision-making and business development of the Group. Mr.
Ma is a former member of Guangdong Provincial Committee
of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference and
also serves as the life honorary president of Hong Kong &
Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association, the supervisor of Hong
Kong & Kowloon Chiu Chow Public Association Secondary
School, the executive chairman of Hong Kong Changsha
Chamber of Commerce, the vice president of the Federation
of Hong Kong Chiu Chow Community Organization, the vice-
chairman of the Chinese Manufacturers Association of Hong
Kong and the chairman of the Hong Kong Commerce, Industry,
and Professionals Association. Mr. Ma is the younger brother of
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

MA Hung Ming, John, PrD, BBS, JP, aged 54, is an Executive
Director of the Group since May 2009. Mr. Ma joined the
Group in 1990 and was appointed Vice-chairman on 28
June 2019. He has been the Managing Director of Carrianna
Holdings Limited since April 2002 and is currently responsible
for the Group’s property development operations. He has
extensive experience in the catering industry, as well as
property management and development. Mr. Ma was awarded
the Bronze Bauhinia Star (BBS) from The Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in 2003,
appointed Justice of the Peace (JP) in 2015 and a Honorary
Doctorate of Philosophy degree by Morrison University in
2004. In 2011, he was awarded the honorary citizen by the
Shenzhen government. He was the chairman of Tung Wah
Group of Hospitals for the year 2002. He is a member of Tung
Wah Group of Hospitals Advisory Board, a member of the
Standing Committee of Shenzhen Committee of the Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference and also serves as
the executive vice chairman of the Federation of Hong Kong
Guangdong Community Organisations, the vice president of the
Hong Kong Chiu Chow Chamber of Commerce and the chief
president of the Hong Kong Chamber of Commerce, Qianhai.
Mr. Ma is an independent non-executive director of Liu Chong
Hing Investment Limited, the shares of which are listed on Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Ma is
the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

LIANG Rui, aged 46, is the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Director of the Group since 2 January 2021. He is
a representative of Shenzhen Municipal People’s Congress.
He holds a doctoral degree in technical economics and
management from the School of Economics and Business
Administration of Chongging University and a postdoctoral
degree in applied economics from the School of Economics and
Finance of Xi'an Jiaotong University. Since 2000, Mr. Liang has
worked for the Shenzhen Luohu District People’'s Government
for nearly 17 years, serving various senior posts including
deputy director of the Letters and Calls Bureau, director of the
District Committee (Government) Office, director of the District
Civil Affairs Bureau, and secretary and director of the Party’s
Working Committee of Nanhu Street Office. He has served
as the chief executive officer of Shuibei Jewelry Group since
October 2017. Mr. Liang is currently a non-executive director of
Coolpad Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on the
Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He
has served as the executive director of Coolpad Group Limited
from January 2018 to December 2020 and also their chief
executive officer from September 2019 to December 2020.

CHAN Francis Ping Kuen, aged 62, is the Executive Director,
Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary of the Group.
Mr. Chan joined the Group as the Group Financial Controller
in June 2019 and was appointed Company Secretary of the
Company in November 2019. He was appointed Executive
Director and Chief Financial Officer of the Group on 1 March
2020. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of experience in auditing,
accounting and financial management. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Chan has held senior finance positions in a number
of listed companies and multinational corporations. He was
also the director of an investment and business consultancy
firm and has extensive experience in corporate finance and
investment in the Mainland and Hong Kong. He also possesses
substantial working experience in public accountancy
practice with an international accounting firm. Mr. Chan
holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from the University
of Sydney in Australia. He is a member of the Chartered
Accountants Australia and New Zealand and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan is currently
an independent non-executive director of China Dynamics
(Holdings) Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

LO Ming Chi, Charles, aged 71, is an Independent Non-
Executive Director of the Company. Mr. Lo joined the Group
in 1991. Mr. Lo is a member of the CPA Australia and fellow
member of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia. Mr.
Lo is an independent non-executive director of Cash Financial
Services Group Limited. He was an executive director of
Winshine Science Company Limited from 3 October 2009
until 10 November 2014 when he was re-designated as non-
executive director and served until 18 December 2017. All
these companies are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. He has more than 30 years of professional and
business experience in financial and investment services in
Australia, Hong Kong and other Asian countries.

WONG See King, aged 59, is an Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Group in August
2007. Mr. Wong is currently the chief financial officer of HAGER
Asia Limited, a subsidiary of the HAGER Group which is a
market leader of selling building hardware products in the
US market, being engaging for building hardware business in
China and Hong Kong. Mr. Wong had also worked as financial
and business executive in various Australian, UK and US
multi-national companies. He has over 20 years of working
experience in corporate finance, building hardware, consumer
goods manufacturing and distribution business in Hong Kong
and China and property development business in Australia.
He holds a bachelor’s degree in Economics from Macquarie
University, Australia and is a member of the CPA Australia.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS (Continued)

CHEUNG Wah Fung, Christopher, S8S, JrP, aged 69, is an
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company. Mr.
Cheung joined the Group in July 2021. Mr. Cheung is currently
a member of the Legislative Council (Financial Services) of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region and the Chairman
of Christfund Securities Limited. He obtained an EMBA
degree from the City University of Hong Kong in 2007. Mr.
Cheung has extensive experience in the financial market and
securities industry for over 40 years. He serves as a member
of the National Committee of the Chinese People’s Politica
Consultative Conference, the honorary president of the Hong
Kong Securities Professionals Association, an elected director
of the Hong Kong Chinese General Chamber of Commerce,
the president of the Hong Kong China Chamber of Commerce,
the honorary president of the Hong Kong Federation of Fujian
Association, the deputy secretary of the Friends of Hong Kong
Association, and the vice president of the Federation of HK
Jiangsu Community Organization. Mr. Cheung is currently an
independent non-executive director of Tongda Group Holdings
Limited, the issued shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 698).
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

MA Hung Man, Raymond, aged 45, is the Executive Director
of the China Food Division of the Company. Mr. Ma graduated
from the University of California, Davis with a bachelor of
Science degree in Civil Engineering and he holds a professional
engineer license in civil engineering in USA. Mr. Ma has
substantial experience in food and beverage business. Mr. Ma
is the son of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung.

LEE Chor Kwing, aged 54, is the Managing Director of the
China Food Division of the Group, Carrianna (Hainan) Catering
Service Co., Ltd. and Carrianna (Hainan) Food Processing Co.,
Ltd.. He has been serving the Group’s Carrianna (Chiu Chau)
Restaurant in Hong Kong since 1986. Mr. Lee has been in
charge of operation of Hainan Carrianna restaurant and food
business since 1993.

JIANG Benhua, aged 54, joined the Group in 1992 and was
promoted to executive chef of the Group in 1993. In 2016,
he was appointed as the Managing Director of Carrianna
restaurant group. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Jiang worked
for a well-known restaurant group in Hong Kong. Mr. Jiang
has over 30 years of experience in restaurant operation and
management and has acquired honorary awards and positions
including Chinese Cooking Master, Golden Chef of Europe
Excellent Food Society, Shenzhen Top Ten Golden Chef and
Honorary Chairman of Asia Pacific Grandchef Society.

CHENG Ka Wah, aged 57, is the Managing Director of
Delicious Group Dining Services Limited and the founder of
the Delicious restaurant group. Mr. Cheng has more than 30
years’ experience in restaurant business. He is responsible
for business development and daily operation of the Delicious
restaurant group.

CHU Chun Fung, aged 60, is the founder of the Profit Smart
group and currently an Executive Director of Profit Smart Group
Limited. Mr. Chu has more than 35 years’ experience in bakery
business. He is responsible for business development and daily
operation of the Profit Smart group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance as set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”), in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
which became effective on 1 January 2005. The corporate
governance principles of the Company emphasise a quality
board of directors (the “Board”), sound internal control,
principles and practices and transparency and accountability
to all shareholders of the Company. Save as disclosed below,
the Company has complied with the CG Code throughout the
accounting period covered by this report.

In accordance with Code Provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-
executive directors should be appointed for a specific term,
subject to re-election. Currently, the independent non-executive
directors are not appointed for a specific term. However, all the
directors (except Chairman) are subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years at the annual general meeting of
the Company in accordance with the provision of the By-laws
of the Company and their terms of appointment are reviewed
when they are due for re-election.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE
FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the code for
securities transactions by directors of the Company. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, the directors of the Company
have confirmed that they have complied with the required
standard under the Model Code throughout the year.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

As at 31 March 2021, the Board comprised eight directors,
including five executive directors and three independent non-
executive directors.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The brief biographical details of the directors are set out in the
“Director and Senior Management’s Biographies” on pages 10
to 15 of this report.

The composition of the Board is reviewed regularly to ensure
that it has a good balance of expertise, skills, diversity of
perspectives and experience which can meet the requirements
of the business of the Company.

The directors of the Company have been appointed for a term
subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Bye-
laws of the Company. According to Bye-law 102(A) of the
Bye-laws of the Company, director appointed to fill any casual
vacancy shall hold office only until the next following annual
general meeting after their appointment and shall be subject to
re-election by the shareholders of the Company. According to
Bye-law 99 of the Bye-laws of the Company, one-third of the
directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
(except Chairman or Managing Director) and shall be eligible for
re-election at each annual general meeting.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for ensuring continuity of leadership,
development of sound business strategies, availability of
adequate capital and managerial resources to implement the
business strategies adopted, adequacy of systems of financial
and internal controls and conduct of business in conformity
with applicable laws and regulations. All directors of the
Company have made full and active contribution to the affairs of
the Board and the Board has always acted in the best interests
of the Group.

The executive directors and senior management of the
Company are delegated with respective levels of authorities
with regard to key corporate strategy and policy and
contractual commitments. Management is responsible for
the day-to-day operations of the Group with divisional heads
responsible for different aspects of the business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

The Board is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements. The Company has adopted the generally accepted
accounting standards in Hong Kong in preparing the financial
statements, appropriate accounting policies have been
adopted and applied consistently, and reasonable and prudent
judgement and estimates have been made. The publication of
the financial statements of the Group is also in a timely manner.

The Board has reviewed the financial projections of the Group
and the Board is not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt over
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Accordingly,
the Board has continued to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the financial statements.

The responsibility of Ernst & Young, the Company’s external
auditors, is set out on pages 75 to 83 of the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in this annual report.

BOARD MEETINGS

During the year, the Board met regularly and held four regular
board meetings. The attendance of the directors at the board
meetings was as follows:

FE A0 )

E=ZCREREMBEBR -ARAERAEY
BHREAFGERBELLBEMN G ER
VTEBRANEREE GHABER RMELA
B NEE AR AR E 2 R ERR
DI G

EXgLERAKBECVBGEE HESS
Y TAMBRAEEHARERBELERNE
KREANER 2 EMHHBRERZEMERT
AMAR Ul EEGCHERIUSELE
EBHEM B REK -

RATINEPZBED L K Gt BV ERB T 2 B1E
HNAFRFETSEGIA 2 B BRI R E
o

RS
FAN ZEFGTHER GRTHAESSH
- EFHREESTTEZNERNOT:

Number of

attendance
Directors BE=E IR
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) BNEEE (SELE) 9/11
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 11/11
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) Bt (BT E) 9/11
Mr. Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer) RERSE (TTHAAS)

(resigned on 1 January 2021) (R=ZF=—F—H—HEFHF) 5/6
Mr. Liang Rui (Chief Executive Officer) RIFE (TTIHAER)

(appointed on 2 January 2021) (RZF=Z—F—HZ=ZHZF) 5/5
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen BoR I 1 4 A 11/11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BERE L 11/11
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B &

(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=—F+H+7HEE) 11/11
Mr. Wong See King mRBEE 11/11

18



BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

Regular board meetings are scheduled in advance to
facilitate all directors’ attendance. Regular board meetings
are scheduled to be held four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. At least 14 days’ notice of a board mesting
is given to all directors who are given an opportunity to include
matters for discussion in the agenda. If potential conflict of
interest involving a substantial shareholder or a director arises,
the matter is discussed in a physical meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. The directors attend
meetings in persons or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company.

Board papers are circulated approximately three days before
the board meetings to enable the directors to make informed
decisions on matters to be raised. The Company Secretary
assists the Chairman in preparing the agenda for meetings
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are
complied with. The Company Secretary shall attend all regular
board meetings to advise on corporate governance, statutory
compliance, accounting and financial matters when necessary.
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
are able to obtain independent professional advice whenever
deemed necessary by the directors. The Company Secretary
shall prepare minutes and keep records of matters discussed
and decisions resolved at all board meetings.

Each newly-appointed director will be provided with a
package of orientation materials setting out the duties and
responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules, related
ordinances and relevant regulatory requirements of Hong Kong.
Updates are provided to directors when necessary to ensure
that directors are aware of the latest changes in the commercial
and regulatory environment in which the Group conducts its
business.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
BOARD MEETINGS (Continued)

According to the records of the Company, during the financial
year ended 31 March 2021, the directors participated in the

EEG 9

EEGE®R A

REARAMFLCE REE
A=Z+—-BLEVREERN EFCL2EUT

—T %=

following trainings: -
Type of training
Directors BE= EIER
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung SNELEE @)
(Honorary Chairman) (EELE)
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) ENREE(EE) 1.2
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John EIRShE (FEE) (1,2
(Vice-chairman)
Mr. Leung Pak Yan PERBEE (TTHAEE) M.
(Chief Executive Officer) (R=ZF=Z—F—H—H
(resigned on 1 January 2021) FFIT)
Mr. Liang Rui R T (TTHAEZL) M.
(Chief Executive Officer) (R=ZF=-——F—H=H
(appointed on 2 January 2021) ZF)
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen PR JI 42 5 A (1,2
Independent Non-Executive BUFHITES
Directors
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BEAS A 1.
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B E M.
(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R—F-——F+HA+HHA
BHE)
Mr. Wong See King BRELEE @)
(1)  Attending training sessions/seminars (1) HEEIEE e

(2)  Reading materials

@

B AR



CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

According to the code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code, the
roles of chairman and chief executive should be separate and
should not be performed by the same individual. For the year
ended 31 March 2021, Mr. Ma Kai Yum was the Chairman and
Mr. Leung Pak Yan was the Chief Executive Officer, who served
until 1 January 2021 and was succeeded by Mr. Liang Rui
on 2 January 2021, of which the roles are separated and not
performed by the same individual.

One of the important roles of the Chairman is to provide
leadership to the Board to ensure that the Board always acts in
the best interests of the Group. The Chairman shall ensure that
the Board works effectively and performs its responsibilities,
and that all key and appropriate issues are discussed by it in
a timely manner. All directors have been consulted about any
matters proposed for inclusion in the agenda. With the support
of the Company Secretary, the Chairman seeks to ensure that
all directors are properly briefed on issues arising at any board
meeting and have received adequate and reliable information in
a timely manner.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive directors provide a wide range
of expertise and experience as well as checks and balances
to safeguard the interests of the Group and its shareholders.
Their participation in the board and committee meetings brings
independent judgement on issues relating to the Group’s
strategy, performance, conflicts of interest and management
process to ensure that the interests of all shareholders of the
Company have been duly considered.

The Company has three independent non-executive directors
representing more than one-third of the Board. More than
one of the independent non-executive directors have the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. The Board confirms that the
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive directors an annual confirmation of his independence
and considers that all the independent non-executive directors
are independent under the guidelines set out in Rules 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, to handle particular responsibilities of
the Board and the Company’s affairs. All board committees
of the Company were established with defined written terms
of reference which have been uploaded to the website of
the Stock Exchange and that of the Company. The board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established on 1 April 1999 and
comprises three independent non-executive directors, including
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and
Mr. Wong See King.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Audit Committee, was adopted by
the Board on 1 September 2004, amended and restated on 26
March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance with
the Code Provisions and Recommended Best Practices of the
CG Code.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (Continued)

The Audit Committee is accountable to the Board and the
principal duties of the Audit Committee include the review and
supervision of the Group’s financial reporting process, internal
controls and review of the Group’s financial statements. The
Audit Committee is also provided with other resources to
enable it to discharge its duties fully.

During the year, the Audit Committee held two meetings and
the external auditors were in attendance. The attendance
records of the members of the Audit Committee are set out in
the table below:
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Number of

meetings

attended/Total

number of

meetings

HESRRE

Directors BE= BEBRY

Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles (Chairman) BRAR SE () 2/2
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BB A

(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=Z—F+H+HHAFF) 2/2

Mr. Wong See King BEERBEE 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management of
the Company and Ernst & Young, the external auditors of the
Company, the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group and has discussed auditing, internal controls and
financial reporting matters, including the review of the annual
report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2021.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration to Ernst & Young in respect of the services
rendered was as follows:

% Yok 2
BRI AT FRGZ RIE2BEmT -

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Audit fee ZE RS 3,040 3,520
Non-audit service fees* IEZ BRI 240 145
Total 4=t 3,280 3,665

*

Non-audit services include taxation compliance and other
professional services provided

The Audit Committee had concluded that it was satisfied with
the findings of its review of audit service fee, process and
effectiveness, independence and objectivity.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 1 April 2005
and comprises three independent non-executive directors,
including Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman), Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles and Mr. Wong See King.

A set of written terms of reference, which describes the
authority and duties of the Remuneration Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 1 April 2005, amended and restated
on 26 March 2012 and the contents of which are in compliance
with the code provisions of the CG Code.

The objectives of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and maintain an appropriate and competitive level of
remuneration to attract, retain and motivate directors and key
executives to run the Company successfully. The Remuneration
Committee also ensures that the remuneration policies and
systems of the Group support the Group’s objectives and
strategies. The Remuneration Committee is provided with
sufficient resources to perform its duties.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE (Continued)

During the year, the Remuneration Committee held two
meetings. The attendance records of the members of the
Remuneration Committee are set out in the table below:
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HMEE G =
R FHEERBRMARS -FHEES

EHOREHEERMT

Number of

meetings

attended/Total

number of

meetings

HEEERE

Directors = HEZRHY
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam (Chairman) EXBEE (EE)

(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=——F+H+7HEE) 2/2

Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles B L 2/2

Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 2/2

During the year, the Remuneration Committee made
recommendations to the Board on executive directors’
remuneration packages and terms of employment. The
Remuneration Committee also formulated and evaluated the
remuneration policy and structure for the directors and senior
management of the Company.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the

remuneration of the members of senior management by band
for the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out below:

FR FTHZEERATESZIHFHETAER
ERERAETERIEZZ-FHERESN
HEAIRHEARBAEERSREEABZH
W BSR4

FHEREREHEANEMN S

BRI (EERTHD) ZTRHEXEBA1.5E
BE #2-_T-_—4F=-A=+—8BILE5E
BHENERE D 25REEAENHEHT
R

Number of

individuals

A

Up to HK$1,000,000 % 11,000,000 7T )
HK$1,000,001 = HK$2,000,000 1,000,001 7t 22,000,000/ 7T 5)
HK$2,000,001 — HK$5,000,000 2,000,0017% 7T £5,000,000/% 7T 1

Further particulars in relation to the remuneration of directors
and the five highest paid employees’ remuneration as required
to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules
are set out in notes 8 and 9, respectively, to the consolidated
financial statements.

HBEBEEME RAUFMRS 2 1E S B
EMRELHRAME T NBETREZE—
FHBD RIEFINERE M RRM E8ROA
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee was established on 26 March 2012
and comprises one executive director and three independent
non-executive directors, including Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman),
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles, Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong
See King.

A set of new written terms of reference, which describes
the authority and duties of the Nomination Committee, was
adopted by the Board on 26 March 2012 and the contents
of which are in compliance with the Code Provisions and
Recommended Best Practices of the CG Code.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for making
recommendations to the nomination of directors with a view
to appointing suitable individuals with relevant expertise and
experience to enhance the constitution of the Board and to
contribute to the Board. In the nomination procedures, the
Nomination Committee makes reference to criteria including
reputation of candidates for integrity, accomplishment and
experience, professional and educational background.

%%éﬁ@

RAZEENR_FT——F=A=+/"BKZ"
B — %%&ﬂTTi%&:%?%_L?FﬂTTi%%ﬂW
BEENREE(FE) BREXRE EX

BWEERERBREE-

—heHzRAZEEEERERECN =
T-_F=RF-t+NHEZEESRMN HHH
REZBGZERMEBE EFAR Wﬂﬁﬁi
(BEEARTA) 2TABRXERRERERES
AR -

REZECSEBENESRAEHRER UEFE
E:ﬁ*@%%%%%ﬂ%%&%&ﬁﬁﬁ@L;?}\L LA 5%
IFEEEKELEE RESSELER -RIE
ZBAEP BEEZEEL2ENERERERE
ARBEE R RER BERBEER -

During the year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting. FR IRZEZEE€AM—AE€F - IEREES
The attendance records of the members of the Nomination X8~ HE T
Committee are set out in the table below:
Number of
meetings
attended/Total
number of
meetings
HESBERE
Directors BE HMEERE
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) 1/1
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles BB RE 1/1
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam J%Yf%f'ﬁi%
(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=Z—F+A+AHHFT) 1/1
Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 1/1

26



COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary of the Company is Mr. Chan Francis
Ping Kuen, who is also the Chief Financial Officer and Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Chan holds a bachelor’s degree
in Economics from the University of Sydney in Australia and
is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Chartered Accountants Australia and New
Zealand. Mr. Chan has complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules for taking not less than 15 hours of relevant professional
training during the year.

INTERNAL CONTROLS AND RISK
MANAGEMENT

The Board is overall responsible for maintaining an effective
risk management and internal control systems to safeguard the
Group’s assets and its shareholders’ investments. The Board
oversees the operations of all the businesses units within the
Group and continuously reviews and makes improvements in
its risk management and internal control framework. Suitable
candidates are appointed by the Board to join in the boards of
all subsidiaries and associates operating in key business areas,
to attend the board meetings and to oversee the operations
of such companies. The management of each business area
is accountable for these operation and performance of the
business under its area of responsibility. The Board conducts
reviews of the effectiveness of the system of internal controls
as well as the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of staff of the accounting and financial reporting
functions, and their training programmes and budget.

The Board conducted semi-annual reviews on the internal
control and risk management systems of the Group covering
all material controls including financial, operational controls and
risk management pursuant to the Codes and considered that
all the material internal controls and risk management in the
Group were adequate and effective during the year. The Board
will keep review and monitor the effectiveness of the internal
control and risk management systems on a regular basis to
ensure that the systems in place are adequate.
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COMMUNICATION CHANNELS

In order to develop and maintain continuing relationships
with the shareholders of the Company, the Company has
established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communications:

()  the annual general meeting provides a forum for
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and
exchange views with the Board;

(i)  updated key information of the Group is available on the
Company’s website at www.carrianna.com to enable the
shareholders of the Company and the investor community
to have timely access to information about the Group;

(i) the Company’s website offers a communication channel
between the Company and its shareholders and
investors;

(iv)  the rights of the shareholders of the Company are set out
in the Bye-laws of the Company; and

(v) the shareholders may put forward their proposals or
enquiries to the Board by sending their written requests to
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

The Chairman and the directors are available at the annual
general meetings to answer questions raised by shareholders
of the Company or other interested parties.

CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

The Board shall on the written requisition of shareholders of the
Company holding at the date of the deposit of the requisition
in aggregate not less than one-tenth of such of the paid-up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at the SGM,
forthwith proceed duly to convene the SGM (“Requisition”). The
Requisition, which may consist of several documents in like
form each signed by one or more requisitionists, must state the
objects of the SGM and be deposited at the Company’s head
office and principal place of business in Hong Kong.
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CONVENING A SPECIAL GENERAL
MEETING BY SHAREHOLDERS (“SGM”)

(Continued)

If the Board does not within twenty-one days from the date of
the deposit of the Requisition proceed duly to convene a SGM,
the requisitionists, or any of them representing more than one
half of the total voting rights of all of them, may themselves
convene a SGM in the same manner, as nearly as possible,
as that in which SGM may be convened by the Board, but
any meeting so convened shall not be held after the expiration
of three months from the aforesaid date of the deposit of the
Requisition.

All reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as a
result of the failure of the Board to convene such a SGM shall
be reimbursed to them by the Company.

Attendance of the directors at the last annual general meeting
which was held on 28 August 2020 was as follows:
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HEFERERBHZERERRB -+ —
AAERBRBKRFR RS AR HERD
ALTHEREARKREBERALRERE
—¥ULE - GURRUVAEEEESHERZ
HABRBRFERI RS MU AR Z EM
TR TEN AR HZ BB =@A
BETT

ROBRENEFSREARFAZBRRTHIA
EMELEZMEGERX HERAKXRRM
MEEHLE

EEN_ZT_TEFNAZTNBEFTZLER
BRBFRSENHHFEBFROT

Number of

attendance
Directors = HE IR
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman) SNBEEE (ZEELE) —/1
Mr. Ma Kai Yum (Chairman) BNREE (FE) ~/1
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman) %ﬁ%%f‘ﬁﬂi (BI£/E) -/
Mr. Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer) BRASE (7TIHAEE)

(resigned on 1 January 2021) ( R-FE=-—F—F—HEHT) 1/1
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen BoR S 4 4 A 1/1
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles LA —/1
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam BN R E

(resigned on 15 July 2021) (R=ZF=Z—F+A+HHFTE) 1/1
Mr. Wong See King HEERBEE 11
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PROPERTY

Turnover of property segment for the year ended 31 March
2021 was HK$90,345,000 (2020: HK$262,667,000), a
decrease of 66% from last year. The decrease was mainly
attributable to the sale of the land numbered “H” and the
construction in progress situated on it for RMB160,344,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$179,826,000) of the
Lianyungang project last year, which was partly compensated
by the increase in rental income during the year. Segment profit
for the year was HK$100,801,000 (2020: HK$137,731,000),
a decrease of 27% from last year. The decrease in segment
operating profit was mainly resulted from the gain on disposal
of the abovementioned Lianyungang property recorded last
year, which was partly offset by the fair value gain of investment
properties for the year.

The Group’s rental income from investment properties for the
year was HK$85,490,000 (2020: HK$82,622,000), an increase
of 4% from last year. While there was a slight decrease in
rental income in Hong Kong, the investment properties in the
Mainland have recorded an increase in rental income as a result
of the addition of the Guangzhou South Station Property to the
investment properties portfolio this year.

The Group’s 50% owned Dongguan Home Town project was
in full operation, comprising the east tower of home furniture
and building materials centre with a total floor area of 109,000
sg.m. and the west and north towers of community, dining and
shopping mall with a total area of 164,000 sg.m.. The associate
is operating at a loss due to insufficient rental income to cover
the operating expenses. Management is in a continuous effort
to increase the attractiveness and competitiveness of the
shopping centres and improve the shop tenants’ quality, by
organizing promotional events to increase people flow and
attract more shop tenants in order to increase the occupancy
and value of the shopping centres.
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As to the business development in the Greater Bay Area,
construction of the 13 storeys commercial building situated at
the vibrant central district of the Guangzhou South high speed
train station in Panyu, Guangzhou (“Guangzhou South Station
Property”) was completed and the property was delivered by
Vanke Group in October 2020. The Guangzhou South Station
Property is a high grade commercial tower comprising the
ground floor lobby, all office units from 3rd to 13th floors and
75 car parking spaces at the basement level. The total gross
floor area of the office units is 9,203 sg.m. The addition of the
property to the investment properties portfolio in the Mainland
will bring additional rental income to the Group. The leasing
of the office premises has been progressing well with around
73% occupancy to date. The property has a guaranteed 4%
investment return for 3 years.

The Group’s 50% owned Haitan Street re-development project,
which is situated at 223-225A Haitan Street, Sham Shui Po,
Hong Kong has entered its construction stage of development.
The project comprises a site area of 4,729 sq.ft., buildable
gross floor area of 42,500 sq.ft., and saleable floor area of
approximately 34,400 sq.ft.. The associate company, Grand
Creation Development Limited has successfully acquired
100% of the property ownerships by compulsory auction sale
at end of 2020. Site investigation and demolition works were
conducted in the first quarter of 2021 and completed in May
2021. Foundation works have commenced in the second
quarter of 2021, which are estimated to be completed by
the first quarter of 2022 and construction works will follow
thereafter. The project is expected to be completed by mid-
2023.

The Group’s another 50% owned Castle Peak Road re-
development project, which is situated at 300-306 Castle
Peak Road, Sham Shui Po, Hong Kong is progressing well on
schedule. The project comprises a site area of 4,709 sq.ft.,
buildable gross floor area of 42,400 sq.ft., and saleable floor
area of approximately 34,300 sq.ft.. As at today, the associate
company, Mega Success Limited has successfully acquired
approximately 90% of the property ownerships of the Phase
1 development, and it is expected to acquire all the remaining
units through compulsory auction sale by the first quarter of
2022. Site investigation and demoalition works are estimated to
commence thereafter. The project is expected to be completed
by mid-2024.
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RESTAURANT, FOOD AND HOTEL

Due to the outbreak of COVID-19, the lockdowns and
disruptions to economic activities in the Mainland China
and Hong Kong had affected the restaurant, food and hotel
segment businesses for the year. Turnover of restaurant, food
and hotel segment for the year ended 31 March 2021 was
HK$705,681,000 (2020: HK$768,403,000), a decrease of 8%
from last year. The decrease was mainly attributable to the
decrease in the turnover of hotel business and the restaurant
business in Hong Kong. Segment profit for the year was
HK$105,049,000 (2020: HK$22,634,000), an increase of 364%
from last year. The significant increase was a result of the
improvement in the operating results of the restaurant, bakery
and hotel businesses as well as supported by the government
subsidies under the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and “Employment
Support Scheme.”

The Group’s overall restaurant turnover for the year was
HK$318,675,000 (2020: HK$389,445,000), a decrease of
18% from last year. This was mainly due to the decrease
in the restaurant business in Hong Kong as a result of the
government policies to combat COVID-19 on social distancing
and restrictions including number of diners and dining hours
of restaurants. Management’s prompt decision to close
down several loss-making restaurants also contributed to
the decrease in restaurant turnover. However, the restaurant
business in the Mainland China recorded an 31% growth
in turnover over last year due to the quick recovery of the
economy as a result of effective control over COVID-19 and
strong performance of the “Shun Yi" (JIEE) Shunde cuisine
restaurants. As a result of management’s decisive measures to
control costs including rental, labour and food costs, restaurant
business has managed to record an operating profit of
HK$10,298,000 as compared to a loss of HK$48,550,000 last
year.
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Hong Kong Wanchai Carrianna Chao Zhou cuisine Camanna Chao Zhou cuisine restaurant at Carrianna
restaurant Friendship Square in Shenzhen
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Sales revenue of Carrianna Chinese restaurant group increased
by 13% to HK$189,053,000 from last year. With the opening
of one new “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurant, the Group
operated 7 Carrianna traditional Chao Zhou cuisine restaurants
and 4 “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine restaurants during the year.
The operating result of Carrianna Chinese restaurant group has
improved significantly by 131% to a profit of HK$5,488,000
as compared to a loss of HK$17,900,000 last year. Among
that, turnover and operating profit of “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine
restaurants surged 158% and 490% to HK$80,920,000
and HK$10,664,000 respectively. “Shun Yi” Shunde cuisine
restaurants continued to contribute to sales growth and profit
for the Group.

Affected by the outbreak of COVID-19, the Hong Kong
Delicious restaurant group recorded a decrease of 40% in
turnover to HK$129,622,000 from last year. After the prompt
decision to close down several loss-making restaurants and
two noodle shops during the year, Delicious restaurant group
operated 12 Hong Kong style “Cha Chaan Teng” (%%
) restaurants under the trade names “Delicious” (R £) ,
“Gustation” (€K ), “Gusto” (22X EIE ) and “Rasa Pesta”
(FE2E) , and 2 northern China style noodle shops, branded
“King Noodle” (% £ ) during the year. The Delicious restaurant
group recorded a profit of HK$4,816,000 for the year (2020:
loss of HK$21,857,000). The improvement in operating results
was mainly attributable to the swift response by management
in the implementation of various cost control measures in food,
labour and rent to minimize the impact of the virus outbreak on
the restaurant operation and financial performance, supported
by the government subsidies of the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and
“Employment Support Scheme”. The Group has also adjusted
its business strategies according to the market conditions to
boost sales by increasing promotions, new products, special
discounts and takeaway and home delivery. The Group was
taking all necessary measures to reduce costs and maintain the
existing operations in preparation for the business rebound as
the COVID-19 is easing down and economy recovering.

36

FEMPEEERZ HERAREFIEN
13%2189,053,000/8 L~ Fa & — M [NEZ | IE
EXEECHRE HRAEELE CRE
= IE SN RO [EE ] IBESE
12 -} L &= F E51817,900,000/8 7T EZ
ANBEEEZ CEEEFBINNEERS
Z 5 75,488,000 Lo EH - [NBEE ] B2 S
BE 7 & ER R E H N D BIHIE158% &
490% 280,920,000/ 7t 10,664,000 JT °
NNEE| B EERERAEE TS
& M F

X B|EFECOVID- 19T E - EEREBERE
B & R A FER1540% 4 £129,622,000
B BEEFRNREER T HEBENKE
EZEEMEERE FAKEEHREELE
12 ATRE] - K] [#EXEFE] & [1E
B AEMERNEEEE  URBUEEZ] A
mENPERIEFARE - FRKELEHREE
8% 15 4 74,816,000 T (Z T =T F : [F518
21,857,000/ ) - HBHEBE L HRE BRTAH
B EREES | KRR ETS] 28
I FERREEEERNSELNRE Bt T
—RIERM BT RHES T EAKAES
S R EREHEREERYBER
BN EREERMB - 25BN RETIS
AR ERE  ENEE - HER R
FMFHINBE R EFIRBESEARBEE - K
& B [FHRER — Y0 BT 35 8 AR I A AR e e 5
B A& - BTECOVID-195 48 K 45 75 ik 18 IF
r TG 58 2 s o



EEBEBMZERERAR | 20215FK

Business Review

¥ 0 I

ad. : s L5 P Ir 3 I .:
New Delicious restaurant at Fa Yuen Street New King Noodles shop at Central District
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Pan-fried chicken steak with homemade noodles in Homemade meat pie
soup BXF LS
SURHINF 55

Signature boneless Hainanese chicken Cold noodles with mixed vegetables
RIEESERHE =4O E
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Food business turnover for the year was HK$363,377,000
(2020: HK$341,253,000), a slight increase of 6% from last
year. The advanced Hainan food factory has a site area of
29,968 sg.m. and a total floor area of 58,114 sqg.m. and began
operations. The advanced automatic mooncake production line
is in full operation and will significantly increase the production
capacity of mooncakes. The bread production line has also
commenced its operation in November 2020. Besides, the
factory is expected to produce packaged Hainan-style food
and Chinese-style dry meat products so that the food business
will become more diversified and continue to grow.

Turnover of the subsidiary Profit Smart group’s bread business
in Hong Kong reduced 8% to HK$103,146,000 from last year.
Profit Smart group operated 12 bakery shops throughout Hong
Kong under the trade names “Empery Bakery” (ZE&T) , “Pak
Lok Bakery” (E£4%E %)) and “V28 Bakery” during the vear.
Profit Smart group has recorded a profit of HK$11,942,000 for
the year as compared to HK$1,826,000 last year, a significant
increase of 554%. Apart from the support by the government
subsidies of the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and “Employment
Support Scheme”, the Profit Smart group has managed to
improve results of the retail shops by introducing new products
and improving sales. At the same time, the factory business
performance has continued to improve as a result of better cost
controls and operating efficiency. Management will continue
to strengthen product development and introduce more new
products with the aim to boost sales.

Hotel business was also affected by the outbreak of COVID-19
with a turnover of HK$23,629,000 (2020: HK$37,705,000),
a decrease of 37% from last year. The operating loss of the
two hotels decreased by 23% to HK$15,685,000 from last
year. The improvement in operating results was mainly due to
the contracting out of the unsatisfactory restaurant operation
and the implementation of tighter cost measures. Both hotels
have achieved positive operating cash flows during the year.
With the ease of COVID-19, the room rent and occupancy
have gradually increased. The refurbishment of hotel rooms of
Foshan Carrianna Hotel has completed in November 2020 and
is expected to increase the competitiveness and thus the room
rental income.
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V28 Bakery shop at Hin Keng Estate Shopping
Centre
FR1S IR Y35 V28 B/

Thin cut teriyaki beef croissant
SEY RGNS BE

Smoked salmon scrambled egg croissant
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Empery Bakery shop at Fan
MeEZ ISR HAe

Mini-pizza

AR

Mooncakes from Empery Bakery
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OUTLOOK

2020/2021 had been a difficult year. The global trade disputes
and COVID-19 had hindered economic development and
caused instability to the global economy. Economic activities
were widely disrupted as lockdowns and travel bans were
imposed in various cities. Local demand was weakened and
uncertainty surrounding the pandemic lingered. However, the
Group responded quickly to address the situation by reducing
operating costs and adjusting market strategies to improve
market share and profitability. Although there are economic
uncertainties and challenges ahead, management remains
positive and cautiously optimistic about the prospects of the
Group’s property investment and development business and
the restaurant and food business.

With its severe social restrictions and ability to contain the
COVID-19, China’s economy was able to rebound quickly
from the second quarter of 2020. The restaurant business
performance in the Mainland improved and revenue rebounded
further in the second half of the year as compared to the
first half. It is expected that China will continue to adopt its
monetary easing policies and GDP will rise to over 7% in
2021. The Group expects the business performance will
make progress along with the recovery of the economy and
increasing spending power in the Mainland.

Management will continue to focus its business development in
the Greater Bay Area where demand for commercial buildings
and office towers will remain strong. Also, the shortage of land
supply shortage, low level of interest rate and strong end-
user demand will continue to provide a strong support to the
residential property market in Hong Kong. While the existing
investment property portfolio provides steady income flow, the
new Guangzhou South Station Property and the 2 Shum Shui
Po property re-development projects will provide additional
income return to the Group in the short and medium term. The
Group will continue to look out for commercial and residential
projects with re-development value in the Greater Bay Area.
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Food factory in Hainan
SRR G

Advanced production facilities of the food factory in Hainan
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Food factory in Shenzhen Food factory in Kunming
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Well known Carrianna mooncake products
5t M =5 B B

With the introduction of the vaccines for COVID-19 and
increasing number of vaccinations, it is expected that there will
be gradual easing of lockdowns and travel bans and resuming
of business activities. Management has seen the picking
up again of the Group’s restaurant and bakery business.
Management will continue to control costs and adjust its
business strategies in response to market changes to increase
competitiveness. The Group remains cautiously optimistic
about the restaurant and bakery business performance in the
coming year as the pandemic eases down.

In addition, with the advanced Hainan production facility in
operation, the Group is optimistic about the expansion of its
food business in the Mainland. The new bread production line
has commenced its operation in November 2020. Besides, the
factory is expected to produce packaged Hainan-style food
and Chinese-style dry meat products, so that the food business
will become more diversified and continue to contribute to the
growth of the Group’s food business in the next few years.
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OVERALL RESULTS

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group’s turnover
was HK$796,026,000 (2020: HK$1,031,070,000), decreased
by 23% as compared to last year. The Group’s profit
attributable to shareholders was HK$81,004,000 (2020:
HK$14,123,000), increased by 474% from last year. The
decrease in turnover was mainly attributable to the sale of the
land numbered “H” and the construction in progress situated
on it for RMB160,344,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$179,826,000) of the Lianyungang project last year and
the decrease in the turnover of hotel business and restaurant
business in Hong Kong. The increase in operating profit
attributable to shareholders was due to the improvement in the
operating results of the restaurant, bakery and hotel businesses
during the year.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s consolidated net
assets before deduction of non-controlling interests was
HK$3,836,946,000 (31 March 2020: HK$3,599,359,000) and
consolidated net assets after deduction of non-controlling
interests per share was HK$3.05 (31 March 2020: HK$2.86).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s cash and bank balances
amounted to HK$413,573,000 (2020: HK$245,895,000),
which were denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and
United States dollars of HK$207,913,000, HK$188,128,000
and HK$17,532,000 respectively. The Group’s free cash
and bank balances and structured deposits amounted to
HK$563,222,000 (2020: HK$486,998,000).
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As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s total bank borrowings
amounted to HK$1,638,199,000 (2020: HK$1,675,212,000).
All interest-bearing bank borrowings bear interest at floating
rates. Netting off cash deposits pledged for borrowings,
the Group’s net bank borrowings were HK$1,593,376,000
(2020: HK$1,640,516,000). Net bank borrowings less free
cash and bank balances and structured deposits were
HK$1,030,154,000 (2020: HK$1,153,518,000).

The Group’s gearing ratio, which was defined as the Group’s
interest-bearing bank borrowings, net of cash and bank
balances, structured deposits, and pledged time deposits as a
percentage of the Group’s total equity, was approximately 27%
(2020: 32%).

The Group adopts a conservative treasury policy in cash and
financial management. The objective of the Group’s treasury
policy is to maintain a sound financial position by holding an
appropriate level of cash to meet its operating requirements
and long-term business development needs.

The Group generally funds the operations from internal
resources, investment income and bank borrowings. The
liquidity needs mainly comprise general working capital,
capital expenditure and investment, and repayment of bank
borrowings and interest.

During the year under review, management closely monitored
the cash position of the Group from time to time to ensure
that it was adequate to finance the financial and operational
requirements. With the increase in the level of cash balance
at the year end, management will utilize it for appropriate
investments in accordance with the Group’s strategies and
directions from the Board.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION

ACQUISITION OF PROPERTY

On 29 May 2020, Shenzhen Jiayizhan Trading Company
Limited CRYITEERE 5 BR A F]) (the “Purchaser”), an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and Yunan
Longyu Property Development Company Limited (Ef 5 F
EiERZE AR A7) (the “Vendor”), an independent third
party entered into a pre-sale agreement, pursuant to which the
Vendor has agreed to sell and the Purchaser has agreed to
purchase all the commercial units numbered 8-S113, 8-S212,
8-S301 and 8-S401 of a 4-storey building (the “Building”),
and ten parking spaces at basement level 1 of the Building
(together the “Property”) to be constructed on a parcel of land
situated at Fifth Avenue, Runcheng, Kunming, Yunan Province,
China (P EIEm & BB M EME A KE) for a total cash
consideration of RMB41,150,001 (equivalent to approximately
HK$44,474,921), of which RMB40,000,001 is apportioned
to the commercial units, and the remaining balance, being
RMB1,150,000 is apportioned to the parking spaces. The
consideration for the commercial units is based on the
expected aggregate gross floor area of the commercial units of
2,036.47 square metres and an agreed price per square metre
for each of the commercial units, which upon completion of the
Building, shall be adjusted based on the actual gross floor area
of the commercial units. Pursuant to the pre-sale agreement,
the Vendor shall deliver the Property to the Purchaser on or
before 30 July 2021.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcement dated 29 May 2020.
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PLACING OF SHARES

On 8 March 2021, the Placing Agent and the Company entered
into the Share Placing Agreement pursuant to which the
Company has conditionally agreed to place through the Placing
Agent, on a best effort basis, up to 125,708,754 Placing
Shares at the Share Placing Price of HK$0.45 per Placing
Share to not less than six Share Placees who and whose
ultimate beneficial owners are Independent Third Parties. The
maximum gross proceeds from the Share Placing would be
approximately HK$56,569,000. The Placing Shares would be
allotted and issued pursuant to the General Mandate.

The Placing Shares under the Share Placing represent
approximately 10.00% of the existing issued share capital
of the Company of 1,257,087,536 Shares as at the date of
the Share Placing Agreement and approximately 9.09% of
the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged by the
allotment and issue of the Placing Shares.

Completion of Share Placing took place on 31 March 2021
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Share
Placing Agreement. An aggregate of 125,708,754 Placing
Shares were successfully placed by the Placing Agent to not
less than six Share Placees at the Share Placing Price pursuant
to the terms and conditions of the Share Placing Agreement.
The net proceeds from the Share Placing (after deduction of
placing commission and other relevant costs and expenses) are
approximately HK$55,736,000.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcements dated 8 March 2021 and 31 March 2021.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO THE SUBSCRIPTION OF
SHARES

On 8 March 2021, the Company entered into the Shares
Subscription Agreement with the Subscribers, Mr. Ma Kai
Cheung and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, pursuant to which, (i) the
Company has conditionally agreed to allot and issue, and Mr.
Ma Kai Cheung has conditionally agreed to subscribe for the
94,281,565 Subscription Shares at the Subscription Price of
HK$0.45 per Subscription Share for a total consideration of
HK$42,426,704.25; and (i) the Company has conditionally
agreed to allot and issue, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum has conditionally
agreed to subscribe for the 94,281,565 Subscription Shares at
the Subscription Price of HK$0.45 per Subscription Share for
a total consideration of HK$42,426,704.25. The Subscription
Shares shall be allotted and issued pursuant to the Specific
Mandate.

The Subscription Shares represent approximately 15.00% of
the existing issued share capital of the Company as at the
date of the Shares Subscription Agreement and approximately
13.04% of the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of the Subscription Shares.
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Upon completion of the Share Placing and assuming all
125,708,754 Placing Shares were placed by the Placing
Agent, the shareholding of the Subscribers and parties acting
in concert with them in the Company would decrease from
approximately 49.69% to approximately 45.17% of the issued
share capital of the Company. Upon completion of the Shares
Subscription, the shareholding of the Subscribers and parties
acting in concert with them in the Company would increase
from approximately 45.17% to approximately 51.75% of the
issued share capital of the Company. Assuming completion
of the Share Placing did not take place, upon completion of
the Shares Subscription, the shareholding of the Subscribers
and parties acting in concert with them in the Company would
increase from approximately 45.17% to approximately 56.25%
of the issued share capital of the Company. Given that the
Shares Subscription has the effect of increasing the holding of
voting rights in the Company by the Subscribers and parties
acting in concert with them by more than 2% from the lowest
percentage holding in the 12 month period ending on and
inclusive of the date of completion of the Shares Subscription,
unless the Whitewash Waiver is granted, the Subscribers
are under an obligation to make a mandatory general offer
to acquire all the issued Shares and other securities of the
Company not already owned or agreed to be acquired by the
Subscribers and parties acting in concert with any of them
pursuant to Rule 26.1 of the Takeovers Code. An application
would be made to the Executive for the granting of the
Whitewash Waiver in respect of the allotment and issue of the
Subscription Shares. The Whitewash Waiver, if granted, would
be subject to, among other things, the approval by at least
75% of the votes cast by the Independent Shareholders by
way of poll in respect of the Whitewash Waiver and more than
50% of the votes cast by the Independent Shareholders by way
of poll in respect of the Shares Subscription and the Specific
Mandate, respectively, at the Special General Meeting (“SGM”).
The aforesaid condition is not capable of being waived. If the
Whitewash Waiver is not granted, the Shares Subscription will
not proceed.
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As the Subscribers are executive Directors and substantial
Shareholders, the Subscribers are connected persons of the
Company as defined under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
Accordingly, the Shares Subscription constitutes a connected
transaction on the part of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules and will be subject to announcement,
reporting and the Independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements. The Subscribers and their respective associates
would abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions approving
the Shares Subscription, the Specific Mandate and the
Whitewash Waiver at the SGM.

As Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited charged
62,714,377 Shares in favour of Mr. Ma Kai Cheung as security
for the RMB50 million Loan A and another 62,714,377 Shares
in favour of Mr. Ma Kai Yum as security for the RMB50 million
Loan B, Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited shall also
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions approving the
Shares Subscription, the Specific Mandate and the Whitewash
Waiver at the SGM.

Completion of the Shares Subscription took place on 8
June 2021 in accordance with the terms and conditions of
the Shares Subscription Agreement. At the completion of
the Shares Subscription, 188,563,130 Subscription Shares
were duly allotted and issued as fully paid by the Company
to the Subscribers at the Subscription Price of HK$0.45 per
Subscription Share pursuant to the Specific Mandate obtained
at the SGM held on 1 June 2021, of which 94,281,565
Subscription Shares were duly allotted and issued to Mr. Ma
Kai Cheung and another 94,281,565 Subscription Shares were
duly allotted and issued to Mr. Ma Kai Yum. The Subscription
Shares represent approximately 12% of the enlarged fully paid
up issued share capital of the Company as at the date of the
Completion. The net proceeds from the Shares Subscription
(after deduction of relevant actual costs and expenses) are
approximately HK$83.3 million.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcements dated 8 March 2021, 10 May 2021, 1 June
2021 and 8 June 2021.
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USE OF PROCEEDS

Set out below are the fundraising activities of the Company
during the past 12 months and use of proceeds immediately
preceding the date of this report:

Pt 1 3% 8 ] &

TXHIANRRREEARE BRIEE =

BAzEE RS NPT

SREME

Actual use of
proceeds as at the date

Date of announcement  Events Net proceeds Intended use of proceeds of this report
RAZERH
AMEBH EXL FERETFE FERERERE FEREERAR
8 March 2021, Placing of 125,708,754 Shares Approximately Repayment of bank borrowings  Approximately HK$55.7
31 March 2021 under the General Mandate HK$55.7 million million for repayment of
bank borrowings
—Z-=ANB" BE-REELE #155,700,00087T  EERRITER #955,700,0007% 7L A &
“T--F 125,708,754 17 BRBTER
=A=1+-H
8 March 2021, Subscription of 188,563,130 Shares  Approximately Repayment of bank borrowings; NIl
10 May 2021, under the specific mandate HK$83.3 million salary expense, directors’
1 June 2021, granted by the Shareholders at fee and consultancy fee;
8 June 2021 the special general meeting on 1 professional fee; utility and
June 2021 administrative expenses; and
rental expenses of the Group
—Z-=ANB" BERRRA-Z=_—F #)83,300,0008 7  EERITER HeR% it
ZZZ-FRATH: NA—BZBREERIAE L EENERERE EXER:
S A0 Rl = R 2RI ERE ARFERTBAY
ZEZ-FXANR 188,563,130 i 17 URASENHERAX
CONTINGENT LIABILITIES B A A K

As at the end of the reporting period, the Group had
contingent liabilities relating to guarantees given to banks for
mortgage loan facilities granted to purchasers of properties of
approximately HK$1,858,000 (2020: HK$3,619,000).

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the Group’s
property, plant and equipment, investment properties, time
deposits and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
with a total carrying value of approximately HK$2,446,667,000
(2020: HK$1,811,441,000) were pledged to secure general
banking, trade finance and other facilities granted to the Group.
In addition, rental income generated in respect of certain
investment properties of the Group was assigned to banks to
secure loan facilities granted to the Group.
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FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Most of the Group’s monetary assets, liabilities and
transactions as at 31 March 2021 and for the year then ended
principally denominated in Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.
Majority of the sales, purchases and expenditure incurred
by the operating units of the Group during the year were
denominated in the units’ functional currencies and as a result,
the Group does not anticipate significant transactional currency
exposures. The Group has not used any derivative to hedge its
exposure to foreign currency risk.

EMPLOYEE AND REMUNERATION
POLICY

The Group’s staff consists of approximately 600 employees
in Hong Kong and approximately 1,000 employees outside
Hong Kong (Mainland China). Employees are rewarded on a
performance-related basis within the general framework of the
Group’s salary and bonus system.

EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE
REPORTING PERIOD

PLACING OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 21 June 2021, the Company and the Placing Agent entered
into the CB Placing Agreement, pursuant to which the Placing
Agent has conditionally agreed to procure, on a best effort
basis, not less than six CB Placees who and whose ultimate
beneficial owners are Independent Third Parties to subscribe for
the Convertible Bonds of up to an aggregate principal amount
of HK$75,425,251.80. The Conversion Shares will be allotted
and issued pursuant to the General Mandate.

The 125,708,753 Conversion Shares (based on the initial
Conversion Price of HK$0.60) to be issued upon full conversion
of the Convertible Bonds represent approximately 8.00% of the
existing issued share capital of the Company at the date of the
CB Placing Agreement and approximately 7.41% of the issued
share capital of the Company as enlarged by the issue of the
Conversion Shares.
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The Convertible Bonds bear interest at 3% per annum and
mature on the date falling on the second anniversary of the
date of issue of the Convertible Bonds. The conversion rights
attaching to the Convertible Bonds may be exercised at any
time from (and including) the date falling six months after the
date of issue of the Convertible Bonds up to the Maturity Date.

Completion of the CB Placing shall take place at 4:00 p.m. on
12 July 2021 or on such other time and date as the Company
and the Placing Agent may agree in writing.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcement dated 21 June 2021.

DISCLOSEABLE TRANSACTION IN
RELATION TO FORMATION OF JOINT
VENTURE COMPANIES

On 24 June 2021, Tak Sing Asia Inc. (“Tak Sing”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser,
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with Quentin
Tsang, as vendor, in relation to the sale and purchase of the
sale shares and sale loan of Power Aim Holdings Limited
(“Power Aim”) (“SPA (Power Aim)”). On the same day, Tak Sing,
as vendor, entered into the sale and purchase agreement with
Jun Gao Holdings Company Limited (“Jun Gao”), as purchaser,
in relation to the sale shares of Fine Trade Developments
Limited (“Fine Trade”) (“SPA (Fine Trade)”). The formation of
such joint venture companies is to engage in the holding of
the property at the twelfth floor and flat roof B2 on the seventh
floor of Tower Two of Ever Gain Plaza No.88 Container Port
Road, Hong Kong with a total gross floor area of approximately
29,919 sq.ft. (the “Property”) and the operation of data centre
business on the Property.

The aggregate consideration for the sale and purchase of
the sale shares (representing 87% of the issued share capital
of Power Aim) and the sale loan (representing 87% of the
shareholder’s loan due by Power Aim to Quentin Tsang) under
the SPA (Power Aim) is in the amount of HK$11,773,773. The
consideration for the sale and purchase of the sale shares
(representing 13% of the issued share capital of Fine Trade)
under the SPA (Fine Trade) is HK$101.
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Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement of Power Aim, Tak
Sing and Quentin Tsang shall provide unsecured interest-free
shareholder’s loans of HK$21,750,000 and HK$3,250,000
respectively to Power Aim. In addition, Tak Sing shall provide
an additional unsecured shareholder’s loan of HK$82,000,000
to Power Aim, which shall carry interest at the rate of 3 %
per annum. Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement of Fine
Trade, Tak Sing and Jun Gao shall provide unsecured interest-
free shareholder’s loans of HK$21,750,000 and HK$3,250,000
respectively to Fine Trade.

As certain applicable percentage ratios (as defined under
the Listing Rules) in respect of JV Agreements exceeds 5%
but is less than 25%, the joint venture agreements and the
transactions contemplated thereunder constitute a discloseable
transaction on the part of the Company and is subject to the
announcement requirement under Chapter 14 of the Listing
Rules.

Completion of the transaction shall take place within 3 business
days upon the fulfillment or waiver (as the case may be) of
all the conditions precedent or such other date as may be
agreed in writing between the parties to the sale and purchase
agreements.

Further details of the above were explained in the Company’s
announcement dated 24 June 2021.
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The directors herein present their report and the audited
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
Details of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements. There were
no significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal
activities during the year.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required
by Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group faces and an indication of likely future
development in the Group’s business, can be found in the
Business and Financial Review set out on pages 30 to 53 of
this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the
Group’s financial position at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 84 to 259.

The directors recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HK3 cents per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March
2021. Subject to the approval of the shareholders at the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the final dividend will be
paid on or before 8 October 2021.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

Annual General Meeting

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed from
Tuesday, 24 August 2021 to Friday, 27 August 2021, both
days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares will be
effected. In order for a shareholder to be eligible to attend and
vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfers accompanied
by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with the
Company’s Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis
Limited, at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 23 August,
2021.

Dividend

The Register of Members of the Company will be closed
from Thursday, 16 September 2021 to Friday, 17 September
2021, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares will be effected. In order to qualify for the proposed
final dividend (subject to shareholders’ approval at the Annual
General Meeting), all transfers accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong
Kong Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Tengis Limited, at Level 54,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 15 September 2021.

ERPEMERERAT | 2021F R

Report of the Directors
ERQHEE

TiEenaEknaP g

B R A g
ARRER_ZE-_—FNA=-_+IA (25
)E-_E-_—FN\A-++tBH(EHH)
BEEMABREERN BEREROBFER
FE-BRRATARERLERRAFREW
REeERE FHEMEBPXREERABRBAR
EHRER-_T-_—FNA=Z+=H(EH)
THFHEE=+5 EXARRZEBRDB
FEEIELSEEZERERAR (IEAR
BERERNBRI8IHE MR L54E) IR
Fi&E-o

B
ARRBR=ZZE=_—FNLA+"A (EHWE)
E-E-_—FhhAT+tER(EHH) EEWM
FERER EERERNBFELFE-A
REBERZAEZIRBAKRE (HEAEFRRK
RAFAG FEREME) BRABBAE
REREEARERER T -_—FNA+H
B(EH=) TFURB=+5 EXAQFZ
EEBRNBFELESEEEZERKERAF
(it BB BERFANBR183HE M L541E)
MIPBEFE-

%)



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2021

Report of the Directors
EROGWMEE

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION B % & kI fif =

The table set out below summarises the results, assets, TFXREIANEBBEREHBFEE 22 DM
liabilities and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last 348 B & - BE R IEHERER  HiEtrE AN
five financial years, as extracted from the published audited £ 7 & TWAZ M IEME o 178 B I T ALK
financial statements. This summary does not form part of the EXFIEHRE Z D °

audited financial statements.

Year ended 31 March/At 31 March
HZ2=A=t+-HLEE /R=A=1+-H

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
—B--f C—T-TF CT-NF TN\ CZT—tF
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET AT FEL FAT TET
RESULTS E
REVENUE WA 796,026 1,031,070 970,210 932,620 867,468
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FERHEF 110,537 14,861 300,720 331,402 149,725
Attributable to: JE :
Owners of the parent SYNCIE YN 81,004 14,123 277,958 317,017 127,446
Non-controlling interests I 29,533 738 22,762 14,385 22,279
110,537 14,861 300,720 331,402 149,725
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EE BER
NON-CONTROLLING FERES
INTERESTS
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 6,771,712 6,393,211 6,261,702 6,306,272 6,084,115
TOTAL LIABILITIES “BaE (2,940,504)  (2,830,207)  (2,431,636) (2,348,599  (2,554,531)
NON-CONTROLLING FERES
INTERESTS 5,738 36,355 39,744 (215) (90,728)

3,836,946 3,699,359 3,869,810 3,957,458 3,438,856
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SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and share
options during the year are set out in notes 33 and 34 to the
financial statements, respectively.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF
THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2021.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provision of The
Bermuda Companies Act 1981, amounted to approximately
HK$95,708,000. In addition, the amount of approximately
HK$1,440,624,000 previously included in the Company’s share
premium account may be distributed in the form of fully-paid
bonus shares.

CHARITABLE CONTRIBUTIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable contributions
totalling approximately HK$927,000 (2020: HK$6,937,000).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, the Group’s sales to the five largest
customers and purchases from the five largest suppliers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s revenue and
purchases for the year respectively.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates
or any shareholders, which to the best knowledge of the
directors own more than 5% of the Company’s total number
of issued shares, had any beneficial interest in the Group'’s five
largest customers and suppliers.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

As a responsible corporation, the Group is committed to
maintaining the highest environmental and social standards to
ensure sustainable development of its business. The Group
has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in relation to
its business including health and safety, workplace conditions,
employment and the environment. The Group understands
that a better future depends on everyone’s participation
and contribution. It has encouraged employees, customers,
suppliers and other stakeholders to participate in environmental
and social activities which benefit the community as a whole.
The Group maintains strong relationships with its employees,
has enhanced cooperation with its suppliers and has provided
high quality products and services to its customers so as to
ensure sustainable development.

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report

conducted by a professional third party will be published in
compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the
date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ma Kai Cheung (Honorary Chairman)

Ma Kai Yum (Chairman)

Ma Hung Ming, John (Vice-chairman)

Leung Pak Yan (Chief Executive Officer)
(resigned on 1 January 2021)

Liang, Rui (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed on 2 January 2021)

Chan Francis Ping Kuen

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Lo Ming Chi, Charles

Lo Man Kit, Sam (resigned on 15 July 2021)
Wong See King

In accordance with Bye-law 102(B) of the Company’s Bye-
laws, Mr. Cheung Wah Fung, Christopher, who was appointed
as an independent non-executive director with effect from
15 July 2021, will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 99 of the Company’s Bye-laws,
Mr. Wong See King will retire by rotation and, being eligible, will
offer himself for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

The Board has received an annual confirmation of
independence from each of the independent non-executive
directors, and as the date of this report still considers them to
be independent.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the directors and senior
management of the Company are set out on pages 10 to 15 of
the annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Liang Rui and Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen had entered into
a service contract with the Company. The contract has no fixed
terms of engagement and is subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws and termination by either
party giving three months’ notice in writing.

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, Mr. Ma Kai Yum and Mr. Ma Hung Ming,
John had no service contract with the Company as at the end
of the reporting period.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
been appointed for a term subject to retirement by rotation as
required by the Company’s Bye-laws.

Apart from the foregoing, no director proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract
with the Company which is not terminable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company’s board of directors with reference to directors’
duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the
Group.

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31
March 2021 are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’
and chief executive’s interests and short positions in shares
and underlying shares”, at no time during the year was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement
to enable the Company’s directors, their respective spouses or
minor children to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in or debentures of the Company or any other body
corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'’S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the
directors and chief executive of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO”)) as recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of the SFO; or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code under the Listing Rules, were as follows:

(a) The Company
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RIB-_—F=ZA=+t—H ARAZESF
REZBITBABRARB AT EE
(E&R (EHEHEGHMN) ([ (BHrkHE
fERBl) 1) BEXVER) 2 Bt ~ MR R fEF
BEZERLRE  AERRARARE (B
F RG] £I2MGREATFEZERL
A SARE EM R 2R ETRIASTTH
SARRP MRz S ORBIT

Underlying
Number of ordinary shares held shares Percentage of
and nature of interests pursuant to the Company'’s
Capacity/ Personal Family Other share options issued share
Name of director nature of interests interests interests interests (note 1) Total capital
REBREZ
BELBRRASEREGNE RBRHHA HAAFAE BT
BEpR 5/ ERE AR EQY 4 Hipig s (F3E1) At BRABGRE
Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, security 361,283,986 7,050,000 259,129,025 - 627,463,011 (1) 45.38
BNE interest in shares, interest (note 8) (note 2) (note 3)
of spouse and beneficiary (HisE8) (Hi2) GE)
of trust
EREAA BRRDER
RBEERETREA
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, security 204,198,714 3,200,000 101,201,040 - 308,599,754 (1) 22.32
BN interest in shares, interest (note 8) (note 4) (notes 5 & 6)
of spouse and beneficiary (Fi5E8) G (F3t5%06)
of trust
ERBEA BRROES
RBEEREFEREA
Ma Hung Ming, John Beneficial owner, 476,000 2,044,000 = 2,000,000 4,520,000 (L) 0.33
HEH interest of spouse (note 7)
EniA AREBER (Ht3E7)
Chan Francis Ping Kuen  Beneficial owner - - - 6,000,000 6,000,000 (L) 0.43

Fine EaHAA

L - Long position &f &
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(a)
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The

Company (Continued)

Notes:

(1)

The underlying shares represent interests of options
granted to the directors and senior executive under the
2015 Share Option Scheme to acquire shares of the
Company, further details of which are set out in note 34 to
the financial statements.

The shares were owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the spouse of
Ma Kai Cheung.

Ma Kai Cheung and his family are the beneficiaries of
a discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire
issued share capital of Regent World Investments Limited
(“Regent World”) and 70% of the entire issued share
capital of Bond Well Investments Limited (“Bond Well”).
At the end of the reporting period, Regent World owned
184,121,625 shares and Bond Well owned 75,007,400
shares of the Company.

The shares were owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the spouse of
Ma Kai Yum.

Ma Kai Yum and his family are the beneficiaries of a
discretionary trust which effectively owns the entire issued
share capital of Grand Wealth Investments Limited (“Grand
Wealth”) and Peaceful World Limited (“Peaceful World”).
At the end of the reporting period, Grand Wealth owned
74,651,040 shares and Peaceful World owned 19,050,000
shares of the Company.

Peaceful World owns the entire issued share capital of
Real Potential Limited (“Real Potential”’). At the end of
the reporting period, Real Potential owned 7,500,000
shares of the Company. The interests of Real Potential in
the Company are therefore deemed to be the interests of
Peaceful World in which Ma Kai Yum is also deemed to
have interests for the reason as stated in note 5 above.

The shares were owned by Choi Ka Man, Carmen, the
spouse of Ma Hung Ming, John.

Included in “Personal interests” are 125,428,754 shares
owned by Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited, of
which 62,714,377 shares were charged in favour of
Ma Kai Cheung, and 62,714,377 shares were charged
in favour of Ma Kai Yum; and 94,281,565 subscription
shares for Ma Kai Cheung and 94,281,565 subscription
shares for Ma Kai Yum as per their respective subscription
agreement dated 8 March 2021, which were duly allotted
and issued on 8 June 2021.

kEEfTBA B R KD K&
fr 2 W iR A (a)

ANE ()

2
() EERBDEEERER
e BT

@B ENERERAR-—BZEETHN
% Ao % Bz 5L B B B Regent
World Investments Limited ([Regent
World |) 2z & &5 2 # 77 & &~ &k Bond
Well Investments Limited ([Bond
Well | ) By 2 30 B B 1T AN B970% b”\
3R & HA°K - Regent World B &R
184,121,625/ #% 1% * ifiBond vvenﬁ\Hzﬁ
5 AN 775,007, 4008 AR 15 ©

@) ZEBRMBEENROEZFIRM%ES -
G BENHRERERAR—BIZEFETIHN
2k Ao %A= 5 B A Grand

Wealth Investments Limited ([ Grand
Wealth | ) &2 Peaceful World Limited
[Peaceful World |) B2 2 2 217 /%
AR E HIK - Grand Wealth# &
N2 A)74,651,04082 B 17 - i Peaceful
\{//\(orIdE'J % F 4 X 719,050,000 %
7o

(6) Peaceful World# & Real Potential
Limited ([Real Potential |)®& %2
BITRUR < V¥R 5 BAK - Real Potential
%ﬁﬁﬂi@aﬂmoo,oooﬂxﬂxf o [ it
Real Potentiali® A8 A A] ) # & #5455
Peaceful World#J# &= 'WJBIDJ:XW
SR 2 B i BN RTMWERER
Peaceful World#) # %5 -

() ZEROESBEOETENGIRES -

HIA%EJHQSMS%M
TRIEREEBRAGHES -
Hh62,714,377TR IR EWEIB TS
&@7m3ﬁkh@ﬂﬁﬁﬁ%%
T RBE_ZE-—F=A/\HEAR
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(e EX I PN -V P
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(Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries

(b) W& 2=

Percentage of
the subsidiary’s
issued share

Number of Type of capital (ordinary
Name of subsidiary Name of director  Capacity shares held (L) shares shares)
EHEAR
ERTRABDN
WEARARE EEpE 54 FiERO#E L) R4 E 5 (BER)
Ginza Development Company Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 15 Ordinary 25
Limited
EUVLERBRATA BNE BREBA LRk
Ginza Development Company Ma Kai Yum Beneficiary of trust 18 Ordinary 3
Limited
EUVLERBRAA BN EAEREMA LRk
Gartrend Development Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
FRERABRAA BNE BREBA BREEE il
Tkt
Gartrend Development Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 500,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
RRERABR AT BN ERBEBA BEREREE ek
T/t
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner 9,000 Non-voting N/A
N deferred
BNE EREBA BREREE BNk
TR 1A
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner 1,000 Non-voting N/A
deferred
BN BREBA BREREE it
Tkt
EBEEBRABBEAR  MakKai Cheung Beneficial owner N/A N/A 15
BENE BREBA TEA @R

L - Long position &
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

(Continued)

In addition to the above, Mr. Ma Kai Cheung and Mr. Ma
Kai Yum have non-beneficial personal equity interests in
certain subsidiaries held for the benefit of the Group solely
for the purpose of complying with their minimum company
membership requirements in prior years.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the
directors and chief executive had registered an interest or
short position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company, or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) that was required to be
recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as detailed in note 43 to the financial statements, no
director nor a connected entity of a director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions,
arrangements or contracts of significance to the business of the
Group to which the holding company of the Company, or any
of the Company’s subsidiaries of fellow subsidiaries was a party
during the year.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME

2015 OPTION SCHEME

At the annual general meeting of the Company convened on
24 August 2015, the Company adopted a new share option
scheme (the “2015 Option Scheme”) with a validity period of 10
years.

The principal terms of the 2015 Option Scheme are as follows:

1. Purpose of the option scheme

The purpose of the 2015 Option Scheme is to
grant options to eligible participants, recognise
and acknowledge the contributions that the eligible
participants have made or may make to the Group and
will provide the eligible participants with an opportunity
to have a personal stake in the Company with a view
to motivate the eligible participants to optimise their
performance efficiency for the benefit of the Group,
track and retain or maintain relationships with the eligible
participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial
to the long-term growth of the Group, and additionally in
the case of executives, to enable the Group to attract and
retain individuals with experience and ability and to reward
them for their past contributions.

2. Participants of the option scheme

The eligible participants are eligible to participate in the
2015 Option Scheme. In determining the basis of eligibility
of each eligible participant, the Board would take into
account such factors as the Board may at its discretion
consider appropriate. The Board shall have absolute
discretion to determine whether a person shall qualify as
an eligible participant.

3. Total number of shares available for issue and
percentage to the issued share capital as at 31
March 2021
The total number of shares available for issue under
the 2015 Option Scheme was 125,388,753 shares
representing 9.07% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at 31 March 2021.
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2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

4.

.O“l

66

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of shares issued and which may fall
to be issued upon exercise of the options to be granted
under the 2015 Option Scheme (including both exercised
and outstanding options) to each eligible participant in any
twelve (12)-month period shall not exceed one per cent.
(1%) of the issued share capital of the Company for the
time being (“Individual Limit”). Any further grant of options
in excess of the Individual Limit in any twelve (12)-month
period up to and including the date of such further
grant shall be subject to the issue of a circular to the
shareholders and the shareholders’ approval in general
meeting of the Company with such eligible participant and
his associates abstaining from voting. The number and
terms (including the exercise price) of the options to be
granted to such eligible participant must be fixed before
the shareholders’ approval and the date of board meeting
for proposing such further grant should be taken as the
date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise
price under note (1) to Rule 17.03(9) of the Listing Rules.

The period within which the shares must be taken
up under an option

The period during which a share option may be exercised
will be determined by the directors at their absolute
discretion, save that no share option may be exercised
more than 10 years after grant.

Payment on acceptance of an option

An option shall be deemed to have been granted and
accepted by the grantee and to have taken effect when
the duplicate notice of grant constituting acceptance
of the option duly signed by the grantee, together with
a remittance in favour of the Company of HK$1.00 by
way of consideration for the grant thereof is received by
the Company on or before the relevant acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents. Such remittance
shall in no circumstances be refundable and shall not be
deemed a part payment of the exercise price of an option.
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INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

2015 OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

6.

Payment on acceptance of an option (Continued)

Any offer to grant an option may be accepted in respect
of a lesser number of shares for which it is offered
provided that it must be accepted in respect of a board
lot or an integral multiple thereof and such number is
clearly stated in the duplicate notice of grant constituting
acceptance of the option. To the extent that the offer to
grant an option is not accepted by the acceptance date
as stipulated in the option documents, it shall be deemed
to have been irrevocably declined.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price in relation to each option offered to an
eligible participant shall be determined by the Board in its
absolute discretion but in any event shall not be less than
the highest of:

(@) the official closing price of the shares on the Stock
Exchange as stated in the daily quotation sheet
of the Stock Exchange on the date of offer of the
options (“Offer Date”);

(b) the average of the official closing prices of the
shares on the Stock Exchange as stated in the daily
quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange for the five
(5) business days immediately preceding the Offer
Date; and

(c) the nominal value of the shares of the Company.

The remaining life of the option scheme

The 2015 Option Scheme is valid and effective for a
period of 10 years commencing on 24 August 2015
(being the date of fulfiment of all conditions on the
adoption of the 2015 Option Scheme).

As at 31 March 2021, the Company had 11,600,000 share
options outstanding pursuant to the 2015 Option Scheme.
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SCHEME (Continued)

The following table discloses the movements in the Company’s T XRIBEBFARAARNRGIRIE T — A FHERE
share options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme  FF&|18 T & AR1TE 2 B EE
during the year:

Number of share options
BREHA

Closing
price
Exercise at grant
Granted  Exercised Forfeited Date of Exercise price of date of
At 1 April during during  during the At 31 March grant of period of share share
2020  the period  the period period 2021  share options share options options options
(Note 1) (Note 2)
HK$ per share  HKS g&er share
3 # i ) AR
ZECRE . MR —B--F Bl [ fig:3 RHAH
mE-B RERRL RERTE %% ZR=t-B BRERH BRENE BREER W E
(1) (H2) -
GiRET FRAET
Executive Directors
HiTE
Ma Kai Yum 1,200,000 - - (1,200,000) - 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 to 0.81 0.81
SN 15-10-2020
Ma Hung Ming, John 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 to 0.714 0.70
SR 19-2-2005
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2026
Leung Pak Yan 3,000,000 - - (3,000,000) - 16-10-2015 1-8-2016 to 0.81 0.81
PR 31-7-2020
3,000,000 - - (3,000,000) - 16-10-2015 1-8-2017 to 0.81 0.81
31-7-2021
3,000,000 - - (3,000,000) - 16-10-2015 1-8-2018 to 0.81 0.81
31-7-2022
1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 20-2-2020 20-2-2020 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2025
1,000,000 - - (1,000,000) - 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2026
Chan Francis Ping Kuen 2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2020 to 0.714 0.70
R 2-6-2025
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2021 to 0.714 0.70
2-6-2026
2,000,000 - - - 2,000,000 20-2-2020 3-6-2022 to 0.714 0.70
2-6-2027
20,200,000 - - (12,200,000 8,000,000
Other employees and 4,000,000 - - (4,000,000) - 16-10-2015 16-10-2015 to 0.81 0.81
consultants 15-10-2020
HtEERER 2,300,000 - - (500,000 1,800,000 20-2-2020 20—29—22028 2to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2025
2,300,000 - - (500,000 1,800,000 20-2-2020 20-2-2021 to 0.714 0.70
19-2-2026
8,600,000 - - (5,000,000 3,600,000

In aggregate
ko 28,800,000 - - (17,200,000) 11,600,000




INFORMATION ON SHARE OPTION
SCHEME (Continued)

Notes:

1. The vesting period of the share options is from the date of the
grant until the commencement of the exercise period.

2. The exercise price of the share options is subject to adjustment
in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in
the Company’s share capital.

Save as disclosed above during the period under review,
no options under the 2015 Option Scheme were exercised,
cancelled or lapsed.

As at 31 March 2021, the Company had 11,600,000 share
options outstanding under the 2015 Option Scheme. Should
they be fully exercised, the Company will receive approximately
HK$8,282,400 (before issue expenses). The fair value of these
unexercised options measured in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies (note 2.4 to the financial statements)
amounted to approximately HK$5,512,000.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2021, according to the register kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as was
known to the directors, the following persons or corporations
had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company which was required to be disclosed to
the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO:
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Number of Percentage of the

Name of Capacity/ ordinary Company'’s issued

substantial shareholder nature of interests Notes shares held share capital

2] BARTE

TERRER 53/ EaHE oysd AREBRHAE ERTREABOL

Ma Kai Cheung Beneficial owner, a 627,463,011 (L) 45.38
BNE security interest

in shares, interest
of spouse and
benefioiary of trust
EnEE A BRK
s B EER
REEXHA
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

FER K &)

Number of Percentage of the
Name of Capacity/ ordinary Company’s issued
substantial shareholder nature of interests Notes shares held share capital
®E R NG
TERFER 2V E:1:3-1 B EE AREBERYA ERTRATHL
Ma Kai Yum Beneficial owner, b 308,599,754 (L) 22.32
BN security interest
in shares, interest
of spouse and
beneficiary of trust
EREAA EFR
i - BB
REEFEXEA
East Asia International Trustees Trustee © 360,330,065 (L) 26.06
Limited EFEA
Golden Yield Holdings Limited Interest in controlled d 259,129,025 (L) 18.74
corporations
SRYNEIL £
Regent World Investments Limited Holding corporation d 184,121,625 (L) 13.32
BEERAT
Wealthy Platform Limited Interest in controlled e 101,201,040 (L) 7.32
corporations
XEREER
Bond Well Investments Limited Holding corporation d 75,007,400 (L) 5.42
BEERAT
Grand Wealth Investments Limited Holding corporation e 74,651,040 (L) 5.40
HEERAT
Rainbow Choice Holding Group Beneficial owner f 125,428,754 (L/S) 9.07
Limited EalEA
MEREREBBR AR
Chen Chu Zhen Interest in controlled f 125,428,754 (L/S) 9.07
[Egag=] corporation
XEREER

L - Long position ¥ &
S - Short position % &



SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes:

a.

The 627,463,011 shares comprised:

204,288,044 shares owned by Ma Kai Cheung;

interest in 7,050,000 shares owned by Cheung Lin Kiu, the
spouse of Ma Kai Cheung;

interest in 259,129,025 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (d)
below); and

interest in 62,714,377 shares charged in favour of Ma Kai
Cheung (same block of shares disclosed in (f) below).

94,281,565 subscription shares as per subscription
agreement dated 8 March 2021 which were duly allotted
and issued on 8 June 2021.

The 308,599,754 shares comprised:

47,202,772 shares owned by Ma Kai Yum;

interest in 3,200,000 shares owned by Kwok Kit Mei, the
spouse of Ma Kai Yum;

interest in 101,201,040 shares indirectly held by a
discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Yum and his family are
the beneficiaries (same block of shares disclosed in (e)
below);

interest in 62,714,377 shares charged in favour of Ma Kai
Yum (same block of shares disclosed in (f) below).

94,281,565 subscription shares as per subscription
agreement dated 8 March 2021 which were duly allotted
and issued on 8 June 2021.

East Asia International Trustees Limited (‘EAIT”) is the trustee
of a discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Cheung and his family
are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Golden

Yield Holdings Limited (“Golden Yield”),

EAIT was indirectly

interested in 259,129,025 shares of the Company. EAIT is also
the trustee of a discretionary trust of which Ma Kai Yum and his
family are the objects and through its wholly-owned subsidiary,
Wealthy Platform Limited (“Wealthy Platform”), EAIT was
indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares in the Company. As
at the end of the reporting period, EAIT was effectively interested
in a total of 360,330,065 shares of the Company.
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$%627,463,01 1A% A% 15 B ¥ :
i i 5\ B % A 1204,288,044 8 i% 15

i. BENENZTREEEAN
7,050,0008% i {7 2 #E %5

i. BEENMTERAERARIZANEZESE
FEB A 19259,129,025% i% 17 2 12
m (B TXOFFEENR LG )
®

iv.  IEILENERE2, 714,377 2 HE
w (BTXOFEENR—HRG) o

v. REAHA-Z-_—F=-AN\BRHE
m52%2a5%k%%kﬁ(a#h
MERZE-_—FNANHEAXB R

&?ééﬁ)
£%308,599,754% % 17 B ¥ -
i BN S A M47,202, 772/ A% 1D

i, HENHRNETFTBREBEEEN
3,200,000/% f% 17 2 & 2

i. BEEMTHRERARZRANEZESE
A H101,201,0400% f% 15 2 12
wm (B TXEMEENR—ILRG)

iv.  EIEBENRE62,714,377R D 2 #E
w(BTXOEENR—HRG) o

V. *ETFE'E@%—%—:_E H}\Elnu%
HhaEtHRE 294,281,565 R (%
ERMENZZE-_—FANHERX
Ao g% f BE1T) o

East Asia International Trustees Limited

(TEAITD ABNBRERKERST R A

MAKZE—B2EETENEREA LB
i@ H 2 & [ B A AlGolden Yield Holdings

Limited ([Golden Yield | ) M & # #% B A A
A)259,129,0250% J% 19 it 4N - EAITIR [A] B
AENRERERKEAS T AMKILEN
—HE2EEANEEA TEBE2EKH
J& A E]Wealthy Platform Limited ( [ Wealthy
mmmmnﬁ%%%ﬁ$/ﬂm1m1mmx
B fn > RIREEIR EATESBE AR
360,330,0658% A% 17 °

I:l/\
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

d.

Golden Yield by owning the entire issued share capital of Regent
World and 70% of the entire issued share capital of Bond Well,
was indirectly interested in a total of 259,129,025 shares of
the Company. The total shares held by both Regent World
and Bond Well are the same block of shares as disclosed in
“Other interests” of Ma Kai Cheung under the section headed
“Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short positions in
shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Wealthy Platform by owning the entire issued share capital of
Grand Wealth and Peaceful World and indirectly owning the
entire issued share capital of Real Potential through Peaceful
World, was indirectly interested in 101,201,040 shares of the
Company. The total shares held by Grand Wealth, Peaceful
World and Real Potential are the same block of shares as
disclosed in “Other interests” of Ma Kai Yum under the section
headed “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions in shares and underlying shares” set out above.

Rainbow Choice Holding Group Limited (“Rainbow Choice”) is
wholly owned by Chen Chu Zhen. 62,714,377 shares in the
issued share capital of Rainbow Choice were charged in favour
of Ma Kai Cheung and 62,714,377 shares were charged in
favour of Ma Kai Yum.

Save as disclosed above, the directors of the Company are
not aware of any other persons who, as at 31 March 2021,
had registered an interest or short position in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company in the register that was
required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING DISCLOSURE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE LISTING RULES

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANTS
RELATING TO SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE
OBLIGATIONS OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS (RULE 13.18 OF CHAPTER
13)

The agreement for the following loan to the Group imposes
specific performance obligations on the controlling shareholders
of the Company:
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THBRTARBEERZ HHRREARR 2HF
BERAEBITRERMT:

Outstanding balance of Specific
banking facilities as at Final maturity of performance
31 March 2021 banking facilities obligations
HK$’000
R=-B=-—-F=H=+-—H SBITERREEHA BEBTERE
REBRITENRSRE
FHET
105,300 14 July 2024 (Note)
—ETZHFE+LA+TEA (BEE)

Note:

Mr. Ma Kai Cheung, the Honorary Chairman and the controlling
shareholder of the Company holding a 45.38% shareholding interest
in the Company, and Mr. Ma Kai Yum, the Chairman of the Company
holding a 22.32% shareholding interest in the Company, undertake to
maintain a total of at least 42% of the shares of the Company.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, save as disclosed under the
section headed “Connected Transaction in relation to the
Subscription of Shares” on pages 47 to 49, there were no
transactions, which need to be disclosed as connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

To the best of the directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in
this annual report, none of the related party transactions as
disclosed in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements
contained in this annual report is a connected transaction.

G2

ARRZBEBEERERBERENELETER
NA45.38% 2 BAER - RARRZERENHRE
ERBFRRDF22.32% 2 AR - HAGHEBRFE
HREEEFTPRARGKRHD42% -

o
R
ok

ERERFEAN BRNFITAZ498 [HER
Bl cBERS ] —HMKREEIN RIELE
MEPI2RELBERNRZFEREREE
RIRFEEBERS -

ERESFL—UAREERR RREMR
M BENMES RCELFHRAWESIN R
BHEH TN UL FRER A M HRERM E43 2B H
BATRZBREERS -
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the directors; at least 25% of the
Company'’s total number of issued shares were held by public
as at the date of this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintain a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 16 to 29.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-
executive directors of the Company, namely Mr. Lo Ming Chi,
Charles (Chairman), Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam and Mr. Wong See
King.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group
and discussed auditing, internal control and financial reporting
matters including the review of the Group’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2021.

AUDITORS

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditors of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting.

OUTLOOK

The Group will continue to develop and grow while maintaining
its healthy financial position and solid business foundation to
create long-term shareholders’ value.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

Dr. Ma Kai Yum
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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Independent Auditor’s Report

EY:x

To the shareholders of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of
Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 84 to 259,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2021, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Audiitor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial staterments section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion
on these matters. For each matter below, our description of
how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfiled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
staterments section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREZER
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B &% FE (a)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Bz ERNAEEBRERSEE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”)

Il REFYFERIFELEYE (5id [Wx]) 2 A
B FE

The Group had properties under development
and properties held for sale of approximately
HK$313,607,000 and HK$469,401,000, respectively,
as at 31 March 2021.
RZEZ—F=ZA=+—H' EBEXEBZZET
W R ER &Y E 5 Rl %) R313,607,0008 7T &
469,401,0007 7T °

The Properties are stated at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. The determination of the net
realisable values of the Properties of the Group is
highly dependent on management’s judgements and
estimates, including the expected selling prices in
the ordinary course of business, the estimated selling
expenses and the estimated costs to be incurred to
completion.

VIR R R FEME T CRIEEAR -ETE
EREMECAERFESEABEEREZHE X
fheh BRNAEXEKBART 2AFEE AetHE
P MTEEATE TS FEE Z(HETRCAR -

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of net realisable values of the Properties
included, among others, the following:
BPRABYEZ ISR FEMET I EZETFE
(AP BE)ATRIE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers;
o  HMEFEMNEGHEMZFEMNL e REEBE

akb
BE

o we involved our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the valuation techniques,
key assumptions and inputs adopted in the
valuations; and

e HBMEEFHRMZABHEZXRGE R
MERABZEERE FERERBARE &
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BRELER

B &% EE (a)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BMZERNAEEBRELSEE

Assessment of net realisable values of properties
under development (“PUD”) and properties held for
sale (collectively, the “Properties”) (Continued)
FlaREFYFRIFELEYE (5iH [Wx]) 2 A
B FEE (B)

The Group engaged a firm of independent
professionally qualified valuers (the “external valuers”)
to perform valuations of the Properties based on
prevailing market conditions and information available
at the time of the valuations, and by applying
valuation techniques considered as appropriate, so
as to assist management in assessing whether any
write-down of the Properties to their net realisable
values is required.
EREZE-—RMBVEXSERMEEMAR ([HME
fERD ) ARIBBRITH R KRN A ER AT EERIE R
ERERRBEE 2 HEFEEYEETHE M
MO EREN GRS RAHME LI ERIFEELE
fR] HORL

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balances involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.

BRI NGRS RRNNARAEZERNGH
B Ko (AT RIAIRFRULER -

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 21 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MEARESHNFE M ERRMEIR21 -
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we assessed certain key assumptions and
estimates including, among others, (i) the
expected selling prices of the Properties by
comparing the expected selling prices to,
among others, the recent transaction prices for
similar properties or the prices of comparable
properties; (i) the estimated selling expenses
by comparing the historical average selling
expenses to revenue ratio or to other relevant
information; and (i) the estimated costs to be
incurred to completion for PUD by checking the
estimated costs against budgets approved by
management and examined, on a sample basis,
relevant construction contracts and other reliable
evidence available.

BB FEE T E2RE MM B8 (Ad
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter

BREZER
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B &% FE (a)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Bz ERNAEEBRERSEE

Assessment of fair values of investment properties

FEREY R 2 FE

The Group had investment properties of
approximately HK$2,515,637,000 as at 31 March
2021.
R-ZE-_—F=ZA=+—8"
#)52,515,637,000/8 7T °

BEREZRENE

Investment properties of the Group are stated at fair
value and are revalued at the end of each reporting
period by a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers (the “external valuers”) engaged
by the management of the Group. The valuation of
investment properties involves significant estimations
and assumptions, including, among others, the
estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for
the income capitalisation approach and the estimated
market price for the direct comparison approach.

EEECZREMERATFEAINEENEREHR
B ESEEREZRE-—MBIEXSEEMAERD
RAI(MHNEHERM]) EFHE-REMERBES R
BRMEFREBR 2R (AR EE) BKABREZ
HEHEBERENMCEURBEELBE 2 EEtT

We focused on this matter due to the magnitude of
the balance involved and the significant accounting
judgements and estimates required.
BRSNS SRR NARFAEZERNGH
B Ko (T RAIRFRULEIR -

Related disclosures are included in notes 3 and 14 to
the consolidated financial statements.

MEARESHNGE B RRMEIR14 -

The audit procedures we performed on the
assessment of fair values of investment properties
included, among others, the following:
BPRTEREMEC A FEMETZIERIEFE
(AP BE)ATRIE:

o we evaluated the obijectivity, capabilities and
competence of the external valuers; and

o  EMEFEINEGHEM T g8 KB TR
iRk

o with the assistance of our internal valuation
specialists, we evaluated the valuation
techniques used and assessed the underlying
key inputs and assumptions through, among
others, enquiry with management and the
external valuers and with reference to relevant
historical, underlying and market information.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern
basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with
section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or
accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose
of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B S 4% WA 8

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause
the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Wong Yat Kin.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

29 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or LLoss

GEEER

Year ended 31 March 2021 &

E-—F=ZA=+—HIUFE

2021 2020
—E-—F ZTTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
B 5T FHET FET
REVENUE WA 5 796,026 1,031,070
Cost of sales $HE R AR (429,547) (553,412)
Gross profit EH 366,479 477,658
Other income and gains, net Hag A R e F5E 5 236,271 116,321
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEAX (176,269) (200,261)
General and administrative expenses — #& & 171 5 52 (110,894) (140,075)
Other expenses, net HimL 58 (29,444) (36,005)
Finance costs B RS RAR 7 (59,390) (77,259)
Share of losses of associates FE(LEE & A B B8 (59,692) (71,804)
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR B A 28 6 167,061 68,575
Income tax expense Frisfimz 10 (56,524) (53,714)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEBA 110,537 14,861
Attributable to: JEAR -
Owners of the parent ISYNCIEZF =N 81,004 14,123
Non-controlling interests JEVE R 29,533 738
110,537 14,861
EARNINGS PER SHARE BATREEREZEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE EhEERAER
TO ORDINARY EQUITY
HOLDERS OF THE PARENT 12
- Basic — B HK cents 6,441l | HK cents 1,12/
- Diluted — s HK cents 6,441l | HK cents 1.12/&L
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
GAAE llf( A $ &

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE
2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REERF 110,537 14,861
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  Ht2®EUW A~ (F#E)
(LOSS)
Other comprehensive income/(10ss) BREZBETESSES
that may be reclassified to profit or BRzHEMmEEEA
loss in subsequent periods: (BE) :
Exchange differences: MEHER:
Exchange differences on translation of BMEBINEB I ERER
foreign operations and reclassification K& R EUHE &I
adjustment on disposal and EBZENDBERAE
deregistration of foreign operations 192,257 (145,874)
Share of other comprehensive loss of DMEEEE QA2
associates Hib 2 MEEE (89,023) (18,785)
103,234 (164,659)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that BREZBETAERSEE
will not be reclassified to profit or loss BmsH HMEmEA
in subsequent periods: (BE) :
Changes in fair value of equity investments 5 F &% A FE R &
designated at fair value through other REMEEWYARRIEZ
comprehensive income BRIREN R FEE 7,879 (66,973)
Gain on property revaluation Y E = 27,218 -
35,007 (66,973)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ FAEEHMEEBA  (HE)
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 138,331 (231,632)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/  AEEZHEKA
(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR (F5|)@E 248,868 (216,771)
Attributable to: JEAE -
Owners of the parent [SY/NEIEZ TN 218,598 (211,662)
Non-controlling interests IR R 2 30,270 (5,109)
248,868 (216,771)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

b B R &

31 March 2021 —E=Z—#=H=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5 FET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment S ERN NS 13 756,137 741,979
Investment properties "EYE 14 2,515,637 1,082,167
Right-of-use assets FAEEE 15(a) 109,813 137,355
Goodwill S 16 67,703 76,451
Interests in associates REEE N R 2 #Eas 17 842,691 916,728
Equity investment designated at fair 15 &A1& A FEI RN
value through other comprehensive M E b 2 E WA PR IE 2~
income ERiRE 18 119,511 104,225
Properties under development BRERPYE 21 313,607 286,440
Deferred tax assets EIERRIBE E 31 12,106 719
Other receivables, deposits and Hb KRR e RFER
prepayments FRIB 24 29,485 349,043
Pledged time deposits BT HER 26 = 15,014
Total non-current assets EMEBEEMLE 4,766,690 4,610,121
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties held for sale RIELEMSE 21 469,401 439,923
Inventories FE 22 33,806 32,927
Tax recoverable A Ug [ 74 18 140 573
Trade receivables B E SRR 23 31,662 52,245
Other receivables, deposits and Hb KRR He RFER
prepayments FRIB 24 299,851 246,930
Due from directors JEUNE E 8 25 4,779 5,084
Due from non-controlling shareholders Ji& U 3F 2= A% 1% 5 5% 18 43(b) 8,280 6
Due from an associate JE U — RSB 2 A B 508 17 290,305 272,656
Financial assets at fair value through 3% A FEFBE R B B
profit or loss BremEE 19 223,990 185,995
Equity investment designated at fair 15 &A1& A FEV RN
value through other comprehensive R E b 2 E WA AR ERIE 2~
income ERiRE 18 34,657 39,004
Structured deposits AR RN 20 149,649 241,103
Restricted cash SRHIEE 26 106 167
Pledged time deposits BT HER 26 44,823 19,682
Cash and bank balances He MIBTT4E 26 413,573 245,895
Total current assets MEEERE 2,005,022 1,783,090
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Consolidated Statement of Fmanc1al Position

HA M ’l% ko %
31 March 2021 —E=Z—#=H=+—H
2021 2020
=B —F —E_FTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5% FEx FHT
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade payables EE ZEBER 27 (43,945) (51,987)
Other payables, accruals and HEi MR EBrBRAK
deposits received Bz 28 (419,862) (317,802)
Provisions B 29 (820) (960)
Due to directors FERTE B RIA 43(b) N (654)
Due to non-controlling shareholders &1~ FE 4% Hxﬂx%%’? ] 43(b) (35,353) (27,893)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings e ZIRITIEE 30 (1,079,859) (1,000,079)
Lease liabilities HEAE 15(b) (45,536) (66,449)
Deferred income EERA 32 (34,640) (31,543)
Tax payable FET TR (287,947) (244,775)
Total current liabilities mEBERRE (1,947,962) (1,742,142)
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 57,060 40,948
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT ¥ E#MERRBEE
LIABILITIES 4,823,750 4,651,069
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBAE
Accruals and deposits received EETERAREWIZS 28 (4,372) (8,115)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings MEZIRITIEE 30 (558,340) (675,133)
Lease liabilities HEEE 15(b) (42,111) (59,922)
Deferred income EIERA 32 (86,583) (88,866)
Deferred tax liabilities BB IEBE 31 (298,567) (253,217)
Provisions B 29 (2,569) (2,812
Total non-current liabilities ERBBER (992,542) (1,088,065)
Net assets BEFRE 3,831,208 3,563,004
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R NS

31 March 2021 —ZFE_-—F=A=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Bt 5T FET FET
EQUITY [}
Equity attributable to owners of the £ 2\ alEB A JEIL 2
parent

Issued capital BEITIRA 33 138,280 125,709
Reserves G 35 3,698,666 3,473,650
3,836,946 3,599,359
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR R 2 (5,738) (36,355)
Total equity EmeEE 3,831,208 3,563,004

Ma Kai Yum
BN
Director

EF

Chan Francis Ping Kuen

R 1R FE
Director

EF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-—F-_—F=HA=+—HIFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
SRAEA AR
Leasehold
land and
Share buiding Share Exchange Capttal Capttal Non-
Issued  premium  revaluation option Goodwil  fuctuation  redemption Reseve  Farvaue  andother  Retained controling Total
captal acoount eserve 1eserve Tesenve reserve resenve funds reserve Teserves profts Total interests equity
BETH
BEf R REF  BRE Ed i% ME EERR FER
BE EER  ERERE BB BEEE  FBRE  BERE  EBE2 BE  EbBE  R2EH gt BE ERgE
Notes HKS000  HK$000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK§000 HK§ 000 HK§'000 HK$000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS000 HK§'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Hiit Tin  TAr  TEn TR TEr  TExn TR TAr  TEn TR TR TEr TR TR
A1 Apil 2019 RZF-1E
BA-A 126,709 1,397,359 56,060 3,799 (86,230) 45210 316 581 (15,531) (41,105 2,383,642 3,869,810 (39,744) 3,830,066
Proft for he year RERRET - - - - - - - - - - Il 1418 738 14861
Other comprehensive loss REEEMEE
forthe year; B
Chenges infarvalue of equity T ARATFEF)
nvestments designated BIRAlRE
at fair valg through other hATREZ
comprehensive income EERELTE
28 - - - - - - - - (66,973) - - (66,973) - (66,973)
Exchange diferences BERNERL
on trangaton of Ef£RRLE
foreign opeations and ey Rk
reclassfication adjustment £h7800E
on disposal and Bl
deregistration of foreign
operations - - - - - (140027) - - - - - (140027) (6847) (145874
Share of other comprehensie A5 —HEE A
Joss of an associate JENREER S S o = - (1878 = S S S - (1878 - (1878
Total comprehensive loss TERRE
forte year s - - B - o (881 - Y] SwB e Gy pem)
Aoqiston of a subsiciary WE-HHER ¥ - - - - - - S S S S S S 69 69
Disposalof a subsidary HE-BHERT B - - - - - - S S o S S S (63) 63
Deregistation of subsiciares ~ USHAMELE 38 - - - - - - e S S 4] = 2] (19) (209)
Aoquistion of non-controling B -TEHEBRFZ
inerest i a subsidiary FikiER - - - - - = - o - (2180 - 80 2163 (166)
Contrbution fiom non-controling ~ EARAE 2
sharefolders & - - - - - = - o S = = S m m
Dividend paid to non-controling 2t EERRE 2
Shacholders RS - - - - - - - - - - - S omwry By
Equity-setted share option IWEGER  BIE
anangements Zi 3% - - - 4] - - - - - - - 73 - 4]
Fna 2019 iidend SE-nERERE 10 - - B - - B - - - - @y e - e
At 31 March 2020 RZZZZE
ZA=1-A 125,709 1,397,359 56,060 453 (86,2308 (113,602" 316" 5811 (82504  (62914F 2,360,052 3599,359 (36,355) 3,563,004




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
Gomngyx

Year ended 31 March 2021 BHZ=-F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the parent
SRIREARE
Leasehold
land and
Share  building Share Exchange Capital Capital Non-
Issued  premium  revaluation option  Goodwill fluctuation redemption  Reserve  Fairvalue  andother  Retained controlling Total
capital  account reserve reserve reserve reserve resere funds reserve  reserves profits Total  interests equity
AELH
2&f R kE®  BRR E} g4 APE EAR FER
B BEE  EHEE ff HERE RERE EERE  ERe BE  HbBE REEA it BE  EESE
Notes HKS000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS'000
Hi tRn  TEn TR Tin T#n TEn Tin i TR TEn Tin T#n TR Tin
At 31 March 2020 and i 2
1 April 2020 ZA=+-Ak
mA-A 15700 1397350 56060 450 @620 (113602 316 581 2504 G014 236005 35030 (635 3563004
Proft for the year TERET = - = = = o = o o = 81,004 81,004 29,633 110,587
Other comprehensiveincome.~~ AEE £ {28
for the year: WA
Chenges nfarvalue of ety RAFEFIER
nvestments at fai value REHRE
through other competensie — MARREZ
income ERRELATE
29 - - - - - - - - 7879 - - 7879 - 7879
Gain on property revalation 1% 354 % 13 = - a8 = = = = = = = -8 -
Exchange diferences BEBNEHL
on trangaton of ER£RRIE
foreign operations and BNFHER
reclassficaton adjustment R
on disposal of foreign
operafions - - - - - 191520 - - - - - 191520 787 192,267
Share of other comprehenshe A5 B
loss of an associate LENEEEE S o = S S (89,023 S S o = S (89,023) - (89,023
Totd comprehensive income.~~ REE2E
for the year WAEE - -8 - - 102497 - - 7879 - BI04 218598 30270 248,868
Controution by non-controling £ 2HRETE
shareholder - - - - - - - - - - - - ur ur
Disposal of a subsidiary LE-EHELT % - - - - - - - - - - - - 402 402
Aoquistion of non-controling B -TEHERFZ
interest in a subsidary FrREs - - - - - - - - - - - - 1,644 1,644
Divdend paid tonon-contoling 2 FH3EERBEZ
shareholders e - - - - - - - - - - - - (2,646) (2,646)
Equity-settled share option NEREE BlE
anangements 47 k! - - - 866 - - - = = = = 866 = 866
Issue of shares upon placng - BRERIEEH
of shares i 3 12,571 43265 - - - - - - - - - 56,836 - 55,836
Final 2020 divicend “ECFF
KERE 1 - - - - - - - - - -y - e
A3 Marn 201 e
ZA=t-# 190 1W06¢ B SHB B2 (05 36 ST (AR5 R0 24030 3866 (7 3818

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of ~— * It % % #5 #: 403,608,666,0008 7L (— T =%
approximately HK$3,698,666,000 (2020: HK$3,473,650,000) in F : 3,473,650,0008 7T ) B B IE &7 A M %
the consolidated statement of financial position. MARZEREHEZR -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

N Ve EL
SAUeRE
Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F -
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FET FHT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING R&EX¥KFB2RERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax B B¢ AT g A 167,061 68,575
Adjustments for: FER
Finance costs B 7% AR 7R 7 59,390 77,259
Share of losses of associates JE(LEG & N B8 59,692 71,804
Bank interest income RITHA B HA 5 (3,802) (4,319)
Investment interest income WERNBWA 5 (11,263) (13,179)
Other interest income H b F) B U A 5 (15,613) (10,489)
Dividend income from equity ETE AR ATEY R
investment designated at fair value N A E {th & mE Uk A
through other comprehensive BEERIEEZ
income B EHA 5 (4,169) (6,948)
Dividend income from financial BAFEYRERIBRFE
assets at fair value through BramiEEL
profit or loss B A 5 (2,145) (1,918)
Loss on disposal/write-off of BEFEEYME - BE R
items of property, plant and BIEEBE 2 KB F58
equipment, net 6 1,457 8,084
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FEE ARz s 5 (3,983) (422)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries BUH it it i & A 7] 2 E518 6 - 919
Impairment of goodwill EERE 6 8,748 -
Fair value loss/(gain), net: Q$%§J§ﬂ,§/(ﬂﬁlﬁ?§) '
HEE
Financial assets at fair value BAFEY R RN BEF
through profit or loss BEZEREE 5 (10,803) 29,738
Derivative financial instruments MESBTA
— transactions not qualifying as —TREHFERZ
hedges R 5 6 - 9
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #1% &= MR E 2T E
equipment 6 69,268 69,773
Changes in fair value of investment X &% A F(E
properties, net HE) . FHE 5 (121,886) (48,846)
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) B E SRR ZBE,
of trade receivables, net (R ERED])  FEE 6 (2,076) 4,620
Impairment/(reversal of impairment)  H {th & Ug BR ZRIE,
of other receivables, net CRE#R)  F58 6 11,174 (29,601)
Recovery of other receivables written UR[EI & 5§ 2 F b FE U BR 71
off 6 - (2,490)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEEZITE 6 62,989 77,490
Release of deferred income g 0RO :ACS 32 (1,355) (35,759)
Unwinding of discount on receivables & W kI8 2 #7135 (& # [0 5 (13,373) (19,112)
Equity-settled share option expense UAMEZS#E & 2 BE AL HERT 2 34 866 733
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE - 10,544
Gain on lease modification MEER] 2 W 6 (8,451) (349)
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C_Onsolidated Statement of Cash Flows
LB RER

Year ended 31 March 2021 BHZ=-F - —F=H=+—HIFFE
2021 2020
—E-—F —TTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Bt 5 FHExT FH&T
Decrease/(increase) in properties BRIPMEZRL
under development ($&n) (5,785) 59,996
Decrease in properties held for sale 3% {E & ¥ % 2 ik 4,354 1,076
Increase in inventories FEHEIN (2,909) (8,847)
Decrease/(increase) in trade ERE ZERTRL,
receivables ($&n) 27,423 (32,626)
Decrease/(increase) in other HiEWERER REk
receivables, deposits and BRI A (3Em)
prepayments (91,433) 22,305
Decrease in amounts due from FEW E = FRIER
directors 1,826 4,070
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables &1 E 5 BRZIE N,
CR4) (9,577) 1,389
Increase/(decrease) in other E b FERTERFK -
payables, accruals and EEtERRERIZS
deposits received #hn, Crid) 76,968 (78,215)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due  FE{ & = FKIEE N,
to directors ORLA) (647) 163
Decrease in provisions B AR (540) (570)
COVID-19-related rent concessions 7 A $fCOVID-194H 3
from lessors HEeER (8,854) -
Cash generated from operations KEXBGB RS 232,552 214,857
Hong Kong profits tax paid EREBREHR (625) (633)
Overseas taxes paid EATEINE R (4,635) (28,298)
Net cash flows from operating BEEBREZ
activities REMEFE 227,292 185,926
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
HAVeWER
Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —EEF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E FHExT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RETEHzRERE
ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received BRIR 1T B 3,802 4,319
Other interest received H b B U F) B 26,859 23,507
Dividend received from equity BUIETE AR AT EYIER
investment designated at fair value ~ REMEZEWAFTRIEZ
through other comprehensive ERREZRE
income 4,169 6,948
Dividend received from financial Bz A FES R MR
assets at fair value through profit HFREZEHBEERSE
or loss 2,145 1,918
Purchases of items of property, plant B A% % B E &
and equipment HEIEHE (47,492) (61,590)
Purchase of investment properties ~ B& A& & ¥ % (33,192) (77,330)
Proceeds from disposal of derivative H & T4 % & T A
financial instruments FriS 508
— transactions not qualifying as —THEHMER IR S
hedges - 32
Proceeds from disposal of items of  HEWE - KE &
property, plant and equipment B EWETERIE 1,266 4,410
Receipt of consideration receivables Yt B H & — R Ft & A &)
from disposal of a subsidiary FEURR(E 132,598 383,566
Purchases of financial assets at fair B AL A (A ER &
value through profit or loss REEFEEZ
TREE (182,436) (249,437)
Proceeds from disposal of financial 1 &% A (A8 &
assets at fair value through profit REEFEEZ
or loss TRLE EFTS A 155,500 230,640
Acquisition of a subsidiary U g — M B A7 37 - (25,497)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRKE AR 38 (172) 285
Decrease/(increase) in pledged EEAEEHFR LD ER
time deposits and pledged bank RITEBZRL
balances (3hn) 35,058 (9,566)
Decrease/(increase) in restricted XREBES 2R
cash (3Eh0) 73 (85)
Investment in structured deposits ERETFRZEE (139,456) (247,732)
Redemption of structured deposits & [0l &5 & £ 77 X 247,732 817
Investment in an associate BE R E AT (20,500) (181,980)
Increase in an amount due from JiE W — e B & R )
an associate RIEZ N (71,811) (43,923)
Deposits for acquisition of WHEIREME 2 &S
investment properties - (51,440)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEFBRE,/ (A2
investing activities HEemEFE 114,143 (292,138)
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Cpnsohdated Statement of Cash Flows
%A IIEL 2R E i‘%

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z_—Z

——F=ZA=+—HIFE

2021 2020
— —ER-FHE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T FERT FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING BEEEFMEZHERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from issue of shares BTN 2 FR{S 3R 55,836 -
New bank loans g fﬁhféﬁk 521,083 1,127,600
Repayment of bank loans ERIETER (564,111) (716,409)
Acquisition of non-controlling interest U 8% — & B & 2 7] 2
in a subsidiary FEIE IR HE A 1,644 (166)
Contribution by non-controlling FEERBRFIEE
shareholders 947 777
Changes in balances with non- TR RARTBED) TR
controlling shareholders, net (158) 6,011
Principal portion of lease payments 2 & i FREY & AR EZB 5 (53,617) (65,497)
Dividends paid EfRE (37,713) (37,713)
Dividends paid to non-controlling =EN] 3H Hxﬂxﬁ
shareholders (2,646) (13,723)
Interest paid ERFE (60,379) (76,620)
Net cash flows from/(used in) BEESME, (TR Z
financing activities RenREFHE (139,114) 224,260
NET INCREASE IN CASH AND ReRRALEEER
CASH EQUIVALENTS N FEE 202,321 118,048
Cash and cash equivalents FHzRekREEE
at beginning of year BH 235,533 122,497
Effect of foreign exchange rate HINEERE T E
changes, net R 10,542 (5,012)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS & zB& R
AT END OF YEAR HE&EEEEH 448,396 235,533
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES ReRBEEEE
OF CASH AND CASH HEERZDM
EQUIVALENTS
Cash and unpledged bank balances I8¢ M AR IEIFIR T 45 413,573 235,533
Time deposits with original maturity 4 85 % R 2| HA B >
of less than three months when R=E Az EBRFR
acquired 34,823 -
Cash and cash equivalents as stated #ZAIRERERNZY| 2R
in the consolidated statement of e hBFeFEER
cash flows 448,396 235,533
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION

Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited (the
“Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in
Bermuda. The registered office of the Company is located
at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally
engaged in investment holding, property investment and
development, and the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses.

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

2 E] R & & R

FEEMEEZERERAG (TARA])
m—HRBEBREAMKI 2 ER AT -
AR B 5 3 = B 2 7 Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10, Bermuda °

FR-ARBREMBAR (5 [RE
BDRNERXERBRREER MERE
REBERIAMGEBE  BERNRmMER -

W 2 ) A B R
ARAEEMEARZFHENT

Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
HEMAYL BRTLE/ ANE R RE
AR AR MR EXE L FsRERR HEBRA Bk FTEEK
2021 2020
ZEZ-f | Z2ZEZF
Amica Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100 Property investment
DEMEZBRRA B LER 28T MERE
Carrianna (BVI) Ltd.* British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$J 100 100 Invgstment holding
EREXHES Limk e REZR
Carrianna (Chiu Chow) Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$8,000,000 82.5 825  Restaurant operations
Restaurant Limited
EEH (M) BEERAR A il 8,000,000 7T it Sd
Carrianna Chinese Food Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$900,000 100 100  Investment holding
(Hong Kong) Limited
%Eg?ﬂw ARm(EE) BB il 900,000/ 7 BAER
RAA]
Carrianna Holdings Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$25,000,000 100 100 Property investment
and development
EENEEFRAA B LER 25,000,000/ 7T NERBRER
Carrianna (Shenzhen) People’s Republic Registered capital HK$80,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Investment Co., Ltd. of China (‘PRC")/ and property
Mainland China investment and
development
E2H ORI KRE ¢($$Eﬁ>@ AMER 80,000,000/ 7T REBRRMERE
BRARN [ ] RER
LIEN S
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BHZ=-F - —F=H=+—HIFFE
CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 28 REEEH 5
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W8 2 &) B & R s
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
EMAL/ BRTEE/ AN RELRE
ARAR AR E L PR R HEMBRA BAl TEEK
2021 2020
ZB--F | ZTC0%F
China East International Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1,000,000 100 100 Investment holding
Materials City Limited
EREROHHERRT  BE Lk 1,000,000% 7 REER
Delicious Group Dining Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$13,733,601 63 63  Restaurant operations
Services Limited
RELBEERRBERRR FE Eak 13,783,601/ 7T ZRKE
Earn Fame Group Limited British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
NEEBERAT HEBRAHE S v REER
Elite Brave Development British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares USS$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
REERERAA" HEBRAHE 1 v REER
Goldfield Properties Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$2 100 100  Property investment
RLEERERAF Eit Eak 28T NERE
Huge Moral International British Virgin Islands  Ordinary shares US$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited*
EEERERAR" EREXHES Eak e REZR
Max Honour Investments Hong Kong Ordinary shares HKS$1 100 100 Investment holding
Limited
ZERBBRAF Eit Lk 17T REZR
Profit Smart Group Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$5,598,059 60 60  Bakery operations
MERREEAERAF 3 £ 5,598,059/ 7 BEELE
Tak Sing Alliance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$200 100 100  Property investment
EE Eak 2007 NERE
Non-voting HK$1,000,000 - -
deferred
shares
ERRE 1,000,000% 7T
R
Tak Sing (Panyu) Fashion PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$51,000,000 100 100  Property investment
Company Limited ) )
EMHMERREERLE B/ REARE FEE 51,000,000/ 70 NERE
Wealth Mark Group Limited ~ Byitish Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares Us$10 90 90  Investment holding
HEEEERAT EBRAHS Eak 10%7T REZR
EEM (L) B PRC/Mainland China ~ Registered capital ~ RMB14,700,000 100 100 Hotel and restaurant
BRAG® operations
HE/HEAR HMEA AR ¥14,700,0007 BEREREE
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z— —F=HA=+—HIFE
CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. 28 k&EH &R @
INFORMATION (Continued)
INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES W & 2> 5] M BB RE (a0
(Continued)
Place of
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
registration Class of equity registered equity attributable
Name of company and business interest held share capital to the Company Principal activities
SR CRITEE/ ARF MR E
ARER AR E Fris R R R A BAkk TBER
2021 2020
:s: - $ == 7 — E
FIEEPERER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRDES hE/HREAE FEA AR ¥5,000,00070 il ey
EEEEHARRBRAAP  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB31,000,000 65 65  Food business
HE/REAE Balli-v AR H31,000,0007 BmES
HEERRRREEEE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital ~ RMB100,000,000 90 90  Hotel operahons
BRAF R B AR AR AR BIE
100,000,0007C
FIEEHEEERE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB5,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRDAS HE/REAE FEA AR ¥5,000,00070 il ey
EREBHRMEAMEE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital 1US$46,000,000 100 100 Property investment
(BEB)ERAR R R EARE AEA 46,000,0005 7T and development
MEREARER
Carrianna Food PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital HK$1,000,000 100 100 Food business
(Shenzhen) Ltd.” R R EARE AR 1,000,000% 7T Bm#EB
E=Ham ORI
BRARD
FITEEPER PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRDAS HE/REAE FEA AR 6,000,000 il ey
HE (M) mEMERLE  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB40,000,000 100 100 Property investment
%f% BARO REREARE Balli-v AR #40,000,0007 NERE
BEEEPERRSE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB50,000,000 65 65  Restaurant operations
BRDEY HE/REARE FEA AR ¥50,000,0007T il 4
ERHEEHARRBRAAD  PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital US$2,000,000 75 75  Food business
HE/REAE Balli-v 2,000,000 7 RmEH
Sleek Treasure Ventures British Virgin Islands ~ Ordinary shares US$77,200 60 60  Investment holding
Limited (“Sleek Treasure”)
J\Iﬁiﬁg}x]ﬁ)ﬁiﬂﬂ RERLES LRk 77,200% 7T BAER
5=
FIMIEZERE PRC/Mainland China  Registered capital RMB6,000,000 100 100 Restaurant operations
BRARE RE/ HREAE FMEL AR 6,000,000 il ey
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2.1

98

CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES
(Continued)

Direct subsidiaries of the Company
m Wholly-foreign-owned enterprises
@ Sino-foreign joint venture companies

© Domestic enterprises

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group, as well as certain investment
holding and other subsidiaries, which in the opinion
of the directors, are of specific importance to or of
specific purpose for the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in
Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for certain
leasehold land and buildings, investment properties and
certain financial assets which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

2.1

(EES B¢ )

Wt B 2 &) M B & R s

* ARABEENMB AR

0 INEBELE
@ PIFEDE
O RNELE

EER/ ALERIIARRARZHEBRA
RIBREFEXREIERLEBEE
FEZETERD AREZERR ETR
BEREEMHBARYAEEFHIE
EXAARKAN EFERREREF
SR B AR Z &R BSEBR
L e

R

ZEMBBRRDZBELEGANAE
(FEERAE]) B2 EBM R
SEA(TEFEMBHHREER]) (B
FIBREMBREER A G ER
(IFEBgstE) RRE) FELR
SEHRA R EFE R BUED 2 WERER
B IFS MR RAE L AA R EBL - 1A
NFEFEZETHELHWERT &
BEMERETEREERIN - ZFTH
BRIIANETES Br=BHA  PAEE
BEEAREREOZ T
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2021. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the
date that such control ceases.

2.1 4 W% (@)

ki

FEMBHRREBERRTRENE QT
BE_ZT-—F=A=+—HIHFEZ
BBEBR-MBRARAARAEELH
EETNER (BRABEER) -EX
SEAXXEZE2EREHREBHME
RRT R AREEBEIREERNE
D (AT AKRERBENETEREY
KA FERN) FEZFEHR
By BIENAS 12 il -

MARFERAMEREEIRNRELHR
REHNRELBOER BIAREER
HEERTHBHREURNENR
SERMAEMEBEERER 81

(@) BEREBEHRHEMEZRERANA
Wk

b) BEMEHRPERTELNER: &

© AEENRERNEEREE-

B /8 2 B B B 7 R 0 S S A B AKX 7]
R WA -2 ST BERRE - B
NEZ BB AREESIES# 2 B
REFE THESASAREERESR
FAERIE AR -

Sk
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2.1

100

N ETLY: s

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
parent of the Group and to the non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of a
subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (i) the carrying amount of any
non-controlling interest and (i) the cumulative translation
differences recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair
value of the consideration received, (i) the fair value of
any investment retained and (i) any resulting surplus or
deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities.

OPERATING CYCLE

The operating cycle of the Group for the property
investment and development business is the period
between the acquisition of assets and their realisation.
Due to the nature of such business, its normal operating
cycle may be longer than 12 months. The Group’s
current assets include assets (such as properties under
development and properties held for sale) which are sold,
consumed or realised as part of the normal operating
cycle for the property investment and development
business even when they are not expected to be realised
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

2.1 4 W # (@)

EAR®E (9

BakHEM2ERAZEXTD HEB
RARBERRRHEA AMIFZERER
BN bt B8 5| BROF R B b th R I A A
A MBESEBARRRZEERAE
Rz WA I RASKBK B RRER
SFHREZRERANEGS KB F2 K
85 °

i E B E RGBT b XAt = &3 &l
REZHEP—EXZESE QA=

HEFFEEEDEHREHR KB
REZ A EESEE (W ERKIES
)RR IR S -

fieh 7 5= [ 2 25 4 — ) B /BB % ) 2 4%
AR ZNB AR CEE

(BREEE)RAE (EAFEH#ER
ZEEEN)RNEZNGLSE Rt E

EZ8 RERNEWRE 2R FE - (i)FT
REBEMIRE 2 A FEKi)ERERRE
AT A L E A 2 BERTBAL ° SERTR E AL
ZHBARNERZAEEEET» SR

FEARMNAEEERELEEHEEES
BEMERNBEREESENHPEEER
jﬂ%aﬂ/ﬁnﬁjf’

R ¥R
AEBOMERERBEREGZXB
HRWBEEEEEER B ZHIE-
BRI R IEE - L2 B AR
128 A - AREBEMEERE MEREBH
ﬁ@ﬁ?@%&*ﬂﬁ%%%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ
& OERREERNEE (FIERTY)
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 and the following revised
HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark
Reform

Covid-19-Related
Rent Concessions
(early adopted)

Definition of Material

and HKAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework
for Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(@

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 (the “Conceptual Framework”) sets out
a comprehensive set of concepts for financial
reporting and standard setting, and provides
guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and
assistance to all parties to understand and interpret
the standards. The Conceptual Framework includes
new chapters on measurement and reporting
financial performance, new guidance on the
derecognition of assets and liabilities, and updated
definitions and recognition criteria for assets and
liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship,
prudence and measurement uncertainty in financial
reporting. The Conceptual Framework is not a
standard, and none of the concepts contained
therein override the concepts or requirements in any
standard. The Conceptual Framework did not have
any significant impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

22 fAt A RIEEZE

NEB B RN2018F I 5 & ME
ZEWEARFEMERRERERN
BT BB S HmE LR -

BEMBREERD EEOTE
3 (BATA)
BAMBREER  AEEENE

FORBAGS
RS20

BN REER
E75 (1K)
BRMBREER  A019FHE TN KE
BI6% (BEIAX)  BREBHHEZEE
(FRATERA)
EREGENE R  EANER
REEGHEA
ERACCEIES)

2018F BT B ER RARIER] BB
MBREEANEERZERN X

@ 2018 FHBHHEBMELR (B
HEZR | ) B BA TS SRS FN2E B 1) T B i
T—EBEHRS UTAVBRERR
BHHE B TBREHEES
WBhET A AIRRANARE R - S
ERBIEBBAENREMIEER
MER BREEMABRKRIERE
REFIES - UAREFH TEBEE
MEBETENERNZE - ZEE
R TERE  EEMEGE TR
EUEMEHRETNER - BIE
e IEER| BB ST
AR B NMEMER RSk
TRz o B ERE AEBAE
BARARRRITEERTE-
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(b)

102

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide
additional guidance on the definition of a business.
The amendments clarify that for an integrated
set of activities and assets to be considered
a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create
output. A business can exist without including
all of the inputs and processes needed to create
outputs. The amendments remove the assessment
of whether market participants are capable of
acquiring the business and continue to produce
outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create
outputs. The amendments have also narrowed the
definition of outputs to focus on goods or services
provided to customers, investment income or other
income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance to assess whether
an acquired process is substantive and introduce
an optional fair value concentration test to permit
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. The
Group has applied the amendments prospectively
to transactions or other events that occurred on
or after 1 April 2020. The amendments did not
have any impact on the financial position and
performance of the Group.

22 &

AR K B2 E (a)

BB EHREEAEHREETE
BERFTABBESTRONREING
Sle i FIBRIES YRGB IE—IE
XN —BEETHREEMNS  H
WEZLBETRFAHAEEHD
BEIMEERERNBAERRE
EUHBRE ETREREAEED
AT EMAERRKBENBELT -
MARIE—TEEBIFE - L2 F1ERT
BHRTEHMSE2HEE LT M
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2 HEOREMRGEEAEIR
FARSHELEERERS %M
HEBEE LM ML ERER -
ZEBI N NTEEHNER &
REMEFPRENERIRE &
BWASIEEEBHEMYA - 1t
G BB B AT (G FT AR A 1B 12
TEEAEERMES W5 AE
BEUHAABESTHEAG  ARET
RELAT BTSN —EXKE
BREERTEN —HEK K&
B 2 15 5% & 5] T8 HA & A3 74202044
A1BS 2B BHENRFHEME
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

()

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS
7 address issues affecting financial reporting in the
period before the replacement of an existing interest
rate benchmark with an alternative risk-free rate
(“RFR”). The amendments provide temporary reliefs
which enable hedge accounting to continue during
the period of uncertainty before the introduction of
the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments
require companies to provide additional information
to investors about their hedging relationships
which are directly affected by these uncertainties.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group as
the Group does not have any interest rate hedging
relationships.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical
expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease
modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19
pandemic. The practical expedient applies only to
rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence
of the pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease
payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less
than, the consideration for the lease immediately
preceding the change; (i) any reduction in lease
payments affects only payments originally due
on or before 30 June 2021; and (i) there is no
substantive change to other terms and conditions
of the lease. The amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020 with
earlier application permitted and shall be applied
retrospectively.

22 BEFHR R EZEH (9

(©)

BEVBRELEANFSR BEE
AT EERIZE 395 R & B M 5 s 22 )
7R (BRIAR) B ERARN B E
[ A R ERACIR A A R E A 2 FT R
Hi Y B TS 3R 5 R - R B RT 1R
Al S| AR ERRA AT A
HEE MR ANEEETE e RIE
H T B I R B o S EX B
AIRERRARNREERHEBE
BERXZETHTRARZENLITE
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A F =GP RRR - R FERT AY AR
SENPBRRRKRRALEZE -
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) BEBARBAIITERER S
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(d) (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2021, certain
monthly lease payments for the leases of the
Group’s restaurant and bakery properties have been
reduced or waived by the lessors as a result of the
pandemic and there are no other changes to the
terms of the leases. The Group has early adopted
the amendment on 1 April 2020 and elected not
to apply lease modification accounting for all rent
concessions granted by the lessors as a result of the
pandemic during the year ended 31 March 2021.
Accordingly, a reduction in the lease payments
arising from the rent concessions of approximately
HK$8,800,000 has been accounted for as a variable
lease payment by derecognising part of the lease
liabilities and crediting to profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

(e)  Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a
new definition of material. The new definition states
that information is material if omitting, misstating
or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis
of those financial statements. The amendments
clarify that materiality will depend on the nature or
magnitude of information, or both. The amendments
did not have any significant impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB B ELRNEIR (BFTA)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

BV HREERNF BAE ST ERFH39
S BB BRMELERETR  BEMBER
EHREREAT N BB I WS A RIF 165

(fBFT )

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

BRI EERFE10R R BB SR
285% (201 1{E ] A)

Amendment to HKFRS 16
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HKFRS 17
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Amendments to HKFRS 17
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Amendments to HKAS 1
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Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2
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Amendments to HKAS 8
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Amendments to HKAS 12
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Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020

&K B R 3R 2 RII2018F 2020 4F 1A BB F &

2k

ERPEMERERAT | 2021F R

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

2.3 Bl fH i RAERZHE M
o i ik g

AEBRZEMBRRBPHERRABIAT
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Reference to the Conceptual Framework®
BLRHESE 5 5)°
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 21

FIFBERE-F G

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®
REZFHEBE Ak A &R BN EE L E)FES

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 20212
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Insurance Contracts*
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Insurance Contracts*”
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Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current* ©
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Disclosure of Accounting Policies*
B 25

Definition of Accounting Estimates*
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Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from
a Single Transaction*

B GELHEEER R BB ELHE

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended
Use®
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Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfiling a Contract®
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Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 412
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2021

= Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2021

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023

< No mandatory effective date yet determined but available
for adoption

e As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Staterments
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that
Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in
October 2020 to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

! As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17
issued in October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to
extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers to
apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods
beginning before 1 January 2023

The Group is still in the process of assessing the
impact of the above new and revised HKFRSs. Further
information about certain of those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3
an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to
refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if
they were incurred separately rather than assumed in
a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3
should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively
to business combinations for which the acquisition date
is on or after the date of first application, the Group will
not be affected by these amendments on the date of
transition.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS
4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the
previous amendments which affect financial reporting
when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with
an alternative RFR. The Phase 2 amendments provide a
practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate to
be updated without adjusting the carrying amount when
accounting for changes in the basis for determining the
contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities,
if the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate
benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to
the previous basis immediately preceding the change.
In addition, the amendments permit changes required
by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to
hedge designations and hedge documentation without
the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains
or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an
RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that
the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component to
become separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to
disclose additional information to enable users of financia
statements to understand the effect of interest rate
benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and
risk management strategy. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
and shall be applied retrospectively, but entities are not
required to restate the comparative information.
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2.3
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or
joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised
in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader
review of accounting for associates and joint ventures.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that
date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer
settlement of the liability. The amendments also clarify
the situations that are considered a settlement of a
liability. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the
cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively
only to items of property, plant and equipment made
available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest
period presented in the financial statements in which the
entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37,
the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that
relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to
a contract include both the incremental costs of fulfilling
that contract (e.g., direct labour and materials) and an
allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g., an allocation of the depreciation charge
for an item of property, plant and equipment used in
fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do
not relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless
they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under
the contract. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and shall
be applied to contracts for which an entity has not yet
fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which it first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised as
an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application without restating the comparative information.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOTYET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL

REPORTING STANDARDS (Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the

Group are as follows:

110

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability are
substantially different from the terms of the original
financial liability. These fees include only those
paid or received between the borrower and the
lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity
applies the amendment to financial liabilities that are
modified or exchanged on or after the beginning
of the annual reporting period in which the entity
first applies the amendment. The amendment is
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease incentives
when applying HKFRS 16.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES
INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long
term interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity
voting rights and over which it is in a position to exercise
significant influence. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions
of the investee, but is not control or joint control over
those policies.

The Group’s interests in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group’s share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments
are made to bring into line any significant dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised
directly in the equity of the associate, the Group
recognises its share of any changes, when applicable,
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.
Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s interests in the associates,
except where unrealised losses provide evidence of an
impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising
from the acquisition of associates is included as part of
the Group’s interests in associates.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is
not remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be
accounted for under the equity method. In all other cases,
upon loss of significant influence over the associate, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant influence
and the fair value of the retained investment and proceeds
from disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred is
measured at the acquisition date fair value which is
the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of
the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group
elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of net
assets in the event of liquidation at fair value or at the
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets. All other components of non-controlling interests
are measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are
expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business
when the acquired set of activities and assets includes an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the
financial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate
classification and designation in accordance with the
contractual terms, economic circumstances and pertinent
conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the
separation of embedded derivatives in host contracts of
the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its
acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the
acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Contingent consideration classified as an asset or
liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that
is classified as equity is not remeasured and subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess
of the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the
amount recognised for non-controlling interests and any
fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired
and liabilities assumed. If the sum of this consideration
and other items is lower than the fair value of the net
assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND
GOODWILL (Continued)

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently if
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying value may be impaired. The Group performs its
annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March. For
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units,
or groups of cash-generating units, that are expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, irrespective
of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are
assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-
generating units) to which the goodwill relates. Where the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount,
an impairment loss is recognised. An impairment loss
recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent
period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating
unit (or group of cash-generating units) and part of the
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill
associated with the operation disposed of is included in
the carrying amount of the operation when determining
the gain or loss on the disposal. Goodwill disposed of in
these circumstances is measured based on the relative
value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

If the initial accounting for a business combination was
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which
the combination occurred, during the measurement
period (i.e., the period after the acquisition date during
which an entity may adjust the provisional amounts
recognised for a business combination), the Group shall
recognise adjustments to the provisional amounts as if
the accounting for the business combination had been
completed at the acquisition date. Thus, the Group shall
revise comparative information for prior periods presented
in financial statements as needed, and disclose the nature
and amount of any measurement period adjustments
recognised during the reporting period.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its investment properties and
certain financial assets at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be
received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in
an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the
asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous
market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions
that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant that
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of
unobservable inputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant
to the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.

24 FEGH UK ZME (9

N s E o)
FERHERERAVESERNE
BERAE DERNYAT @ISR
MEBEBY RIEEH ASEZUATA
TEEHHE:

F—H& — ERERBEEXEER
BT5 2 RSTHBRE

F-H — ERERVEFERFEX

TE THERIEERER
MREEABIRZAES
A

F=H — ERERVEFEFEX
TE THUBRAOREE
WABBZBENE

HREMBRRABEERERRINEE
RAE AEEEENEREHRER
BRATEFEERBAEAZENRZERE
BABBENTEIE UREESEH
ETRFRER -




ERPEMERERAT | 2021F R

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets and
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of
the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its
fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other
assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or
may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised
impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount,
in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is
accounted for in accordance with the relevant accounting
policy for that revalued asset.

RELATED PARTIES
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
() has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

RELATED PARTIES (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

M

(i)

(vi)

(vii)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

120

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost or valuation less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for
its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In
situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are
required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives
and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Over the lease terms
Over the lease terms
2.5% to 3%

Over the shorter of the
lease terms and 20%
10% to 20%

15% to 20%

20% to 25%

Hotel properties
Leasehold lands
Buildings

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machinery
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Motor vehicles

24 FEEFHHRZIBME w0

/ERN VS S RV Sk

BREZIRNINZME BERKRETD
WRANME SRS ER R AHTE RMERIRIE
EBEIIE - WX BB MRBER KA
BEREEREENEMNSCREEERER
EEEMR R E 2 B EIERA

ME -BEMRBHRERAEFRES
ZRAX(MERERRE) - REBEEL
ZHIMERm R A - W14 BRI
H AEAREZAXEREEREE
REMIERET - WY%  BFE MR E
ZERBNBAEREE AAKEEH
%L B HER A FE A A FH R A
EZBEREE-

2 H B ETIREENE  BER
R B R A A R M A AR
EMHERAE - FRANEEENE
2T

B IS % BT
Gizk ol ub:i 1R HFH
gx 2.5%%3%
HEMEERE RHEOFHR

20% 2 BREHE
i 5 2 i 23 10%ZE20%
i KB REE 15%Z220%
a8 20%ZE25%



ERPEMERERAT | 2021F R

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
AND DEPRECIATION (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised is
the difference between the net sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the relevant asset.

Construction in progress represents buildings under
construction, which are stated at cost less any
impairment losses, and are not depreciated. Cost
comprises the direct costs of construction and capitalised
borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during
the period of construction. Construction in progress is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for use.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property interest held as a right-
of-use asset which would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course
of business. Such properties are measured initially at
cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair
value, which reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of
profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

If a property occupied by the Group as an owner-
occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the
policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” for owned property and/or accounts for
such property in accordance with the policy stated under
“Right-of-use assets” for property held as a right-of-use
asset up to the date of change in use, and any difference
at that date between the carrying amount and the fair
value of the property is accounted for as a revaluation.

For a transfer from properties held for sale to investment
properties, any difference between the fair value of the
property at that date and its previous carrying amount is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets. At
inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component(s), the
Group adopts the practical expedient not to separate
non-lease component(s) and to account for the lease
component and the associated non-lease component(s)
as a single lease component.

(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-
of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial
direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at
or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received. Where applicable, the cost of a
right-of-use asset also includes an estimate of costs
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Leasehold lands
Properties

25 to 50 years
2 to 35 years
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

LEASES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b) Lease liabilities

124

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend
on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised
by the Group and payments of penalties for
termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease.
The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense
in the period in which the event or condition that
triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

24 FEEFHHRZIBME w0

iNEEE D)
AEBEERBKMA (8)

©)

HEERE
HEABERERKAKREMEMB
EMEMNNBAENREENRE
ER - HENREREEREEENK
(BREEZEE M) EEME
W EERE  BURR —IRIEH K
LRI B HENEE  ARERE
ERTEFEMNNSE BAEMK
THREBEAKBSEEENRET
FEORBEERFRNTEENARIR
HEGRF T ARBITEREFREL
IFAERARKIEHE M S
RE R NEURRIE B L Ry A]
HHE SRR B R E ek
it 3 A O BRI A RE AR B 2

ERERENREBHRES W
RTETRBTEEFHNEF
% NS B B 2 PR B B 44 R 0
EIEHFIE B A2 BES

& o & EAEE R mR L o itk
Z5N A E R IRE AT &
(IMARBEEN KA L R
BMES) BEHREENEEE
MRHEHIREE  REHTERE
BEMEREE-



EEBEBMZERERAR | 20215FK

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
LEASES (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c)  Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of office premises
(that is those leases that have a lease term of 12
months or less from the commencement date and
do not contain a purchase option). When the Group
enters into a lease in respect of a low-value asset,
the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on
the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as revenue in the period in which they are
earned.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT

Properties under development are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value and comprise land
costs, construction costs, applicable borrowing costs,
professional fees and other costs directly attributable
to such properties incurred during the development
period. Net realisable value is determined by reference
to the sales proceeds of properties sold in the ordinary
course of business, less applicable estimated selling
expenses and other estimated costs to make the sale,
and the estimated costs to be incurred to completion or
by management estimates, based on prevailing market
conditions.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond the
normal operating cycle. On completion, the properties are
transferred to properties held for sale.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction price
determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”)
on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets with
cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured
at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the
business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows
and selling. Financial assets which are not held within
the aforementioned business models are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investrments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive
income when they meet the definition of equity under
HKAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not
held for trading. The classification is determined on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never
recycled to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of
the dividend can be measured reliably, except when
the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery
of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case,
such gains are recorded in other comprehensive income.
Equity investments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to impairment
assessment.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL
ASSETS (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected
to classify at fair value through other comprehensive
income. Dividends on equity investments classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are also
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or
loss when the right of payment has been established, it
is probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if
the economic characteristics and risks are not closely
related to the host; a separate instrument with the same
terms as the embedded derivative would meet the
definition of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not
measured at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded
derivatives are measured at fair value with changes in
fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change
in the terms of the contract that significantly modifies
the cash flows that would otherwise be required or a
reclassification of a financial asset out of the fair value
through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing
a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The
financial asset host together with the embedded derivative
is required to be classified in its entirety as a financial
asset at fair value through profit or loss.

24 FEEGHRZIBME w0

R# R 2w E (s

BEE (8)

N FEINERRIEZR PEEZ S/
BE
BATEINEMANIBEFEIE S E
ERATFERMBEAKRRATIE mMA
FEEFHFENEERAER -

It 3B Bl B FE AN S [ 4 1S A A 3 0 4
B FESIRR MR E AL 2 E WA R I
EITHOBENITETARERKRE - D8
BELAFEIGEENBRTREEZ S/
BEMNEDRIRER AR R E
P B AE 8 ) A8 75 ) 2 AT BE A IR AR R 1B
ARE B EtERTNEBRRA
FER R EAMA -

ERACSERABENRIFCHIER
BRNNITETAAGEIBIETE
B A B R R e AR AR R AT
ATEHERGRNEBTAEGNAITE
TEANER HRGAHOLIFRAFE
SPABmEE RZTETRARTIES
WA AEREBITE T EINER - B ARADT
ETEBRRFEAE BRAFEEIN
BREABR-EEANGEREREHE
HEGRERLBTANEMTRER
HERDBRBEAFEFARZERD
TREEEN OB HMBARE T
TTEH G-

RABRSERMEETBNESAONDT
ETEADHIFR - 2REETRER
BRAXTETARERIERRAFE
SIRENEGETRECEMEE -

1248



Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2021

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

LR & K
Year ended 31 March 2021 EZE_-Z_—F=ZHA=+—HIFE
2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

130

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s
consolidated statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing
involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the
associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects
the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required
to repay.

24 FEEFHHRZIBME w0

&k B e

ETIERT  #EARR ERER (BI5E
AEBHGAEPBRRKRTHR) EBE
E 2 (WEE) - BReREEZ &0
g—ABELEREE . 8D

. TERAEAS
L 3E

SIMERE 2N E

e AFAEECRERHAIEREEMSE
EmE R FARE [BF | 2B
EEE NEEM M E = HBE A
BBz RERE: jI( AEEE
EREE BRI DR &E R

% (o )Zﬁ’glﬂﬁfﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬂﬁ BE
ZBRE D B KRB EE R
BE2E %‘JTE”

HWARBECERAAENEEMFSRES
MEZENKCIILEF 2 H\Hﬁ%
HERRERBEEMBE 2RR

BARREZIRE - 1h$§%ﬁ%ﬁ%$q§§
TMERE B E 2 BARE D Rk K O 3 -
TMEEREE CHIHE A AKERR
AEERB2HEBEEEERZEE
BE -HUBERT AEBETERBER
B DEBECEENBERENRAR
RSB O RE 2 R H M B E 2 BEEE

=
==

NEHEEREEEELERIEAFES
BREDUZBEE, REEEHEASEE
FAEEZREHELRIME ZRE
HiTEo



ERPEMERERAT | 2021F R

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (‘ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair
value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the
difference between the contractual cash flows due in
accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the
timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical
and forward-looking information.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the
outstanding contractual amounts in full before taking into
account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A
financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not credit-impaired
financial assets and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired
at the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
(Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not
contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting
date. The Group has established a provision matrix that
is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities of the Group are classified, at initial
recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables, as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables,
net of directly attributable transaction costs.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in the statement of profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate
amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate.
The effective interest rate amortisation is included in the
statement of profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: () the
ECL allowance determined in accordance with the policy
as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i) the
amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL
LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of
a new liability, and the difference between the respective
carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as
interest rate swaps, to hedge its interest rate risk. Such
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the statement of profit or
loss.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished
goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value
is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value on an individual property basis.
Cost includes all development expenditure, applicable
borrowing costs and other direct costs attributable to
such properties. Net realisable value is determined with
reference to the sales proceeds of properties sold in the
ordinary course of business, less applicable estimated
selling expenses and other estimated costs to make the
sale or by management estimates, based on prevailing
market conditions.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group’s cash management.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
PROVISIONS

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in the statement of
profit or loss.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the jurisdictions/
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
INCOME TAX (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets
are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and
are recognised to the extent that it has become probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or
part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and
assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will
be received and all attaching conditions will be complied
with. When the grant relates to an expense item, it
is recognised as income on a systematic basis over
the periods that the costs, for which it is intended to
compensate, are expensed. When the grant relates to
an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred income
account and is released to the statement of profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the
relevant asset or deducted from the carrying amount of
the asset and released to the statement of profit or loss
by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer. The
variable consideration is estimated at contract inception
and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

()

(i)

(ii)

()

v)

(v

Restaurant operations

Revenue from restaurant operations is recognised
at the point in time when/as control of the asset
(a promised good or service) is transferred to the
customer.

Bakery operations

Revenue from the bakery operations is recognised
at a point in time when/as control of the asset (a
promised good or service) is transferred to the
customer.

Sale of food products

Revenue from the sale of food products is
recognised at a point in time when/as control of the
asset (a promised good or service) is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the food
products.

Hotel operations

Revenue from hotel operations is recognised over
time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligations,
as the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Property management services

Revenue from property management services is
recognised over the scheduled period on a straight-
line basis because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group.

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of completed properties is
recognised at a point in time when the customer
obtains the control of the completed properties,
being the point when the legal title of the completed
property is passed to the customer and the
collection of the consideration is probable.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(vii)  Property agency services
Commission income from property agency services
is recognised at a point in time when the services
are rendered which is generally the time when the
transacting parties first come into an agreement.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are earned.

OTHER INCOME

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter
period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of
the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from
a customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme for the
purpose of providing incentives and/or rewards to eligible
participants (including the Company’s directors and
other employees of the Group, any consultant, advisor
or agent engaged by or business/joint venture partners
of any member of the Group) who render services and/
or contribute to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants receive remuneration in the form of
share-based payments, whereby eligible participants
render services as consideration for equity instruments
(“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
for grants after 7 November 2002 is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are
granted. The cost of equity-settled transactions with non-
employees is measured by reference to the fair value of
the services received at the date they are received. Where
the market information for the services provided by non-
employees cannot be reliably determined, the fair value of
the share options granted at the date when the services
are received is applied as a surrogate measure. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial
model, further details of which are given in note 34 to the
financial statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period in which the
performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled.
The cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled
transactions at the end of each reporting period until the
vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting period
has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge
or credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period
represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

144

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not
taken into account when determining the grant date fair
value of awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being
met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate of
the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest.
Market performance conditions are reflected within the
grant date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-vesting
conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and
lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there
are also service and/or performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-
market performance and/or service conditions have
not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of whether
the market or non-vesting condition is satisfied, provided
that all other performance and/or service conditions are
satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified,
as a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms
had not been modified, if the original terms of the award
are met. In addition, an expense is recognised for any
modification that increases the total fair value of the
share-based payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the
employee as measured at the date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated
as if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any
expense not yet recognised for the award is recognised
immediately. This includes any award where non-vesting
conditions within the control of either the Group or
the employee are not met. However, if a new award is
substituted for the cancelled award, and is designated
as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the
previous paragraph.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (Continued)

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings
per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit
or loss as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group
in an independently administered fund. The Group’s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees when
contributed into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in central pension schemes (the “CP Schemes”)
operated by the respective local municipal governments.
These subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their covered payroll expenses to the CP
Schemes to fund their benefits. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the CP Schemes is to pay the
ongoing required contributions under the CP Schemes.
Contributions under the CP Schemes are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the CP Schemes.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. Investment income
earned on the temporary investment of specific
borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying assets
is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which
they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and
other costs that an entity incurs in connection with the
borrowing of funds.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional
currency and items included in the financial statements
of each entity are measured using that functional
currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by
the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end
of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement
or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions.
Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the
date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at
fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the gain
or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group determines
the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries
and associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong
dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the assets
and liabilities of these entities are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at the end
of the reporting period and their statements of profit or
loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange
differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in a separate component of
equity. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular
foreign operation is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements
requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of
contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions
and estimates could result in outcomes that could require
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies, management has made the following
judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts
recognised in the financial statements:

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined,
based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of
the arrangements, such as the lease term not constituting
a major part of the economic life of the property and
the present value of the minimum lease payments not
amounting to substantially all the fair value of the property,
that it retains substantially all the significant risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of these properties
which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

JUDGEMENTS (Continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease
term of contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include
extension options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to
renew the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise the
renewal. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control and
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option
to renew or to terminate the lease (e.g., construction of
significant leasehold improvements).

Corporate income tax (“CIT”)

The Group is subject to CIT in the PRC. As a result of
the fact that certain matters relating to CIT have not been
confirmed/determined by the relevant tax authorities,
objective estimates and judgements based on currently
enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies,
and interpretations and practices in respect thereof are
required in determining the provision for income taxes to
be made. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts originally recorded, the
differences will have an impact on the income tax and tax
provisions in the period in which the differences realise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.

Estimates for net realisable values of properties
under development and properties held for sale

The Group assesses the carrying amounts of properties
under development and properties held for sale according
to whether their net realisable values are lower than
their costs, with their net realisable values based on
the realisability of these properties taking into account,
inter alia, management’s estimates of the expected
selling price based on prevailing market conditions,
less applicable estimated selling expenses and other
estimated costs to make the sale, and the estimated
costs to be incurred to completion. As at 31 March
2021, the carrying amounts of the Group’s properties
under development and properties held for sale were
approximately HK$313,607,000 (2020: HK$286,440,000)
and HK$469,401,000 (2020: HK$439,923,000),
respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at
least on an annual basis. This requires an estimation
of the higher of value in use and fair value less costs
of disposal of the cash-generating units to which the
goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future
cash flows from the cash-generating units and also to
choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 March 2021 was approximately
HK$67,703,000 (2020: HK$76,451,000). Further details
are given in note 16 to the financial statements.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties
The Group engaged a firm of independent professionally
qualified valuers to perform the valuations of the

investment properties of the Group at the end of the
reporting period.

The valuation of investment properties involves significant
estimations and assumptions, including, among others,
the estimated rental values and capitalisation rates for the
income capitalisation approach and the estimated market
price for the direct comparison approach.

The carrying amount of investment properties of
the Group as at 31 March 2021 was approximately
HK$2,515,637,000 (2020: HK$1,982,167,000). Further
details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement, are given in note 14 to the financial
statements.

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to LAT in the PRC. The provision for
LAT is based on management’s estimates and according
to their understanding of the requirements of certain
PRC tax laws and regulations, and interpretations and
practices in respect thereof. The actual LAT liabilities are
subject to the determination by the relevant tax authorities
upon the completion of the relevant property development
projects. As the relevant tax authorities have not yet
finalised their LAT assessments for certain property
development projects of the Group, the final outcome
could be different from the amounts that were initially
recorded.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than
goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period.
Non-financial assets with finite useful lives are tested for
impairment when there are indicators that the carrying
amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher
of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use.
The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal
is based on, inter alia, available data from binding sales
transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar
assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations
are undertaken, management must estimate the expected
future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit
and choose a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value of those cash flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilised. Significant management judgement is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can
be recognised, based upon the likely timing and level of
future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Recognition and allocation of construction costs
on properties under development

Development costs of properties are recorded as
properties under development during the construction
stage and will be transferred to properties held for sale
upon completion. An apportionment of these costs will
be recognised in the statement of profit or loss upon the
recognition of the sale of completed properties. Before the
final settlement of the development costs and other costs
relating to the sale of the completed properties, these
costs are accrued by the Group based on management’s
best estimates.

When developing properties, the Group may divide the
development projects into phases. Specific costs directly
related to the development of a phase are recorded as the
costs of such phase. Costs that are common to phases
are generally allocated to individual phases based on the
estimated saleable area of the entire project.

Where the final settlement of costs and the related
cost allocation is different from the initial estimates, any
increase or decrease in the development costs and other
costs would affect the profit or loss in future years.

Provision for expected credit losses on financial
assets at amortised cost

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables. The provision rates are based on days
past due for groupings of various customer segments that
have similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s
historical observed default rates. The Group will calibrate
the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information. At each reporting date,
the historical observed default rates are updated and
changes in the forward-looking estimates are analysed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENTS AND ESTIMATES

(Continued)
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on financial
assets at amortised cost (Continued)

The assessment of the correlation among historical
observed default rates, forecast economic conditions
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs
is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also
not be representative of a customer’s actual default in the
future.

The Group uses the general approach to calculate ECLs
on financial assets at amortised cost other than trade
receivables, which are determined with reference to,
inter alia, the estimation of the amount and timing of
future cash flows and collateral values when determining
impairment losses and the assessment of a significant
increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a
number of factors, change in which can result in different
levels of allowances.

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing
rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate
implicit in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental
borrowing rate (“IBR”) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR
is the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to
borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to
the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment.
The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would have
to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not
enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease.
The Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs
(such as market interest rates) when available and is
required to make certain entity-specific estimates.
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OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and
has two reportable operating segments as follows:

(@ the restaurant, food and hotel segment which
engages in the operations of hotel, restaurant and
food businesses; and

(b)  the property investment and development segment
which comprises the development and sale of
properties and the leasing of residential, commercial
and industrial properties.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s
operating segments separately for the purpose of making
decisions about resource allocation and performance
assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based
on reportable segment profit, which is a measure of
adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before tax
is measured consistently with the Group’s profit before
tax except that bank interest income, unallocated other
income and gains, net, finance costs as well as corporate
and unallocated expenses are excluded from such
measurement.

Intersegment sales and transfers are mainly transacted
with reference to the selling prices used for sales made to
third parties or at the agreed prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021

4. BEHBER (@)

BE-Z-_-Ff=A=1+t—BHLHEE

Property
Restaurant, investment
food and
and hotel development Total
28 NERE
BRRERE RERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T THT TET
Segment revenue (note 5) DI A (HEE5)
Revenue from external customers RENFER 2 BA 705,681 90,345 796,026
Intersegment revenue DERE 2 WA 648 5412 6,060
706,329 95,757 802,086
Reconciliation: A -
Elimination of intersegment revenue WisE B2 A (6,060)
Total revenue BIA 796,026
Segment results FHEE 105,049 100,801 205,850
Reconciliation: 8D -
Bank interest income H|ITH B HA 3,802
Unallocated other income and gains, net A 7 it E it I A F U 25 -
3 47,055
Corporate and unallocated expenses TERRAEX (30,256)
Finance costs B R (59,390)
Profit before tax BB A4 Al 167,061
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OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BE»HER (90
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2021 (Continued) BE-_Z-_—F=ZA=1+—HILEE
(&)
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and
and hotel development Total
38 NERE
RRRERE REE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TER TER TER
Other segment information HivpHER:
Changes in fair value of investment REME 2 ATE
properties, net 28 5% - 121,886 121,886
Share of losses of associates iy AN - (59,692) (59,692)
Other interest income ‘rtﬁ ﬂ sIA
- segment -*‘B - 17 17
- unallocated ) 15,596
15,613
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of B SRS RE
trade receivables, net (RERE) F8 12 (2,088) (2,076)
Impairment of other receivables, net Hb KR FRE  F58 - 11,174 11,174
Unwinding of discount on receivables R IE 2 TR ER D (13,373)
Depreciation of property, plant and NE BERSEITE
equipment
- segment ‘B 58,086 9,511 67,597
- unallocated ﬂi 1,671
69,268
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEECHE 60,252 2,737 62,989
Capital expenditure §$Eﬁ§
- segment *B 32,984 46,459 79,443
- unallocated ﬂi 1,241
80,684*
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEPHER (9
INFORMATION (Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2020 BE-_Z-_TF-A=+—HItFE
Property
Restaurant, investment
food and
and hotel developme\nt Total
2R MERE i
R KBS RER @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FTAET FTAET
Segment revenue (note 5) DEUWA (HHEES5)
Revenue from external customers REMBEP ZBA 768,403 262,667 1,031,070
Intersegment revenue AEEZHA 1,121 9,686 10,807
769,524 272,353 1,041,877
Reconciliation: A -
Elimination of intersegment revenue WiE o EE 2 WA (10,807)
Total revenue BRA 1,031,070
Segment results DWEE 22,634 137,731 160,365
Reconciliation: Tl
Bank interest income |ITH B HA 4,319
Unallocated other income and gains, net KD B E U4 A B Uzs -
3 20,852
Corporate and unallocated expenses CERKRDES (39,702)
Finance costs BBk (77,259)

Profit before tax B 150 A1 4 7 68,575
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4. BEZHER @)

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (Continued)

Year ended 31 March 2020 (Continued)

BE-_Z-_ZF=A=1+—HILEE

(%)

Property
Restaurant, investment
food and
and hotel development Total
2% MERE
R RBE RERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
Other segment information HitrpHER:
Changes in fair value of investment REME 2 A THE
properties, net 28 38 - 48,846 48,846
Share of losses of associates JEhE & A RER - (71,804) (71,804)
Other interest income ﬂ’r&ﬂ A
- segment *B - 161 161
- unallocated ﬂi 10,328
10,489
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of EKE SRR ZRE
trade receivables, net (RERE) FE 5,422 (802) 4,620
Reversal of impairment of BB H b B R SR E -
other receivables, net /%‘%E
- segment *B - (26,204) (26,204)
- unallocated ﬂi (3,397)
Recovery of other receivables written off A2 Eiﬁ 2 E A R
- unallocated XD (2,490)
(32,091)
Unwinding of discount on receivables AR 2 R ERE
- unallocated -KHl (19,112)
Impairment of right-of-use assets FREEERE 10,544 - 10,544
Depreciation of property, plant and NE BERSEITE
equipment
- segment *B 61,619 6,514 68,133
- unallocated ﬂi 1,640
69,773
Depreciation of right-of-use assets TREEEZNE 76,708 782 77,490
Capital expenditure §$5ﬁ3‘i
- segment "B 57,695 81,165 138,860
- unallocated ﬂi 60
138,920*

* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property,
plant and equipment and investment properties, excluding
assets from the acquisition of subsidiaries.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEHBER (@)
INFORMATION (Continued)
GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

(a) Revenue from external customers

18 & R
(@) KEMNBEFZWA

2021 2020

—E-—F —ECEF

HK$’000 HK$'000

THERT FHET

Hong Kong BB 262,602 387,321
Mainland China Hh B K B 533,424 643,749
796,026 1,031,070

The revenue information above is based on the
locations of the customers.

(b) Non-current assets

BRI AERTIRIER P IE 2

& 1 E e

(b) Jein®h & E

2021 2020

—E-— —EBECEF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FET

Hong Kong Fioe 841,527 940,425
Mainland China B K 3,789,207 3,434,695
4,630,734 4,375,120

The non-current asset information above is based
on the locations of the assets and excludes financial
instruments and deferred tax assets.

HitIEREEEERTIRIEEERR
Ezp@mER T EEeRIAR

EXETHRIBEE
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G4 M & W

Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ=-F-—F=H=+—HIFF&E

OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BEFBER w0
INFORMATION (Continued)

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR AFRFEEPZEHR
CUSTOMERS

No revenue from any single external customer accounted BHE_T-_—F=A=+—HLEFE"
for 10% or more of the Group’s total revenue for the year WERGEME—IINFREE 2 WAMER
ended 31 March 2021. EEBRUZ10% A E o

Revenue of approximately HK$172,218,000 was derived BE_Z-_ZTF=-A=+—HULEFE"
from the sale of certain properties under development by #9172,218,0008 T AR B ME =T H
the property investment and development segment to an EMERERERDENERPYE-

external third party during the year ended 31 March 2020.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H e A Kok 2
GAINS
REVENUE A
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WADHIAT :
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Revenue from contracts with KEEFEHZHA
customers
Income from restaurant, BECBRAMBIEEERA
food and hotel businesses 705,681 768,403
Proceeds from the sale of properties, 5 & ¥ % F715 28
property management service MEERRBBA KR
income and commission income Be WA 4,855 180,045
710,536 948,448
Revenue from other sources K8 E KR WA
Gross rental income HeWAEBE 85,490 82,622
796,026 1,031,070
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #BZ=-F=—F=HA=+—HI FE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H e A Rl % a0
GAINS (Continued)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KBEFAHZRA
CUSTOMERS
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WA EER
For the year ended 31 March 2021 BE_FE_—HF=F=+—HI
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
B8 BRR NERER
Segments BIE BR @t
iR HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
TER TER TER
Types of goods or services ERTREESR
Restaurant operations BELE 318,675 - 318,675
Bakery operations HEREE 103,146 = 103,146
Sale of food products RmiEE 260,231 - 260,231
Hotel operations G 23,629 - 23,629
Property management services MEEBE RS - 1,167 1,167
Sale of properties MEHE - 3,688 3,688
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERF A4 2 I
customers 705,681 4,855 710,536
Geographical markets WETS
Hong Kong N 250,233 108 250,341
Mainland China L A 455,448 4,747 460,195
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REZF A4 Z I
customers 705,681 4,855 710,536
Timing of revenue recognition WA RS2 B5 5
At a point in time RE—E R 682,052 3,688 685,740
Over time B8 B ] 23,629 1,167 24,796

Total revenue from contracts with ~ REEFP AKX 2 B A
customers 705,681 4,855 710,536
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Notes to Consolidated Fi}lancial Statemenfs
G4 M & W

Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ=-F-—F=H=+—HIFF&E

5. WA~ H Ak A Kk s

KBEFALHZWA (8)
i WAZEZR )

BE_FE_FF=H=1—HIF

E
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
R MERER
Segments BE R @t
ARl HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET AT
Types of goods or services ERSREESR
Restaurant operations EERE 389,445 - 389,445
Bakery operations M ELE 111,924 - 111,924
Sale of food products REHE 229,329 = 229,329
Hotel operations BELE 37,705 - 37,705
Property management services MEE R R - 1,062 1,062
Sale of properties MEHE - 178,792 178,792
Property agency services — MERE RS-
commission income EEALUN - 191 191
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA K 2 @Y
customers 768,403 180,045 948,448
Geographical markets WETS
Hong Kong e 370,397 4,341 374,738
Mainland China R A 398,006 175,704 573,710
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBRFAK 2 BUA
customers 768,403 180,045 948,448
Timing of revenue recognition W AR EH
At a point in time RE—BE 730,698 178,083 909,681
Over time B8 B 37,705 1,062 38,767
Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFA K 2 BUA
customers 768,403 180,045 948,448

a3
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HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2021 BHZ=-F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. WA~ H b A Kok & s
GAINS (Continued)
REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH KEZEFEHZKA (50
CUSTOMERS (Continued)
(i) Disaggregated revenue information i) WAZEEHR (5
(Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue TXHINKERFELHZWAESY
from contracts with customers to the amounts HMERHEZ SRR

disclosed in the segment information:

For the year ended 31 March 2021 BEr-—E-——fF=/F=+—HI
FE
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
28 -BER MERER
Segments BIE BE @t
28 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$°000
TER TER TER
Revenue from contracts with ~ REEFAHNZKA
customers
External customers IR 705,681 4,855 710,536
Intersegment revenue DEEYA 648 - 648

706,329 4,855 711,184
Intersegment adjustments and 7 ER AR B 85
eliminations (648) - (643)

Total revenue from contracts with ~ RERFP AL 2 WA\ #E%
customers 705,681 4,855 710,536
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE - T - —4#=

9. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(i) Disaggregated revenue information

b 5 T ARk

A=+—HIFE

5. WA~ H e A Rk s s

KEHEFAHZRA (80

(i) WAZEAH 5

(Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2020 e —F - FTF=—H=+—HIF
FZF
Property
investment
Restaurant, and
food and hotel development Total
ZH-RM MERER
Segments BE R @t
2 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET AT
Revenue from contracts with ~ KEEFAAZKA
customers
External customers SMBEP 768,403 180,045 048,448
Intersegment revenue SEEBA 1,121 = 1,121
769,524 180,045 949,569
Intersegment adjustments and 7 ER AR R8s
eliminations (1,121) - (1,121)
Total revenue from contracts with ~ REBEF ANz WA B
customers 768,403 180,045 948,448
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HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2021 BHZ=-F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Disaggregated revenue information
(Continued)

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of
the reporting period.

o.

oA~ Bl A R g s

KEEFEHZHA )

(i) WAZEEH 5

TRETNARE BREEZT AR
BERVIZENABZBMATHE-

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Revenue recognised that was st AR RE#VI 2
included in contract liabilities at A#I BB
the beginning of the reporting BRI A :
period:
Restaurant, food and hotel ZH-RMNMBE 11,694 10,328
Property investment and MERERER
development 9,286 6,991
20,980 17,319

Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance
obligations is summarised below:

Restaurant operations

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
at the point in time when/as goods or services are
transferred/provided to a customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally due at the point the
customer purchases/obtains control of the promised
goods or services.

(i) J&# AT
B

EARERBRNEE BRI
T

BR&E
BRHET RN ERIREERR
HTPEFRER -TFPNBE,
1S P EE & an IR TS 2 4% Il R —
BB R HER-
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ=-F-—F=H=+—HIFF&E

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND 5. W A~ H A A Bk g (s

GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH
CUSTOMERS (Continued)

KHEFAEHZHA )

(i) Performance obligations (continued) (i) & EAT 5
Bakery operations A 61 JEAE &

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
at the point in time when/as goods or services are
transferred/provided to a customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally due at the point the
customer purchases/obtains control of the promised
goods or services.

Sale of food products

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
upon delivery of the products to the customers
and payment is generally due within 30 to 90 days,
extending to a longer period for major customers,

BROET RN ERIREEET
BEPEER -FTPNBE IS
A B o SRS 2 A IR — AR 2R
XN HEE -

R &

BHEE—MRRARE R ERE
ER - — MR E B1%30E90H
AR (FERFEEREER
BR) - MEMRFPHETRMBRIN H

from the date of delivery, except for new customers BEHEELNK
or certain food products, where payment in advance

is normally required.

Hotel operations B EAE &

The performance obligation is generally satisfied
over time as services are provided and payment
is generally due when the services have been
rendered.

Property management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered. Property management service
contracts are for periods of one to eight years and
payment in advance is normally required.

B AV B AE— MR ER L B 7% s BB B ]
SZRK TR — RN B SR AR RS B
%q o

VEEEIRFE
BHORERRUEREREREEZ
Ko-MEBEERRBENSH—F=
NF LBREFESRMAR




Carrianna Group Holdings Company Limited | Annual Report 2021

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z_—%

& M W

——FZAZ+—HULFE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND

168

GAINS (Continued)

REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH

CUSTOMERS (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations (continued)

5. WA~ H bt A RS (s
KEEFAHZWA (8)

(i) J& & = (80

Sale of properties

In respect of the sale of completed properties, the
performance obligation is satisfied at a point in
time when the legal title of the completed property
is obtained by the customer. Payment of the
transaction price is generally made in accordance
with the terms of the respective sale and purchase
agreements.

Property agency services

The performance obligation is satisfied when the
services have been rendered and payment is
generally due within 30 days from the agreement
date.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

MERTYEZHEMS

BHEME

REFPRBERTYME L) iiﬁﬁﬁ
BEEHEN RXHER RS

REEEHZSELZ

Y (€12 R I5

figRR M S A o

BB ERRRERBEEK - (5
— ARt B BAAEET30 B MBI HS -

Sl e A B Wi 2
E A R AT -

2021 2020
—E-—fF —E-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Bank interest income SRITF B UL A 3,802 4,319
Investment interest income BB A 11,263 13,179
Other interest income HuF) 208 A 15,613 10,489
Changes in fair value of investment $3& ¥ 2 N\ F(HE &) - F5a
properties, net 121,886 48,846
Dividend income from equity EEBIRAFTEYELER
investments designated =
at fair value through other % \ﬁﬂfggﬁ\q: %%Z
comprehensive income EmiXE 4,169 6,948
Dividend income from financial BAFESNERREBSPE
assets at fair value through PN S
profit or loss BZ2RAEZREHA 2,145 1,918
Fair value gain on financial assets %\ F(E 5|88 & A 1B 25
at fair value through profit or loss EEYSRMEEY ATME
Y zs 10,803 -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HeE—REHB AR Z W 3,983 422
Gain on lease modification BEEITZ W% 8,451 349
Unwinding of discount on FEU SR IE 2 IR (B B (O]
receivables 13,373 19,112
Government subsidies* BT #8 B 29,204 3,800
Others Hi 11,579 6,939
236,271 116,321

Government subsidies mainly represent subsidies received in *
connection with the support from the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and
“Employment Support Scheme” of the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region. There are no unfulfilled

conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies.

TR 476 B O 22 MR B 2 B 5 Bl 7T R R RS
[TRMERES I R RAEFE] FEH
BFERE B AR RARERE MR
B R T REE R
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

PROFIT BEFORE TAX 6. Fx Bt B i Al
The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REBBRBAINAF DG, (FFA) AT
(crediting): I8
2021 2020
—R_-—-F —E-%F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B sE TR FEL
Government subsidies IS #60 B) (29,204) (3,800)
Cost of inventories sold and services B EFE KB RHRB 2
provided* . 429,547 553,412
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ #1% R &R B2 ITE
equipment 13 69,268 69,773
Depreciation of right-of-use assets  FFEEE 2 & 15(a) 62,989 77,490
Impairment of right-of-use assets*  {FEAEEE 2 E" 15(a) - 18,564
Gain on lease modification HEE s 15(c) (8,451) (349)
Lease payments not included in the Kt A EBEFEZ
measurement of lease liabilities MER 15(c) 880 8,130
Variable lease payments not included Kzt ATAE B EEH
in the measurement of lease AR ERIA
liabilities 15(c) 12 74
Auditor’s remuneration 1% 21 B 25 B 4,135 4,119
Employee benefit expense (excluding 1& & #& F|f 5z
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (ZEZFHM (F5Es)
BRAN)
Wages, salaries and bonuses TE& Hehici 146,994 192,335
Equity-settled share option IRERGEE
expense BIRERAY 227 377
Pension scheme contributions RKEEEIHK
(defined contribution schemes) (REH-ZEE) 6,697 9,072
153,918 201,784
Foreign exchange differences, net  JMNEZ=%EE - F58 (6,109) 15,786
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) WA N &8 Z5E
of CRE#ED)
— trade receivables, net —-EWREZER ¥R 23 (2,076) 4,620
— other receivables, net —HEUERR F5 24 11,174 (29,601)
Recovery of other receivables written U [a] 2 71 55 7 H b JE Y BE 3
off - (2,490)
Direct operating expenses (including BBV v REMEEL v H
repairs and maintenance) arising ZEES N
from rental-earning investment (BREEBERRE)
properties 589 670
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #BZ=-F=—F=HA=+—HI FE

6. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6. Fx B i Al s
2021 2020
—B-—-F —TCTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B sx FEx BT
Changes in fair value of investment & WE A FEEE -
properties, net HE 14 (121,886) (48,846)
Fair value losses/(gains), net: NEEEER/ (WE)
R
Financial assets at fair value BAFEYE RN ERR
through profit or loss BREZEREE (10,803) 29,738
Derivative instruments TETE
— transactions not qualifying as —NEREHRERZR
hedges > - 9
Bank interest income ﬁETT% IBHA (3,802) (4,319
Investment interest income BAMBBA (11,263) (13,179)
Other interest income f; f‘@g f ”Z\@ . (15,613) (10,489)
Dividend income from equit E'\i RIED R R
SO R E 2 EHR AR
investments designate BB SR E
at fair value through other
comprehensive income N (4,169) (6,948)
Dividend income from financial f QE@W &R .
tair value throuah orof REDPREZ
assets at fair value through profit SERBETREKA
or loss B (2,145) (1,918)
LLoss on disposal/write-off of items = R EIES e P
"’ | KBEA AR 3R
of property, plant and equipment,
net B 1,457 8,084
Impairment of goodwill* ‘F’;ﬁ%ﬁ@* 16 8,748 -
Release of deferred income” ;ﬁf@lﬁ)\%ﬂﬁﬁ (1,355) (35,759)
Unwinding of discount on U RIE 2 R AR
receivables (13,373) (19,112)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—FRBRAR W& 38 (3,983) (422)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries ~ BUE s B A 8 2 18 38 - 919
# Inclusive of an amount of HK$117,846,000 (2020: # BESEACDEFREROIEHRE Y
HK$152,717,000) classified under cost of inventories sold X AN117,846,000/8 7T (— 2 - Z4F
and services provided. 152,717,000 70) 2 &5 °
* The impairment of right-of-use assets and goodwill are - CRESEREEY RAESTALSLE
included in “Other expenses, net” in the consolidated St Fﬁﬁﬁ L g 2 | s
statement of profit or loss. - o e
A ; ; - " BIEW AR AfreBak [BEE&F
The release of deferred income is classified under cost of =R O s HE?%Z& TR
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

FINANCE COSTS B A

An analysis of finance costs is as follows: HBRADHIAT :
2021 2020
—B—F —T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Interest on bank borrowings RITEEZFE 54,880 74,520
Interest on lease liabilities HEAGBZME 4,510 6,795
Less: Interest capitalised B AR R - (4,056)
59,390 77,259

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing
Rules”), section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Hong Kong
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

EHM 2

REEBMEXZMERARES LT
BMAN(TETARA) BB RRRDE
383(1)(@) (b)) X MEREELT (HE
EENmER) RPIF2MREAFEE
=T

2021 2020

—E-—fF —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FBT FBT

Fees e 600 600

Other emoluments: E A<

Salaries and allowances e MoERL 8,219 9,067

Bonuses paid and payable* BT R ETEA - 1,922

Equity-settled share option expense AR 4 E 2 BERRER 2 639 356
Pension scheme contributions RIRFTEIE R

(defined contribution schemes) (REMH-RETE) 170 204

9,028 11,549

9,628 12,149

Certain executive directors of the Company were entitled
to bonus payments which were approved by the Group’s
remuneration committee with reference to the Group's
profit for the year ended 31 March 2020 and the individual
performance of the directors.

RRARETHRITESARIF ZIELAR
RAEEZHMEBESHAERZER
SEBE_ZT_TFE=-_A=+—HI
FEGMEEEEMARRMERE
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F_-—F=H=+—HIFE

8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. #HEMEL =)
(Continued)
(A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE A) BarFpiTES
DIRECTORS
The fees paid to independent non-executive AEEENBLIENITESHRESN
directors during the year were as follows: T
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
Fees Fees
we e
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT TET
Mr. Lo Ming Chi, Charles B4 B 0 4 A 200 200
Mr. Lo Man Kit, Sam B BEAE 200 200
Mr. Wong See King HEEREBEE 200 200
600 600
There were no other emoluments payable to the RNEE I B EAD R B FENITE
independent non-executive directors during the year ENFHH(ZZE_FF |) o

(2020: Nil).




Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

g6 Ea‘ B R M
Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE
8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION 8. #HEMEL m)
(Continued)
(B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND A B) BITEER —fEHITEF
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Salaries Bonuses Equity-settled Pension
and paid and  share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense  contributions  remuneration
¥a B4 UEHGE Bihs
RES KRR a8l e
e =31 AL Bx 3 5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTET TET TET TET TET
2021 :s:—E
Executive directors: WHES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung? SNELE - 1,439 - - 55 1,494
Mr. Ma Kai Yum SNREE - 2,164 - - 70 2,234
Mr. Leung Pak Yan* DEDIE - 1,616 - 101 9 1,726
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SB$EE - 588 - 101 18 707
Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen  BR/IEL & - 1,497 - 437 18 1,952
Mr. Liang Rui* P - 915 - - - 915
- 8,219 - 639 170 9,028
Salaries Bonuses  Equity-settled Pension
and paid and share option scheme Total
Fees allowances payable expense contributions remuneration
i B NEREE B
R &}Ei ZERE sl e
e 28 AL [ 1R M
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS’ 000 HK$'000
THT THT THET THET THT THT
2020 —E2-%
Executive directors: WoES:
Mr. Ma Kai Yum BNk = 2216 865 = 70 3,151
Mr. Ng Yan Kwong REREE - 2,144 480 - 57 2,681
Mr. Leung Pak Yan PEARE - 2,374 577 118 - 3,069
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John SB$EE - 601 - 118 18 737
Mr. Ng Sze Ping RERLE - 200 - - 6 206
Mr. Chan Francis Ping KuenA  BRIF#B ST 4N = 88 = 120 1 209
Sub-total N - 7,623 1,922 356 152 10,053
Non-executive director: FniTES:
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung ENBRE - 1,444 - - 52 1,496
= 9,067 1,922 356 204 11549
* Mr. Leung Pak Yan retired as an executive director * RERBFER_T_—F—A—
on 1 January 2021 and Mr. Liang Rui was appointed EI BENTESRRHFRER—
as an executive director on 2 January 2021, T - —F—-A-_HEZEAHT
-
" Mr. Chan Francis Ping Kuen was appointed as an 8 RNEAER T _FF=A—
executive director on 1 March 2020. B EZTARITES-
i Mr. Ma Kai Cheung was re-designated as an # 5 /1 5% A 102020612 10
executive director on 10 December 2020. ERATARNITES-
There was no arrangement under which a director FERNWESEEHRERREREE
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during AL HE

the year.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BHZ=-F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

9. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES’ 9.
REMUNERATION

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2020: four) directors, details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration
for the year of the remaining one (2020: one) non-director,

DA 5 # R B 2 #

<

RAFE A= EERENE (=
ToTF B ES AHMF BT
REXHFE BT —B(ZTE=TF:
—B)FEF FEBITBRABZESH

non-chief executive highest paid employee are as follows: EEZEHMFFBENT:
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Salaries e 1,421 1,346
Equity-settled share option expense  AREZ4EE 7 BRI X 26 54
1,447 1,400

The remuneration of the non-director, non-chief executive
highest paid employee for the year fell within the band of
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 (2020: HK$1,000,001 to
HK$1,500,000).

HER FEFBTHRABZESFHEES
R A 2 ¥ B & 51,000,001 T 2
1,500,000 TEHERN (Z T T F:

1,000,001 7t 1,500,000/ 7T ) °
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ=-F-—F=H=+—HIFF&E

10. INCOME TAX 10. Fi & %
Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate BEENEBEIEBFAREEBEE 2
of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable FTERFREMIZ16.5% (ZE T F:
profits arising in Hong Kong during the year, except for 16.5% ) M EFERE - EREEH
one subsidiary of the Group which is a qualifying entity —HMBARAFESHME LT T
under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The first AERER - %W B R FAE2,000,000
HK$2,000,000 (2020: HK$2,000,000) of assessable B (ZZFZF 4 :2,000,0007% 7T) &Y
profits of this subsidiary is taxed at 8.25% (2020: 8.25%) ERBF B E B825% (ZT=F
and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5% F:825%) HRTHERBAEREAR
(2020: 16.5%). Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland 16.5% (ZE=_FF:16.5%) - £BE R
China have been calculated at the relevant rates of tax B K Bk 1B 2 FERR B K 2 BRI 0 3%
prevailing in Mainland China in which the Group operates. PBIRRE 2 BRI TR R E
2021 2020
—B-—-F —ZT_FTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FET

Current — Hong Kong BNER— &%

Charge for the year REEFZH 848 838
Current — Mainland China BIVER — A B K B

Corporate income tax PEMFH 45,404 39,778

Land appreciation tax T IEE R 57 16,170

Overprovision in prior years BEFEBERE (20,323) (14,435)
Deferred (note 31) B (FMTEES1) 30,538 11,363
Total tax charge for the year REEHIBS LR 56,524 53,714
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z_—%

10. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit
before tax at the Hong Kong statutory rate to the tax

176

——FZAZ+—HULFE

10. i & 8 (m

BB BRER R EERAR R AR T
ZHRBRAXERERNRAEZREH

charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: SHEBRINR
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Profit before tax B 52 AT A 167,061 68,575
Tax at the Hong Kong statutory BREBEETE16.5%
tax rate of 16.5% (2020: 16.5%) —E-FTF:16.5%)
AAHEZHIE 27,565 11,315
Effect of higher tax rates FEE DS E A B 2
for specific provinces or enacted LIS =%
by local authorities 20,002 23,424
Adjustments in respect of current tax  Ft 1B E HifE ~
of previous periods EHAIAAE (20,323) (14,435)
Profits and losses attributable to FE(G B & A Blm F) & B 1B
associates 9,849 11,848
Income not subject to tax BARTUA (19,914) (29,298)
Expenses not deductible for tax T 34,263 32,978
Land appreciation tax T HpIE(E 50 16,170
Tax losses utilised from previous FABAHM
periods THIEE 18 (904) (14,963)
Tax losses not recognised RERNTHIAEE 5,936 16,675
Tax charge at the Group’s BRASEERH X
effective rate FEZFEL T 56,524 53,714

The share of tax credit attributable to associates

amounting to approximately HK$301,000 (2020:

HK$4,188,000) is included in “Share of profits and losses

of associates” in the consolidated statement of profit or

loss.

DIHEMRBERNR ZHIER R AL
301 ooo,mz(_*?_?E 4,188,000/

RAEaR [BEBE QAR

*'J&EE?TEJ Ae
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

56 M ok Mk
Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE
DIVIDEND 11. |k &
2021 2020
:g: - $ = 7 = E'E
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FERT FHT
Proposed final - HK3 cents (2020: AR H — SR L @IS
HK3 cents) per ordinary share (ZZZZ2F: 3811 47,141 37,713

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to
the approval of the Company’s shareholders at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amounts
is based on the profit for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent, and the weighted average
number of ordinary shares of 1,257,431,944 (2020:
1,257,087,536) in issue during the year.

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

12.

REE 2 2B AR B BFRNRBBRR
REVEABRZBRBFEARE L1 /ER
JTRIEE

B w5 kAN A
5 Mk & A

BREAZFNCEIREGT QR L @R
EREABEAFE N RFRADET
T AR 2 INFE 19 801,257,431,944 %
(ZZ T :1,257,087,536/K )51 & -

REBEE_ZE-—FR_T_FTF=
+— tEFIE@E%/%%Z
iR

D o AR

Tﬁ”ll@
ﬁ
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BHZ=-F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

12. EARNINGS PER SHARE 12. B 5] % 8 % BEH A O\ JE 4G

ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 5% & A g)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT
(Continued)
The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share ERERREERN DREA T SIER
are based on: =i
2021 2020
—EB=-—F —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Earnings ZF
Profit attributable to ordinary equity ~ ARt E SRR EAR KL #E
holders of the parent, used in the ARz &R aE)EERE
basic and diluted earnings per share  #5& A FE 15 % 7
calculations 81,004 14,123
Number of shares
ROEE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FTF

Shares i &

Weighted average number of ordinary FA T8 &I B A K # 58
shares in issue during the year used & F| 2 FRE 31T
in the basic and dilutive earnings per & & I N4 F 5 &

share calculations 1,257,431,944 | 1,257,087,536
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ=-F-—F=H=+—HIFF&E

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. WE-FBER&HE

EQUIPMENT
Furniture,
Hotel Landand  Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor Construction
properties buildings improvements  machinery  equipment vehicles in progress Total
HE BER &
BEENE IhREF  UEEE #E RERRHE EH  HEIR BE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT TR TR TER  TER TR TER
31 March 2021 “E--FZH=+-R
At 1 April 2020: RZZ-ZFMA-A:
Cost or valuation ERAEREE 358,687 429,661 215,183 92,054 108,451 25,884 10,918 1,240,838
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAE
impairment (123,227) (92,334) (134,372) (39,440) (87,640) (21,846) - (498,859)

Net carrying amount REFE 235,460 337,327 80,811 52,614 20,811 4,038 10,918 741,979
At 1 April 2020 RZEZTFMA-A 235,460 337,327 80,811 52,614 20,811 4,038 10,918 741,979
Additions RE - - 14,234 11,087 3,959 887 17,325 47,492
Transfers E - 8,461 - - - = (8,461) =
Depreciation provided during FRTEERE (Fiz6)

the year (note 6) (9,919) (10,264) (15,928) (21,050) (9,826) (2,281) - (69,268)
Disposals/write-off HE /T - - (1,732) (195) (809) 13 s (2,729)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—RKBAR

(note 38) (MizE3s) - - (1,869) (74) (38) - - (1,981)
Surplus on revaluation EHAR - 27,218 - - - - - 27,218
Transfer to investment properties  E A% EME (Ki14)

(note 14) - (40,621) - - - - - (40,621)
Exchange realignment EARE 19,639 24,644 4,264 3,079 965 227 1,223 54,041
At 31 March 2021, net of RZZ=Z—F

accumulated depreciation ZA=t+-8"

MR 2EE 245,180 346,765 79,780 45,461 15,062 2,884 21,005 756,137
At 31 March 2021: R-B-—%
=A=t+-8:
Cost or valuation ERAEXEE 389,111 441,290 236,621 108,168 114,364 27,513 21,005 1,338,072
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERAE
impairment (143,931) (94,525) (156,841) (62,707) (99,302) (24,629) - (581,935)
Net carrying amount REFE 245,180 346,765 79,780 45,461 15,062 2,884 21,005 756,137
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BHZ=-F - —F=H=+—HIFFE

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND 13. ¥ %~ Wk b5 B #% e (50
EQUIPMENT (Continued)
Furniture,
Hotel Land and Leasehold Plantand  fixtures and Motor ~ Construction
properties buildings  improvements machinery  equipment vehicles i progress Total
HE % R &l
BEENE  IHREF  NERE KR KERRAE B ERIR e

HK$000  HKS000  HKEO00D  HKS000  HKSO000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAR TAL TAR TAL TAR TAL TAR TAL

31 March 2020 “E-EFZA=+-H
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEMA—A:
Cost or valuation BRAESEE 383,493 331,320 213,508 79,005 116,480 25,688 118,697 1,268,371
Accumulated depreciation and ZETERAE
impairment (120,878) (80460)  (127,771) (25,201) (88,486) (21,109) - (463,905)
Net carrying amount FEFE 262,615 250,860 85,827 53,894 27,994 4579 118,697 804,466
At 1 April 2019 W=ZE-nEmA-A 262,615 250,860 85,827 53,804 27,994 4,579 118,697 804,466
Additions BE - - 18,621 18,031 7,267 1,119 16,552 61,590
Acquisition of a subsidiary WE-HHERF
(note 37) (Mizxar) - - 5,726 = 15 1 = 5,742
Transfers s - 119,385 - - - = (119,385) =
Depreciation provided during FRFERRE (Fi6)
the year (note 6) (10,446) (15,653) (17,227) (15,944) (9,140) (1,363) = (69,773)
Disposals/write-off HE /8 - (16) (7,519) (614) (4,300) (45) = (12,494)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—FKBAR
(note 38) (BisE38) - - (156) = (287) = = (443)
Exchange realignment ERAZ (16,709) (17,249) (4,461) (2,7593) (738) (253) (4,946) (47,109)
At 31 March 2020, net of R-ZE-TF
accumulated depreciation =R=+-8"
Bk EEIE 235,460 337,327 80,811 52,614 20,811 4,038 10,918 741,979
At 31 March 2020: RZZ=FF
ZA=+-A:
Cost or valuation ERAESREE 358,687 429,661 215,183 92,054 108,451 25,884 10,918 1,240,838
Accumulated depreciation and ZHMERRE
impairment (123,227) (92,334) (134372 (39,440) (87,640) (21,846) = (498,859)

Net carrying amount REEE 235,460 337,327 80,811 52,614 20,811 4,038 10,918 741,979
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13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND

EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Certain of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings were
revalued at 31 March 1995, by independent professionally
qualified valuers at open market value based on their
then existing use. Since 1995, no further valuation of the
Group’s leasehold land and buildings has been carried
out, as the Group has relied on the exemption, granted
under the transitional provisions as set out in paragraph
80AA of HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment, from
the requirement to carry out further revaluations of its
property, plant and equipment which were stated at
valuation at that time.

Had these leasehold land and buildings been carried at
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, their total carrying amount would have
been approximately HK$532,000 (2020: HK$634,000).

At 31 March 2021, certain of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment with a net carrying amount of
approximately HK$312,589,000 (2020: HK$174,788,000)
were pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted
to the Group (note 42).

13. % 5%~ W B K ak i (a0

BUBXRAERMEEMCRERRAN
B EERAATER - NWNEF=HA
—t—BEAKEETHELHRET
ETER-B-NANAFE ~A&EZHE
ETMETFUEBETE-—TER R
ARAKREFEREE ST ERIE6
SR - BE KR EB0AAR FTELZ
BRGXREZ B eHZENERIZMG
BIRZYE BERRBETE—F
EfZBRTE

WMz EHE T RIEF R LK AR
ST EREARERBEAR  E4K
M {EFE 49 A5532,0008 0 (ZE-_ZT4F:
634,000/ 7T ) °

R-TE-—F=A=+—8 A&£EE
T {E #9312,589,0008 T (—E - &
F:174,788,0008 L) 2 & T % - &
EREBEEER EAT-EBERS
FHRITEE 2 ER (KHiiF42)
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

14. k&YW ¥

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B = FET FH&T
Carrying amount at beginning of R E 2 BREE @ R4 1E
year, at valuation 1,982,167 1,822,580
Additions R 33,192 77,330
Transfers from HiEA
Owner-occupied property =PRI ES 13 40,621 =
Right-of-use assets FREEE 15 1,251 =
Properties held for sale BIELE WM 21 4,768 55,784
Prepayments TERFRIB 289,237 =
Net gain from fair value ANTERAEREEZ
adjustments Wies 558 6 121,886 48,846
Exchange realignment bE 2 42,515 (22,373)
Carrying amount at 31 March, at W=A=+—HZRAE
valuation ®Ri4E 2,515,637 1,982,167

The directors of the Company have determined that the
Group’s investment properties consist of three classes
of asset, i.e., residential, commercial and industrial
properties, based on the nature, characteristics and risks
of each property. The Group’s investment properties
were revalued on 31 March 2021 based on valuations
performed by Avista Valuation Advisory Limited (2020:
Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited), independent
professionally qualified valuers, at approximately
HK$2,515,637,000 (2020: HK$1,982,167,000). Each
year, the Group’s management decides to appoint
which external valuers to be responsible for the external
valuations of the Group’s investment properties.
Selection criteria include market knowledge, reputation,
independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group’s management has discussions
with the valuers on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed for
financial reporting. Certain investment properties are
leased to third parties under operating leases, further
summary details of which are included in note 15 to the
financial statements.

At 31 March 2021, the Group’s investment
properties with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$2,010,456,000 (2020: HK$1,518,759,000) were
pledged to secure certain banking facilities granted to the
Group (note 42).

Further particulars of the Group’s principal properties are
included on pages 260 to 265.
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AABEECRESYEZME - FiE
FRBRETAEBNEDELR=-—EEE
A (BMEE -EmERTEYSE)ERK-
RZB-_—F=A=+—H K&£EB>
REMERBERBYEELSERMEE
MY EAER (T F HEHE
ETEBERERA 7y‘”2ﬁﬁéﬁ
%49 /52,515,637,000/6 0 (ZE =&
1,982,167,000/8 7T ) ° tﬁr’mﬁlz
ERERERTINSGEMEBELAER
WEYE I EE - TUEEABIET
B BERE BUMRETHEISEE
ZE-AREBEEBERMEPRET
(ARG ERMA R EERER MEES
R-ETREVMENRKELHERTE
ZH E—THEFBEEHRNMERE
BizE15/A

RZE-_—F=ZA=+—H8 ' ~A&EEBK
H{E #1/452,010,456,000/8 0 ( ZE =&
% :1,518,759,0008 T) 2 IR EMERE
ERIF EALAEEERETRITEE
Z VR (BFsE42) -

AEEXENEZ2E-—THFBIARS
260F 2658 °
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. & W ¥ =)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY A fE 8 %
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRINTAEBREMEZ AT EFE
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: [

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2021 using
RZB--F=A=+—H
ERUTREETZAFETE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBTE EBEATEE EXTUEER
ZHE BAER BAER
(5-%) (5=8&) (B=8) @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TET AT
Hong Kong: BB
Commercial properties HENE - - 152,900 152,900
Industrial properties T¥M% - - 161,336 161,336
Residential properties FEME - - 25,000 25,000
Mainland China: B AR :
Commercial properties HENE - - 2,062,780 2,062,780
Industrial properties TEN%E - - 113,621 113,621
- - 2,515,637 2,515,637
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

14. £ &YW ¥ )
NEEE & 5)

Fair value measurement as at
31 March 2020 using
RZT-FTF=A=+—H
ERATEEETZ AT EAE

Quoted
prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERWS EATHEE EATIER
ZEfE BAE BAE
(5—#) (B=@) (B=#) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET THL THT TAET
Hong Kong: ENCE
Commercial properties HEME - - 154,200 154,200
Industrial properties I¥M%E - - 165,448 165,448
Residential properties TEME - - 13,700 13,700
Mainland China: AR -
Commercial properties BE3/ES - - 1,583,645 1,583,645
Industrial properties TI9% - - 65,174 65,174
- - 1,982,167 1,982,167

RER MEEENEME-REFE
B2 AFEFERTERE=RPEA
FBH (T _ZTF E) -

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2020: Nil).
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. & W ¥ =)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) NFE T8 o)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised BERE=ZRATFEEBRAZ A FER
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: EHER:
Hong Kong Mainland China
3 PEAKE
Commercial Industrial Residential  Commercial Industrial

properties properties properties properties properties
HENE IEUM% FENE BENE IEN%E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Tir THr Tir

Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 RZE-NENA-A
ZIREE 128,500 118,542 6,828 1,495,877 72,833
Additions NE 29,886 47 444 - - -
Transfers B - - 4,160 51,604 -
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adustments MEZHERZ AFEAR
recognised in profit or loss i/ (BR) 38 (4,186) (538) 2,712 53990 (3,132)
Exchange realignment EHAR - - - (17,846) 4,527)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 and W= -F4F
1 April 2020 ZA=+-RHk
—Z-T4NA-H
ZEEE 154,200 165,448 13,700 1,583,645 65,174
Additions RE = S S 33,192 -
Transfers B - - 4,768 289,287 41872
Net gain/(loss) from fair value adjustments REZHERZ A TFEFE
recognised in profit or loss Wi/ (BR)38 (1,300) 4112 6,532 121,109 (343)
Exchange realignment ERLAE - - - 35,597 6,918

Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 RZE=-F
=A=+-A
ZRER 162,900 161,336 25,000 2,062,780 113,621
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14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 14. B &Y ¥ (@)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued) 2P T8 % (s
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and TREMIEEYEGEER 2 (GERM
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: REBHAE:
Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range
fhE & i EXFIEERAE gE
2021 2020
ZB--F | ZZTC°TF
Hong Kong:
Bk
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$16,500 to | HK$16,500 to
o o (per square foof) HK$50,000 HK$51,000
EESES HEULEE fhatmiE (B FHER) 16,5008 1%F | 16500515
50,0007 7T 51,0008 7T
Industrial properties Direct comparison approach  Estimated market price HK$2,350 to HK$2,400 to
e o (per square foof) HK$3,400 HK$3,500
TEMZ HELEE fhatmiE (B FHER) 23508 E | 2400B1ZE
3,400 T 3,500 7T
Residential properties Direct comparison approach Estimated market price HK$7,000 to HK$7,000 to
L o er square foot) HK$11,100 HK$11,000
EEE =430 187 e (BEHER) T000BTE | 7,00047L3
11,100 1T 11,0007
Mainland China:
rh B :
Commercial properties Direct comparison approach  Estimated market price HK$24,318 to | HK$22,453 to
o o (per square metre) HK$86,358 HK$79,737
RS HELEE fharmiE (BFnK) UIMBBERE | 2245380 %
86,3588 7T 79,7378 T
Income capitalisation approach  Estimated rental value HK$36 to HK$49 to
i i (per square metre per month) HK$142 HK$164
WAERLA fhstBE (BTAAEA) 36ETLE 49ETLE
14287 16487
Capitalisation rate 8.5% 8.5%
BEAR{L®
Industrial properties Income capitalisation approach  Estimated rental value HK$16.8 HK$15.6
e . ) (per square metre per month) o o
I$0% WAERE fhEAE (BYHKER) 16838 156/ T
Capitalisation rate 7.0% 7.5%
BEARfL®

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated with reference to recent transactions for similar
properties in the proximity with adjustments for the
differences in transaction dates, building age, floor area,

etc. between the comparable properties and the subject

properties.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (Continued)

Under the income capitalisation approach, fair value is
estimated by taking into account the current rent passing
of the property interests and the reversionary potential of
the tenancy.

A significant increase/decrease in the estimated rental
value and the estimated market price per square foot/
square metre in isolation would result in a significant
increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment
properties. A significant increase/decrease in the
capitalisation rate in isolation would result in a significant
decrease/increase in the fair value of the investment
properties.

LEASES
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE

The Group has lease contracts for various leasehold
lands and properties used in its operations. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire the leased lands
from the owners with lease periods of 25 to 50 years,
and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms
of these land leases. Leases of properties generally have
lease terms between 1 and 35 years. Generally, the
Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the
leased assets outside the Group. There are several lease
contracts that include extension options, which are further
discussed below.

14.

15.

REW¥E )

AR E S )

BIBEBWABERIE REETEREZY
R CBAAESKERBEEZERE
R

st R T B (SF IR
K)EBA BRI WD B EBIRAY
$EAFEKREM D BALE
EEAEEN,HLBERRE DR
AFEABRD,/ M-

HE

AEEEBAMA
AEERREENZEEELHEY
XA EHEEN -ASECEAEL
— R AR ZEEEBEE 1 - 7 5
R25E50F MiIREZE L HEENF
O SRR HARE S A RKIE
HEVMENEEBENF1E3BF - —K
ME NEBTAIMAEEAIINATE
ERHHHEEEE-PEEREMNET
MEEHZFBERINAT -
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. 8 @)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) A 5 W AE R AR A (a0
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) HHEEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use rEEZEAEEEREERFA
assets and the movements during the year are as BEWT
follows:
Leasehold
land  Properties Total
HELH L/ES st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FHT FHT
As at 1 April 2019 RZZE—-NFHEA—AH 32,143 164,631 196,774
Additions during the year FRARE - 36,325 36,325
Addition as a result of RIS —E B A A
acquisition of a subsidiary & A0 ( ff5E37)
(note 37) 1,098 - 1,098
Remeasurement on lease ~ EFtEHEEF]
modifications - 5,837 5,837
Impairment (note 6) BAE (FizEe) - (18,564) (18,564)
Depreciation charge (note 6) #T& (H3E6) (799) (76,691) (77,490)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—fEH B R R
(note 38) (Ff+5E38) S (1,108) (1,108)
Exchange realignment IE 5 38 & (2,072) (3,445) (5,517)
As at 31 March 2020 and NZEZTF=H
1 April 2020 —+-AR-T-TF
mA—H 30,370 106,985 137,355
Additions during the year FARE = 34,011 34,011
Remeasurement on lease ~ EFHHEREEF]
modifications - 537 537
Termination of leases MEKIE - (1,749) (1,749)
Depreciation charge (note 6) #T& (Ff:56) (101) (62,888) (62,989)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—EH B R R
(note 38) (HI5E38) - (1,989 (1,989)
Transfer to investment #HAREYHE (ME14)
properties (note 14) (1,251) - (1,251)
Exchange realignment M H, 58 & 2,986 2,902 5,888
As at 31 March 2021 R_E-_—F
—A=+—H 32,004 77,809 109,813
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. fl E (%)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) AEBEERKMA (8)

(b) Lease liabilities (b)) ME&HE

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the

AEE A EE EREE RN

movements during the year are as follows: EJR U
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Lease Lease
liabilities liabilities
HESE HEARE
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET

Carrying amount at beginning ~ RAEF ¥ ZREE

of year 126,371 162,093
New leases MHEE 34,000 35,957
Remeasurement on lease EFTEREBE

modifications 537 5,837
Termination of leases WIEEE (1,930) (8,369)
Accretion of interest recognised 4 A& WZ F S L 18

during the year 4,510 6,795
Principal portion paid RENEANEA=0) (53,617) (65,497)
Interest paid BAFFIE (4,510) (6,795)
Disposal of a subsidiary & — B AR (KiFE3s)

(note 38) (2,079) (1,078)
Gain on lease modification MEBTT 2 W (8,451) -
COVID-19-related rent 7 A ¥ COVID-19

concessions from lessors HEReER (8,854) -
Exchange realignment PE 33 2 1,670 (2,572)
Carry amount at 31 March R=A=+—BZEEHE 87,647 126,371
Analysed into: Sak =1

Current portion mENER 1A 45,536 66,449

Non-current portion FERENFB 10 42,111 59,922

87,647 126,371

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed
in note 46 to the financial statements.

MEREZAHANTETBRE

Bt 467 K FR ©
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15. LEASES (Continued) 15. ® % (%)
THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (Continued) A S EAERAMA (8)
(¢) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in () EftABGREMEMMNE
relation to leases are as follows: BMAIT
2021 2020
—E-—F —E_ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTET FHT
Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZAE 4,510 6,795
Depreciation of right-of-use CTRAEEEZITE
assets 62,989 77,490
Expenses relating to short-term  H2%5 HA7H & [ #4 T~ 7H &4
leases and other leases with RZEZFF=-H=+—H
remaining lease terms ended S Z BIfEmZ EMHE
on or before 31 March 2020 ~ HARAK & A 788 7,463
Expenses relating to leases of HIEEBEEEEHRE
low-value assets EENER 92 667
Variable lease payments not RETAHEBETED
included in the measurement A #78 & 5IH
of lease liabilities 12 74
COVID-19-related rent 8 A ¥ COVID-19
concessions from lessors HEAHESER (8,854) -
Impairment of right-of-use ERAEEEZRE
assets - 18,564
Gain on lease modification MEEFT 2 Wz (8,451) (349)
Total amount recognised in FFABEENRERE
profit or loss 51,086 110,704
(d) Extension options (d) HE B 28 43 HE
The Group has several lease contracts that include AEBEAEETESEHRERED
extension options. These options are negotiated HEER -EREWHE T ELEE
by management to provide flexibility in managing B-AEEEEEHEEEMES
the leased-asset portfolio and they are aligned with W B EAREENERE KRG —
the Group’s business needs. Set out below are Blo T T EESMMITRA
the undiscounted potential future rental payments 1& 1) BRFEI A B8 00 R IT IR Y B TE AR 2K
relating to periods following the exercise date of Me BEHEENRWARFTAEE
extension that are not included in the lease terms. 1R o
2021 2020
—®_—F ZT-TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
Payable within five years RNAEFEREN FBT Tt
Extension options expected FEE BT HBITZ
not to be exercised EHE R 21,518 34,524

190



ERPEMERERAT | 2021F R

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
A M WOk

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z2=-F=—F=H=+—HIFE

15. LEASES (Continued)

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14)
consisting of commercial properties, industrial properties
and residential properties in Hong Kong and Mainland
China under operating lease arrangements. The terms of
the leases generally require the tenants to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental
income recognised by the Group during the year was
HK$85,490,000 (2020: HK$82,622,000), details of which
are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2021, the undiscounted lease payments
receivable by the Group in future periods under non-
cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

15. il & (@)

AEEEBHMA
REBRECEHELHELHEEREY
¥ (fsE14) BIREURES R B AR
MEAYE TAVERTEDE-HE
MBS EZRAP TN ERES IR
BENERATAMNEHARES A&
B A & R A & WA £85,490,000
BT (T T :82,622,00087T) °
HFBHR Y BHREMES -

R —F=A=+—H XEER
BHEAFIIY 2 TN BEMNEEHE
RAKRIAREIR 2 RRAELREWN
T

2021 2020

—E-—F —EETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FHET

Within one year —F R 72,085 91,611
After one year but within two years ~ —FE{ERMEN 61,714 67,437
After two years but within three years FIFEER=FNR 46,460 50,428
After three years but within four years =& {ERUFE R 36,848 38,300
After four years but within five years  POEZ{ERREN 26,614 30,398
After five years HFE 44,076 48,699
287,797 326,873
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16. GOODWILL 16. &
31 March 2021 —EB-—-H=H=+—H
HK$’000
FE&RT
At 1 April 2020: RZZE_TFMA—H:
Cost B AR 85,172
Accumulated impairment 2R E (8,721)
Net carrying amount BREFE 76,451
Cost at 1 April 2020, net of accumulated RZEZEFWMA—B KA
impairment Mk RETRE 76,451
Impairment during the year (note 6) FAREE (KzE6) (8,748)
Cost at 31 March 2021, net of accumulated R-EBE-—F=A=+—H2ZKA&"
and impairment Mk R EL RRE 67,703
At 31 March 2021: RZEZ—F=A=+—8:
Cost D% 85,172
Accumulated impairment Z2FHRE (17,469)
Net carrying amount BREFE 67,703
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE
16. GOODWILL (Continued) 16. 7 8 (g)
31 March 2020 —E-EF=H=t+—H
HK$’000
FTET
At 1 April 2019: RZE—-—hFMA—H:
Cost B 58,928
Accumulated impairment 2R E (8,721)
Net carrying amount BREFE 50,207
Cost at 1 April 2019, net of accumulated RZZFE-NFEOA—BZKA-
impairment Bk RFHRE 50,207
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 37) g —Rk B A E (:E37) 26,244
Cost at 31 March 2020, net of accumulated RZEZTF=A=+—HZHAK"
release and impairment MR REHEL RORE 76,451
At 31 March 2020: N_TE_ZTF=A=+—8:
Cost AR 85,172
Accumulated impairment 2FHRE (8,721)
Net carrying amount BREFE 76,451
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16.

194

GOODWILL (Continued)
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL

Goodwill acquired through business combinations is
allocated to the following cash-generating units for
impairment testing:

° Mainland China restaurant, food and hotel;

o Mainland China food supply business; and

° Hong Kong restaurant and food.

The carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to each of the
cash-generating units are as follows:

16. 75 & (g)

m Bz
MEBA KB ABESEEUT
REBEEERUMERENR

o HEAERER RENMEE:

s HMEAERMHEER: K

BEERRRM

NEEZEERESEABN 2HEREEN
T

2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET

Mainland China restaurant, food and A Bl KFE&Er - & 5 MB &
hotel - -
Mainland China food supply business A7 B8 A B & §h {ft & 2 75 17,496 26,244
Hong Kong restaurant and food BBEHRRR M 50,207 50,207
Carrying amount at 31 March R=EA=+—BZKEEE 67,703 76,451

The Group’s recoverable amounts of the Hong Kong
restaurant and food cash-generating unit, Mainland China
food supply business cash-generating unit and Mainland
China restaurant, food and hotel cash-generating unit
have been determined based on a value in use calculation
using cash flow projections based on financial budgets/
forecasts covering a five-year period, approved by senior
management. The discount rates applied to the cash flow
projections ranged from 8% to 11% (2020: range from
8% to 9%). The growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows of the Mainland China food supply business cash-
generating unit and the Hong Kong restaurant and food
cash-generating unit beyond the five-year period is 3%
(2020: 3%).

AEBEBERRRMECELEM
PFERAERREEXEBREEESEM K
FRAMEER RRRBEREELS
iz ESEEFERARERREEREA
B AFHZHBEE TEAZE
eREBACZERAEEFEET -RE
MEBABEAZITBEENF8%E11%

ZEZFTF NT8%EI%) BB A
FHzAERARERRBEERRECES
BUAREBERNRRRESEESEN
ZHEEREUEERAEIN (ZEF
F 3% )#EITTER -
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
(Continued)

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculations
of the above cash-generating units for 31 March 2021
and 31 March 2020. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash
flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill:

Budgeted revenue/gross margins — The basis used to
determine the value assigned to the budgeted/forecast
revenue/gross margins is the average revenue/gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the
budget/forecast year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements and/or expected market development.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax
and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group
recognised an impairment loss of approximately
HK$8,748,000 relating to the goodwill allocated to the
Mainland China food supply business cash-generating
unit, being the carrying amount thereof (before deducting
the impairment loss) that it could not recover. The
impairment loss arose mainly due to COVID-19 induced
deterioration in economic conditions and other negative
operating factors affecting that cash-generation unit.

The recoverable amount of the Mainland China food
supply business cash-generating units for the year ended
31 March 2020 was determined based on fair value less
costs of disposal using company transaction method
under the market approach, which falls within Level 3 of
the fair value measurement hierarchy. Under this method,
fair value was estimated with reference to applicable
transaction price of the underlying entity’s equity
instrument. During the year ended 31 March 2020, there
were no transfers into or out of Level 3 for such fair value
measurement.

16. 7 & (g)

R R RN D

u"’#—%—*i A= + BR-—F—
EFZA=Zt+—HZ RS EESEN
ZERBER BfAKRRK BRERE
BemETE) ﬁ‘JLTT?ﬁ@/me B PR IE
Y EEBEBEMMT -

HERABREN-REEERE,
FRIA SR ERNTIEEEE EE
REERRE TRAFEN —FRE2F
WA EBRERN WE SRR KRR
AR/ SHERTSERMA -

IR R — e B 2 IR R R ARFT BRI A
MRRERBEMAR S ERR -

BHE-Z-_—F=-A=+—HLFE"
AEEBROELETRRNER RIEERE
BReELBEUZBERBERERBRD
8,748,000/ 7T ' BN ANEEE A~ aT ik [@ 2 Bk
EE (HRBEEER) - BEBLXEE
& B3 FACOVID-19588 B A% 77 AR 5 B (b A0
HtyEZReEASBUZAmAEM
Bo

BE-_Z-_TF-_A=1+—HLFEH
IK@@&%VWEiFE%MZT%
& BIREFE =R A FEFELE
ZHISEERBER %Fﬁ&ﬁ@?ﬁ
B ERA T ABERE - HILEET - RF
ENRERBER TANERRHER
EHEE- BE_ T _TF=A=1+—
ALEFE SELAFEFERE=H
REAREL -
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17.

196

NTItiL I

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 17. 7 B 8 2 6] 2 b %
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET
Share of net assets DIREEFE 696,947 825,146
Due from associates U & N F) 2 FRIB 394,369 320,801
Loans to an associate BT —HEBERRZER 41,680 43,437
1,132,996 1,189,384
Portion classified as current assets D iEAREEZ A (290,305) (272,656)
842,691 916,728
The amounts due from associates and loans to an JEU & N R IE R T —HH %D\T
associate are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on Z 873 Eﬂﬁﬁ RERBRERER
demand.
In the opinion of the directors, except for certain BEERAE BRRZ-ZE=—F=A
amounts due from an associate totaling approximately =+—HEK—ME Hﬁ* % NAEIREE
HK$290,305,000 as at 31 March 2021 (2020: # 49290,305,0008 L (Z T =T F:

HK$272,656,000), which are considered as short-term
advances, the remaining amounts due from associates
and the loans to an associate (collectively, the “long-
term interests”) are considered, in substance, part of
the Group’s net investments in the associates, for which
settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in the
foreseeable future.

There was no recent history of default and past due
amounts for the amounts due from and the loans to
associates. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

QD&%mw%mWEEﬂ%ﬁmiﬁ
B FE UBSE & 8 B IR K M B A AR
WEREE LR ALNEETHE QA
FENFIREN —HH A FER AR

BEARETEItb TR AT BEIE K

XAV AN

FEWEE N RG THE LT ZER
AR BEANBHEL RN —
FR-ZZE-_TEF=ZA=+—H EER
EEER Y3 U
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. B8 A & 2 HE & (s

Particulars of the material associate are as follows:

TEBMERAFEOT:

Percentage of
Place of ownership interest
Particulars Business incorporation attributable
Name of issued shares held structure and business to the Group Principal activity
AL K
£ BECRTRAHE EBEE SR rEEEEREE AL TEXB
2021 2020
—E--f | ZE-%F
South China International  Ordinary shares (unlisted) Corporate Hong Kong 50 50  Investment holding

Purchasing Exchange
Centre Limited (“SCI")

EHAREEZST0  BBRGELT) AR Eit
BERAR ([EZpER])

SCI and its subsidiaries (collectively the “SCI Group”) are
mainly engaged in property investment and development
in Mainland China. The SCI Group is considered a
material associate of the Group which, in the opinion of
the directors of the Company, is strategic to the Group’s
property investment and development operating segment
and has been accounted for using the equity method in
the consolidated financial statements.

BEER

EHERREMBAR (5 [EREER
KB TERNPERERENERER
BREB -EFHBERKERRASANEHE
—EEXBBERE ARAREERR"
HUAEBE 2 MERENEREZEDE
ERBEIEIER W AR A W15 R AR
FOEARR
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17. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 17. R B A8 2 B e

The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRINTEFDHRER 2 MBERE
information in respect of the SCI Group adjusted for any (EREFBERZAMERELAR) R
differences in accounting policies and reconciled to the ARG B ISR A 2 AR TE (B 31 AR -
carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EF=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Current assets MENVEE 155,027 102,097
Non-current assets FEMENEE 3,214,259 2,969,589
Current liabilities mENEE (1,333,899) (764,100)
Non-current liabilities FERBBEE (1,258,554) (1,232,223)
Net assets BEFHE 776,833 1,075,363
Less: Non-controlling interests B FEE R RS (1,071) (1,542)
Net assets attributable to owners of EFBEEEEHEAS A
the SCI Group EiEEEFE 775,762 1,073,821
Reconciliation to the Group’s B AERBEEZASE
interest in the SCI Group included REMBEREE 2 R
in non-current assets:
Proportion of the Group’s ownership 7<% & £ 5 # 2 Lt {3 50% 50%
Group's share of net assets of rEERLCEEIREERE
the SCI Group BEFE 387,881 536,910
Unrealised interest expense eliminated > % I8 | & 5% u“.n ERTE 69 52
Due from the associate” AN E R 143,243 47,957
Loans to the associate” BTHEERA Ziﬁ = 41,680 43,437
Carrying amount of the interest therein )& & 2 # %5 R E B 572,873 628,356
Profit or loss and other comprehensive # I B £ EHE B A B~
income attributable to owners of B kEMEmEEA
the SCI Group:
Revenue WA 20,176 60,934
Loss for the year KEZEE (120,012) (132,782)
Other comprehensive loss Hibh2HEEE (178,047) (37,571)
Total comprehensive loss for the year 7K [ % [H /&5 18 42 48 (298,059) (170,353)
" In the opinion of the directors, these long-term interests " %%?& CZERIEFEE FAKE
are, in substance, part of the Group’s net investment in the BEREERE2RE -
associate.
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17. BB A6 Z R s
TEIRAEE AR REA Y LA )

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

information of the Group’s associates that are not 2B IS ER
individually material:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —TTF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Share of the associates’ profit/ FREGBEDRRF,
(losses) for the year (E18) 314 (5,413)
Aggregate carrying amount of the REERBEARZERZ
Group’s interests in the associates AR (E 269,818 288,372

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER

18. 46 7 B Hi 4 F 091 0 it 2
(XS TONT T2 -3

COMPREHENSIVE INCOME g
2021 2020
—E-—fF —EETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Equity investments designated EERRATFEIERR
at fair value through other Hith2EHBAREEZ
comprehensive income EERE
Listed equity investment, at fair value TR E LA F(E 119,511 104,225
Unlisted equity investment, JEEMRERIRE BAFE
at fair value 34,657 39,004
154,168 143,229

1S
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18.

19.

200

——FZAZ+—HULFE

EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED 18. #£ & B #% 2 F 1 5 B &k it &
AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER i 2 1 WA R B 2 R R
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (Continued) & (@)
The above equity investments were irrevocably EEDiAIN S lu/u%J:LT%ﬁﬂxﬁﬂﬁzﬁ* s
designated at fair value through other comprehensive B #HAEES TR EEZFR
income as the Group considers these investments to be BRATFEIERREMEERATRE
strategic in nature. bz
During the year ended 31 March 2021, the fair value gain BE_T-_—F=A=+—HIEFE"
(2020: loss) in respect of the Group’s equity investments AEEREMEARABRIIEE /K
designated at fair value through other comprehensive ANFEEIERREMEEBRAFERE Y
income recognised in other comprehensive income EEREZATFERA(ZZEZZTF 5
amounted to approximately HK$7,879,000 (2020: B)HR7,879,0008 L (ZE_FF:
HK$66,973,000). 66,973,000/ 7T ) °
FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 19. £ 2 F 1 5 Bk &R 18 &5 R
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS BzeMEE
2021 2020
—EC-—F —T_FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Listed equity investments, at fair value Mz E » R A FE 78,958 50,472
Listed debt investments, at fair value FHERKIRE  HAFE 102,792 98,050
Unlisted investments, at fair value ELEMIRE A FE 42,240 37,473
223,990 185,995

The listed equity and debt investments were classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as they
were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments were fund investment
products issued by banks. They were mandatorily
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss as their contractual cash flows are not solely
payments of principal and interest.

s RERRERENFIEERM
DERBAVEFAREZEREE-

EHIE ETIREGR|ITHETZEER
BEmMm AREANREREALIFER
A R BAT R E 158 5l 0 B A%
NEEIRENESTEENSRE
o
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FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

The fair values of the listed and unlisted investments
were based on the market values/fair values provided by
financial institutions or quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period.

At 31 March 2021, the Group’s financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$78,799,000 (2020: HK$72,836,000) were pledged
to secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group
(note 42).

STRUCTURED DEPOSITS

Structured deposits were stated at fair value and
represented several deposits placed with banks. The
Group designated the structured deposits as investments
at fair value through profit or loss. As at 31 March 2021,
the aggregate fair value of the structured deposits was
approximately HK$149,649,000 (2020: HK$241,103,000)
and total realised and unrealised fair value gains of
approximately HK$3,390,000 (2020: HK$3,155,000) were
recognised by the Group during the year.

The fair value was based on the market values provided
by financial institutions at the end of the reporting period.

19.

20.

HEAFEMNERRBES D E
HZzemEE @)
FHRIELTRE Y AT EIRS B
BIRHt Y HE, A TEIRBEERY
15 (B AL o

R-E-_—F=ZA=+—H KEEBEE
B4 /78,799,000 L (Z T T F:
72,836,000/ 7T ) 2 A FEF R R R
Bt RBECEREECEERT A
REBMERE TRITEEZER (K
$¥42) °

& M Tk 17 K

ERUEGTRDEAFEYERERIEFER
RITZHEFR - AEEEKEB LT
HIEEREATEINERRESTRE
ZEE - RZZEZ—F=R=+—8"
ERBMTFR B AT ERL149,649,000
Bt (—Z —ZF 4 :241,103,000/%8 7T )
AR B &I R AREIRN AR RREL
8,390,000 7T (=& =F 4 : 3,155,000
BIL)ERFANRAEEER -

RNFEDREBEERNREARERLZ
mELSREE-
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21. PROPERTIES UNDER 21 RO X RFHEMED X
DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES
HELD FOR SALE
PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT BRp X
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
At beginning of year R FA) 286,440 366,912
Additions NE 5,785 51,576
Transfer to properties held for sale  EEERHIEHEWE (914) -
Sales during the year FARLEEME - (111,572)
Exchange realignment ME 33 5 2 22,296 (20,476)
At 31 March R=A=+—H 313,607 286,440
Properties under development TEHAR A TEIRRR T 2
expected to be completed: BERAYE:
Beyond normal operating cycle BEBESRIERBEEY
included under non-current assets*  H & 4% ‘& 8 2i* 313,607 286,440
* Based on the current best estimates made by the Group’s * BEAEBESREEEEL 2R R&

senior management. EfEET e
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22,
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ=-F-—F=H=+—HIFF&E

PROPERTIES UNDER
DEVELOPMENT AND PROPERTIES
HELD FOR SALE (Continued)

PROPERTIES UNDER DEVELOPMENT
(Continued)

The Group’s properties under development are located in
Mainland China and Hong Kong.

Included in the Group’s properties under development
are land use rights with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$242,369,000 at 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$222,274,000).

PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

The Group’s properties held for sale are located in
Mainland China.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, a property held for
sale with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$4,768,000 (2020: HK$55,784,000) was transferred to
investment properties (note 14).

INVENTORIES

21. FRPYERFELED X

(80

BROYE @)
AEET BEFMEMAPEARERE
3 o

FAREBZERPMWERNR_-F
——®ZA=Z+—HEEEEY
£242,369,0008 L (ZE T F:
222,274,000/ 7T ) 2 T bR AR

HFELEDE
AREBFIELE WM PR ARE-
BE-_ZT-_—F=A=t+—HIEFER"

155,784,000 1) ZHELEWMER
BAREME (KE14) -

22, f7 &%

Food, beverages and others R 8RR R E A

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
33,806 32,927
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES

23. TEWE 5 Bk 3K

2021 2020
—E=-—F —EEF

HK$’°000 HK$’000

FH T FET

Trade receivables JEUE HER K 56,204 78,890
Impairment pERE] (24,542) (26,645)
31,662 52,245

For restaurant, bakery and hotel operations, the Group’s
trading terms with its customers are mainly on demand
or credit card settlements. For sale of food products,
customers are generally given credit terms of 30 to 90
days, except for new customers or certain food products,
where payment in advance is normally required. The
Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
trade receivable balances. Overdue balances are reviewed
regularly by senior management.

Generally, the Group does not hold any collateral or credit
enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of
loss allowance, is as follows:

RER HEERBEEBNE  AEH
HERPZEZHRRETEREFHIARE
AREE -RMEEMS TP —RE
RI0EWNHZEEH EMEPHET
BBl BL—REAFLNR AL
B SRKEEH AR EERKE S RNER
BETBRBEE SAEEETHE ALY
REERETTER

—mE AREYERERKE SR
REERFAEMERRNEERT -
WE BTG BT R -

RBEHR BREZERRREZTAS
KANBR B R B 2 FREE D AT 2 T

2021 2020
—EBE-—fF ZEZETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Within 30 days BIEAZ30R 19,271 36,956
31 to 60 days 31E60H 5,950 7,174
61 to 90 days 61Z=90H 1,578 4,502
Over 90 days FBiEB90H 4,863 3,613
31,662 52,245
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
trade receivables are as follows:

Ji& llﬂ( 51 B\E A (

BREZSERZBEEEREEHN
™

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-FF

HK$’000 HK$’000

FERT FAT

At beginning of year RE ] 26,645 23,297
Impairment losses/(reversal of WEEE, ORERE) -

impairment), net (note 6) F 58 (MIFE6) (2,076) 4,620

Exchange realignment b 5 A (27) (1,272)

At 31 March R=ZA=+—H 24,542 26,645

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting
date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit
losses. The provision rates are based on days past due
for groupings of various customer segments with similar
loss patterns. The calculation reflects reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2021

ENY DT PSRN YT
FEA - WS R R - B =
TREAEELSRER NS BT
SB4B B HHLE B B R 33 B R B
W BT BB BB A
R TS BRI 0 AT R
o

TXESIBREER ?%1%%EB$§+%‘$E =
ZRERWEZERREERBRNER

R-ZBZ-—-f$=ZA=+—H

Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
FE AR FE AR
FEEBEXR RE4AE BEEEE
% HK$'000 HK$’000
% FET FET
Credit-impaired receivables 1z BB 2 FE U BR 3K 100 17,348 17,348
Other trade receivables Ei\ﬁﬂf WE ZERR K
aged: e
Current to 3 months B ﬂﬁ%?@,ﬁﬁzfﬂ
past due - 26,799 -
Over 3 months past due  #HIER@ =18 A 59.7 12,057 7,194
Total e 56,204 24,542
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23. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 23. B 8 5 R 2 (
As at 31 March 2020 RZZE_ZEF=A=+—H
Expected Gross Expected
credit carrying credit
loss rate amount losses
- 1BH 78 B
EEBEX FRE&E EEEE
% HK$’000 HK$’000
% TET TFET
Credit-impaired receivables 1= & (& 2 F& U BR =X 100 19,711 19,711
Other trade receivables HEmEWE SRR R
aged: B
Current to 3 months BNERZ= @ 3 = & A
past due - 48,632 -
Over 3 months past due %1 EAR:8 = 1@ A 65.7 10,547 6,934
Total 5t 78,890 26,645
24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 24. 3 fib JE i BR K ~ 4% @ R T A K
AND PREPAYMENTS TH
2021 2020
—E-—F —EETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Prepayments TEfT R 90,926 245 457
Other receivables and deposits H b e HSZ R REe 255,477 353,247
346,403 598,704
Impairment allowance BB (17,067) (2,731)
329,336 595,973
Portion classified as current assets DB AR EE 2D (299,851) (246,930)
Non-current portion IERE) 22D 29,485 349,043

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

Included in the balance of other receivables and deposits
are amounts due from third parties of approximately
HK$157,705,000 (2020: HK$165,979,000), which are
unsecured, except for certain other receivables totalling
approximately HK$157,705,000 as at 31 March 2021
(2020: HK$157,519,000), which are guaranteed by
certain third parties, bear interest at 5% (2020: 5%) per
annum and repayable within two (2020: three) years.
Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management.
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HthEWERRARIEE 2 % B IERIKE
=FzF Iéi71577o5000,.17z<*EE*EE
F: 165979000,%57z> ERAREAE
KR (B =_E=—F=A=+—HH
%?% FERZA ?Eﬂﬂr&“uﬁzﬁﬁm
A H49157,705,0008 L (Z T =%
157,519,000/ 7t ) 1) - %;ziﬂies%
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24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS
(Continued)

In addition, included in the prior year balance of other
receivables and deposits were outstanding consideration
receivables for the disposal of Carrianna (Hunan)
Enterprise Co., Ltd. (“Hunan Carrianna”) of approximately
RMB104,858,000 (equivalent to HK$114,473,000),
which were unsecured and interest-free, and of which
RMB104,858,000 (equivalent to HK$114,473,000) was
repayable within one year and was classified as current
asset. The last installment was repaid in September 2020.

Impairment assessment

Where applicable, an impairment analysis is performed
at each reporting date by considering the probability
of default of counterparty. As at 31 March 2021, the
probability of default applied ranged from 0.86% to
100.0% (2020: ranged from 0.5% to 7.0%) and the loss
given default was estimated to be 59.4% (2020: 60.6%).
Expected credit losses are estimated by applying a loss
rate approach with reference to, inter alia, credit quality of
debtors or historical loss record of the Group and/or other
reasonable and supportable information available. The
loss rate is adjusted to reflect the current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions, as appropriate.
The loss rate applied as at 31 March 2021 was 8.4%
(2020: 0.8%).

24. F i B W B 7K ~ 4% @ K TE A K

TH (%)
Hfh fE IR B R % 4 (s)

toh E—FEz EMERERRIES
HEaaiEHEEES CHm) BEARAD
AI(CHEEESD M AEERER
U FRIB 49 A R #104,858,0007T (188 7
114,473,000/ 70 ) * /B 8 3118 & E K 17
Mo B Ed A R#104,858,000 (&
114,473,000 70 ) AN —F NEE K
WoBAREWRER -RE S8
ER-_ZE-_TFNAEE-

W R A

REBZERT BESMIREHRE
HEBEBREERSEFHELHZAIREE
BT -RZE-_—F=A=1+—H BE
AN F0.86%E100.0% (ZZE T F
N F05%E7.0%) 2 B et - HiE
W EE 2 BB R G A59.4% (=&
ZTF 160.6%) FEEEEBENER
JEREBEXFEETMHT X2E(H
PRBE)BEAZEEEZRHXAEEE
SRRk K EMAI S AEA S
B -BEERD/EFABRNREEB AR
MR REEARDIER (ER) R =
E-_—F=A=+—BHEAZEEXA
8.4% (ZZE=_FF :08%) °
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24. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS

295.

208

AND PREPAYMENTS (Continued)
OTHER RECEIVABLES AND DEPOSITS

(Continued)
Impairment assessment (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of
other receivables and deposits are as follows:

24.

H iy SR 2% & 2 & R AT K
TH (@)

Hfth i BR 2k K 2 (@)
WA RE A (8

Hih R R Rz 2 R ERBREE
E /i N

2021 2020

—E-—F —ETF

HK$’000 HK$’000

TERT FHT

At beginning of year REH] 2,731 35,148
Impairment/(reversal of impairment), SB{EEE,~ CREREED) -

net (note 6) F 58 (MIFE6) 11,174 (29,601)

Exchange realignment ME W, R 3,162 (2,816)

At 31 March W=A=+—H 17,067 2,731

Except for the balances mentioned above, the remaining
financial assets had no recent history of default and past
due amount.

B L XX Rt 2 S ERON - Rigr & BB B
MW EENESE RBREE -

DUE FROM DIRECTORS 25. JEW & F 3K
Particulars of amounts due from directors, disclosed RIE BB A B KRG 58383(1)(d) ik R & B
pursuant to section 383(1)(d) of the Hong Kong AEl (BRBZESHRER) ROIEIH 2
Companies Ordinance and Part 3 of the Hong Kong RERB EBKESFERERNT
Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, are as follows:
Maximum
Maximum At amount
At amount 31 March 2020 outstanding At
31 March outstanding and during 1 April
2021 |during the year 1 April 2020 the prior year 2019
N_Z_TE
RAEE =ZA=+-H REFER
R-ZB=-% HAEE R-T-ZF HABRE RIZ-nF
=ZA=+-H ZEREE mA—A ZEEEE mA—A
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiER TR TiEx TR THT
Mr. Ma Kai Cheung BNERE 3,028 3,028 2,297 7,408 7,408
Mr. Ma Kai Yum BNREE 816 5,852 2,846 3,433 522
Mr. Ma Hung Ming, John BRHETE 935 935 841 2,568 2,568
4,779 5,984 10,498

The amounts due from directors are unsecured, interest-
free and repayable on demand.

EREEFERERR 2ERREXR

g -
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26. CASH AND BANK BALANCES, 26. e kM irhit - 2MHl e
RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED SEEREIE LR R
TIME DEPOSITS
2021 2020
—E=--—F —TTHF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Cash at banks and on hand (note (a)) ¥4 MIE1T47TF (H3E@) 400,310 201,522
Time deposits EHFE R 58,192 79,236
458,502 280,758
Less: Pledged time deposits for long & : ARHIRITE R
term bank loans R EHEFER - (16,014)
Pledged time deposits for short REHRRITERK
term bank loans and other HMRITEEER 2
banking facilities TE BiTF 3 (44,823) (19,682)
Restricted cash (note (b)) TRHIBE (D) (106) (167)
Cash and bank balances N & KIRITHA R 413,573 245,895
Notes: B EE
(@) At 31 March 2021, the Group did not pledge its cash at @ NRZEZ—F=ZA=+—H XrKEEX
bank. At 31 March 2020, the Group’s cash at banks of BURTHEGERR - RZZTTF=
HK$10,362,000 was pledged to secure certain banking A=+—H &%E10,362,000%8 T2
facilities granted to the Group (note 42). RITHEGFEIEER (EAXEEMER
HFRITEEZER (KisE42) o
(o)  According to the relevant contracts/agreements, property () RBABEL 1 AEBM2ER
development companies of the Group are required to BRARIEGTH—T2BRETRITE
place at designated bank accounts certain amounts as FERES ATEHAIRBER A
deposits for potential default in payment of mortgage loans THMEERREHRIER ZBRBEER
advanced to certain property purchasers. Such guarantee HETCRTESGEESERMAIZ
deposits will only be released either after the property MEBRMIRITEZEILZBERE
ownership certificates are submitted to the banks as 7 TR o

collateral or when the property purchasers have repaid the
full mortgage loans to the banks.
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26. CASH AND BANK BALANCES,

27.

210

RESTRICTED CASH AND PLEDGED
TIME DEPOSITS (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank
balances and time deposits of the Group denominated in
Renminbi amounted to approximately HK$188,128,000
(2020: HK$127,695,000). The Renminbi is not freely
convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange Renminbi for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Certain cash at banks earns interest at floating rates
based on relevant bank deposit rates. Short term time
deposits are made for varying periods of between one
day and three months depending on the immediate
cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest
at the respective short term time deposit rates. The
bank balances and time deposits are deposited with
creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

TRADE PAYABLES

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as
follows:

26.

27.

Bl J AT &

B 2R3 e
R B 4 E B fF K

(#)

RBEHR AEEUANAREE
MRS MRTEBEEHFTARA
#9188,128,0008 T (Z T == F :
127,695,000 7T ) - AR IER] B A
HIMBEMERE - AT - IR B RRER
CONE B HI 160 R 408 - S IE RIFIEE
BIEBIRE)  ASKBEEFEBIFTE
ITINEER  RITHBRARK BEME
ﬁﬁgo

ETRITRESREARITFERFE2F
Eﬁﬂwﬁﬁﬂyﬂ S BT ARKE BN

I ﬁHﬂEHﬂT— ZHEFET )\?
Hﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁﬁlf@ fﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ)&fﬁ%ﬁﬁ%\
FRREEFEZEROSBENCEENIR
1T

ME AT 8 5 Bk Ak

RBEBRKR BNESERAIRERBH
ZHREOMIT

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-F

HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FH&ET
Within 30 days BNHEZ=30H 26,395 29,734
31 to 60 days 31260H 2,387 4,217
61 to 90 days 61E90H 11,632 8,861
Over 90 days @0 H 3,531 9,175
43,945 51,987

The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are ENESERARNERBEENIES

normally repayable within the normal operating cycle.

SIEREINERE -
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28. H i JE £F B % - HEFH & R E

DEPOSITS RECEIVED K% 2
2021 2020
—E_—F —E-FTE
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M aE FET TFHET
Contract liabilities aHBE (@) 22,658 20,980
Accruals EEtER 4,275 4,310
Other payables and deposits HiEMNERRERIZRS
received ) 397,301 300,627
At 31 March R=A=+—H 424,234 325,917
Portion classified as current NERRBEGEZE D
liabilities (419,862) (317,802)
Non-current portion JERE) 2 B 4,372 8,115
Notes: MisE -
(@) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: @ BRaGEFBENT:
31 March 31 March 1 April
2021 2020 2019
—E-—F —EoEE —T-NEF
=A=+-—8 =A=+—H MA—H
HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHT FHET
Consideration/deposits received TEREFRE, 124 :
from customers in advance:
Restaurant, food and hotel Z8 - BRMMBEE 11,687 11,694 10,328
Property investment and MERE RER
development 10,971 9,286 6,991
Total contract liabilities sEHaERERE 22,658 20,980 17,319

Contract liabilities include consideration received from
customers in advance for the Group’s sales of food
products, sales of properties and leasing of properties.
The increase in contract liabilities in 2021 and 2020 was
mainly due to the increase in consideration received from
customers in advance at the end of the year.

Other payables are non-interest bearing and have an
average term of three months.

ANAEREBREFREREREE
ZHHERM - HEMEURAEME-
AHBER-E-_—ER_T-_TH&
EMBEBEREFAZBRERFR
B TR -

HpRNERRL TS FHOHRA=
&R -
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29. PROVISIONS 20, 13
Provision for
restoration
costs
BERAAEE
2021
—E-—=F
HK$’000
FERT
At beginning of year R FA) 3,772
Amount utilised during the year RERNEBAZ 5 (540)
Exchange realignment ME H, 58 B 157
At 31 March W=A=+—8 3,389
Portion classified as current liabilities NEARBEGB IS (820)
Non-current portion EmB 2 HH 2,569
The provision for restoration costs relates to the Group’s 18 R K 7N 88 1 B 7K & (B 70 /6 A ER
obligations to reinstate its leased properties to their SRR EREMEREEEREE
original state or to a condition, as specified in the W 2 ZMREXKRRAZEESR
respective tenancy agreements, at the end/upon the 7 o
termination of the relevant lease terms.
The provision for reinstatement costs was determined ERRABE N2 ERBERRRAES
based on certain assumptions and estimates made by BERUBRBAARESAEL 2E TR
the directors of the Company with reference to past BRMAFTMETE - ZEFRE XM TR

experience and available information. The assumptions FBRERT (WEA) -
and estimates are reviewed, and revised where
appropriate.
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. B ZHITHEE

BORROWINGS
2021 2020
—EB--F —ZTZEF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate (%) Maturity HK$’000 rate (%)  Maturity HK$'000
1o ilks BB A E
(%) HBA TR % EEA TR
Current
k]
Bank loans - secured 1.3-5.2  On demand 885,785 1.8-5.4  On demand 888,244
RITER-REA RERK RERE
Current portion of long term bank 1.6-6.2 By31March2022 194,074 2.3-6.9 By 31 March 2021 111,835
loans - secured
REBFOTER NS S R-B=-=fF RZE_—fF
—HER ZR=+-A7 =ZR=+—RH
1,079,859 1,000,079
Non-current
FRB
Bank loans - secured 1.8-5.3  2022-2023 558,340 28-6.9  2021-2023 675,133
RITER-BEA R-B--FZF RZZZ—F%F
—E-=E —E-CF
1,638,199 1,675,212
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30. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 30. Mt Bz ATt B (8)
BORROWINGS (Continued)
2021 2020
—B--F —E_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FH&ET
Analysed into: pali= I
Bank loans repayable: RITERER:
Within one year or on demand —FRHILBREFEE 1,079,859 1,000,079
In the second year F_F 170,328 252,182
In the third to fifth years, inclusive F=FEZFERF
(BEEMFREEAN) 388,012 422,951
1,638,199 1,675,212
Included in the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings R—ZE-_—F=ZA=Z+—HB &XK
are borrowings with an aggregate carrying amount SEMEZRITEEFHEEEER
of approximately HK$67,401,000 as at 31 March #67,401,0008 T (Z 2 =T F:
2021 (2020: HK$77,128,000) which are denominated 77,128,000 7T ) 2 e EAAREEEHE -
in Renminbi. The remaining interest-bearing bank HME 2 IRITREUEB T E
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars.
Certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank borrowings REBEETHEZRITEETIAEFRAE
are secured by the pledge of certain assets of the Group SEETEERER E—FFBHERN

as further detailed in note 42 to the financial statements. B 75 TR R BT eE420A ©
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z — —F=HA=+—HIFE
31. DEFERRED TAX 31. B R IE
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year AEEREHRBEABEZEHNT

are as follows:

DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 0% I B A
2021
—E--F
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in  adjustments
excess of  arising from  Revaluation
related acquisition of  of investment
depreciation  subsidiaries properties Total
BRENE
BREERNE LNRE£Z REMZE
HFERHE  ATERE Eff st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
TERT THER TR TR
At 1 April 2020 RZE-TEMA—H 20,595 6,352 226,270 253,217
Deferred tax charged to the AEEBRES
statement of profit or loss Mt 2 EERHE
during the year (note 10) (KizE10) 206 - 4,719 41,925
Exchange realignment ELRAE - (190) 3,615 3,425
Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 RZE-—f=ZA=+—H
March 2021 Z;EURIEE% R 20,801 6,162 271,604 298,567




Notes to Consohdqted Financial Statements
HAMBHREME

Year ended 31 March 2021 #ZE_-F_-—F=H=+—HIFE

31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued) 31. % & B A (@)
DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued) % I B R 8 it a0
2020
it 223
Depreciation Fair value
allowance in adjustments
excess of arising from Revaluation
related  acquisition of  of investment
depreciation subsidiaries properties Total
Sl 4n)=
BRAEHENME  RRE4Z REMFE
WrERHE  QATESRE B st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TAT THET
At 1 April 2019 RZZ—-NEMA—H 20,752 6,598 215,939 243,289

Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the  REF B K S

statement of profit or loss during the ~ #1% / (3t A) 2

year (note 10) ERRIE (ME10) (157) (491) 12,700 12,052
Exchange realignment B 5 3% - 245 (2,369) 2,124)

Gross deferred tax liabilities at 31 R-E-FTHF=A=+—H
March 2020 ZEEHBERERE 20,595 6,352 226,270 253217




31. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ=-F-—F=H=+—HIFF&E

31. BB (@)
NEAEE REREEELHMT

as follows:
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS i A B IA & E
2021
—E--F
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
Lease future taxable
liabilities profits Total
AR R R
FERBER
HEAE KE2ER “m
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’'000
TER TER TER
At 1 April 2020 RZZ-FFMA—H 704 15 719
Deferred tax credited to AEEBRRPIHAZELHE
the statement of profit or loss (K33E10)
during the year (note 10) - 11,387 11,387
Exchange realignment B 5 B - - -
Gross deferred tax assets R-E-_—®=ZfA=+—-HZ
at 31 March 2021 EIERBEERE 704 11,402 12,106
2020
—Z-%F
Losses
available for
offsetting
against
Lease future taxable
liabilities profits Total
A A AR R
JERTL R
HEAR BHZER Faks)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET THET
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEFMA—H - 49 49
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to AEEBBERFHAN/
the statement of profit or loss (%) 2 EIEF IR
during the year (note 10) (Ki3E10) 723 (34) 689
Exchange realignment AR (19) - (19)
Gross deferred tax assets RZZE-FF=A=+—-HZ
at 31 March 2020 BERBEEERE 704 15 719

a3
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31.

218

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)
DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (Continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$376,043,000 (2020: HK$353,534,000),
subject to the agreement by the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department, that are available indefinitely for
offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies
in which the losses arose. The Group also has estimated
tax losses arising in Mainland China of approximately
HK$78,463,000 (2020: HK$106,443,000), subject to
the agreement by relevant tax authorities, that will expire
in one to five years for offsetting against future taxable
profits. Other than as disclosed above, deferred tax
assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as it is currently not considered probable by
management that taxable profits will be available against
which the tax losses can be utilised.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a
10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to
foreign investors from the foreign investment enterprises
established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings
after 31 December 2007. A lower withholding tax rate
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland
China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For
the Group, the applicable rate is 5% or 10%. The Group
is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008.

At 31 March 2021, no deferred tax has been recognised
for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes
of the Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China.
In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these
subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland
China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been
recognised totalled approximately HK$1,708,865,000 at
31 March 2021 (2020: HK$1,596,517,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching
to the payment of dividends by the Company to its
shareholders.

31. %% A B IE (@)

i B & E (50
AEEERBEEAZHEBEBY
376,043,000 T (T & F:
353,534,000/ 7T) ' BB EHRBEHE
B FAEE Mt EBETERBER
DEEEBEZBBRAR 2 RKRERE
HAEE - AKBNTNBEREFPBEREZ
4 =t i T8 B3 38 4978,463,0008 7T ( =&
— T4 106,443,000/ 1) (BEHEE
MEKERE®R  FOJ{EE) - MmitEn]
FB A BB 2K 7 e SR A i AR 8 2 S 1R RIS
R—FERFAINE R EXBERS
SN HREREBRIRATAIREEE R
B RN RN AERETSAZ S
MIBEE WAL EEBERELER
HEE-

BIE (RRBERABRIE) - R B KR
AL Z NI B R ERIBIMNEEET IR
2B BB I0%TEF - BT

—EEN\F—A—BHRES LEA
R-EE+F+-_A=+—HEMEL
AR i B KEREINGE E B
AEHEER 2 BEBBBEIEL B RER
EEMREHHR AEBEALEAR
5%3%10% ° At AEBERZERF
BAEXZ 2 HBARS 2T N\F—
A—BRELAZAENMD IR KREHBR
TEHHL

R-TB-—F=A=+—08 X&EEYW
R PP B AR B ASSTENR 2
MEBARZAELEFENSZENHE
BREEHE-EZRE ZSEHWBR
ARARERRDIERZERN 2 #ET
K- R-_E-_TF=ZA=+—H HH
PRAEZHBARZERERB 2T
M 48 = 58 A H #91,708,865,000/% T i)
RERABECEREAEB (ZE T F:
1,596,571,000 7T ) °

R A ) B B BRI A P B 3 S EE AR PATAS
BIER
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32. DEFERRED INCOME 32. i & g A
The Group’s deferred income represents cash subsidies 7N 62 B BB TE MR RS IR RS 56 P
received from a government authority in respect of R—IEFBEAEMERRAEI 2R
a property development project in Mainland China. Pe#HE—_T-—F=A=+—HILF
Deferred income of approximately HK$1,355,000 (2020: [ EFEY A K /1,355,000 T (ZF
HK$35,759,000) was released to the statement of profit — T4 :35,790,000% 1) B A B
or loss during the year ended 31 March 2021. o
SHARE CAPITAL 33. k&
SHARES ik 13
2021 2020
—B-—F —T_TF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Issued and fully paid: BET AR
1,382,796,290 (2020: 1,257,087,536) &M HEE0.10/4E T2
ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each B A%1,382,796,2901%
ZEZFTF:
1,257,087,536/% ) 138,280 125,709
A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital RArlZRASESHELT
is as follows:
Number of Issued Share
shares share premium
in issue capital account Total
2ET
ROEE CEROIRE ROGRER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT THT
At 1 April 2019, RZE-NF
31 March 2020 and mA—H-
1 April 2020 “TCTF
ZA=+-8k
—T-EF
mA—H 1,257,087,536 125,709 1,397,359 1,523,068
Issue of shares upon placing RRERMEET
of shares o) 125,708,754 12,571 43,265 55,836
At 31 March 2021 RZZ_—%
—A=t—H 1,382,796,290 138,280 1,440,624 1,578,904
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34.

220

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “2015
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives
and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants
of the 2015 Option Scheme include the Company’s
directors, including independent non-executive directors,
other employees of the Group and consultants of any
member of the Group. The 2015 Option Scheme became
effective on 24 August 2015 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years
from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options
permitted to be granted under the 2015 Option Scheme
is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise, to 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit is
subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting
with such participant and his associates abstaining from
voting.

Share options granted to a director are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors of
the Company. If the number of share options of the offer
to directors or any of their associates is in excess of
0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time
or with an aggregate value (based on the price of the
Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of HK$5
million, within any 12-month period, the grant is subject
to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting
in which the grantee and his associates shall abstain from
voting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 28 days from the date of offer. The amount payable
on acceptance of an option is HK$1. The exercise period
of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors.

34. Wi Mz 7 5t

ApRlRA—RERESS (225
FHBEE )  SEAEERBZK
IELER A ER2BERHTEE X
BB - ZtEREBR2REREAR
AER(BRBIFNITES) A&
BEMETRAKEEMKERRLZ
BE - —T-OFBEREFIER=F
—RFNA-THBERBER MR
RITHEHER B AEZ AR TFRE
B

RIE—_T A FRREE AR
ZIRARITEBRE ERERNEITEE
ARARREMBEEZETRODAR
10% o Efl# —F R 2 BIRERBIL
[REE AIFERRERRAS L&
MAMZEEREBBABARERR

BRYTEEBRELFTRLESEALFSE
VIFHTTESRE - HEZETESTIW
FEMBBEAZEREHEBEA AR
PMEAT B R 2 #TTAAD 0.1 % RN E(T 12
18 A EIfE - B E (IR T BB ARA]
Z F& (B ) i 385,000,000/ 7T - BII#X HH 78
BREBRRNBER A S L& AR
ARHEBBABRNKRE ERERE-

BRECRLE B R2BRAEXRE
EMBRERFNRIBER/RBT - KTHE
BENTENHESETE -
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. E% H& 1‘% %1’ %‘J (%)
The exercise price of share options is determinable by the BRECITEERESEES VAESE
directors and shall be at least the highest of (i) the closing LPEUNTEEZ&SE (AR E KM
price of the Company’s shares as stated in the daily REZBAH (ZBEKEREER)NES
quotation sheet of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong BEaRSMBRAT ([BRAT])SHR
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on the offer date, which BRI ZWHE: (RORBEEIRESE
must be a business day; (i) the average of the closing HERT AEE B REIMEERER
prices of the shares stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily Fr %l FH U T E « (i) () m{E o
quotation sheets for the five business days immediately
preceding the offer date; and (i) the nominal value of a
share.
Share options do not confer rights on the holders to RN B T A ARMERR S
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings. N N
The following share options were outstanding under the EAFERN —E—AFEREFEIT
2015 Option Scheme during the year: MARITE 2 BB
2021 2020
“E--F - -3
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number of exercise Number of
price options price options
mEFY InEEFE
TEE BREZE IHE  BEREHE
HK$ HK$
per share per share
SRR BRAET
At beginning of year REA 0.761 28,800,000 0.810 14,200,000
Granted during the year REREH - - 0.714 14,600,000
Forfeited during the year RERE M 0.793  (17,200,000) = =
At 31 March R=A=+—H 0.714 11,600,000 0.761 28,800,000

No (2020: Nil) share options were exercised during the
year.

FAVE(ZF=
fifo

THE B BREET

2Nl
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. RS B (9
The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share R EBREARITE 2 BRIEZITEE
options outstanding as at the end of the reporting period NATEERRI T

are as follows:

2021 —E-—F
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE THEBH
HKS$ per share
sBRET
2,800,000 0.714  20-2-2020 to 19-2-2025

—E-EF-_A-+HE
—E-RF-A+ANH
2,000,000 0.714 3-6-2020 to 2-6-2025
“E-EFXAZHE
—E-AFAAZH

2,800,000 0.714 20-2-2021 to 19-2-2026
:;:—E AR-_+H=ZE
—E-RFZA+ B
2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2021 to 2-6-2026

—E-—FXA=HZE
—FEZRFARAZAH
2,000,000 0.714 3-6-2022 to 2-6-2027
—_= ::E/\H HZE
—EEFAXAZAH

11,600,000
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 34. W R HESE )
2020 —E-EF
Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period
BREHE TEE" TEBEH
HKS$ per share
sBRET
5,200,000 0.810 16-10-2015 to 15-10-2020
Z—hFETHA+RBE
—ZT-TF+A+EA
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2016 to 31-7-2020
T—-RNFENA—HZE
:E_Eitﬂ_+ S|
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2017 to 31-7-2021

—E2—tFN\A—HZE

B —F+A=+—H
3,000,000 0.810 1-8-2018 to 31-7-2022
—E-NENA—HE

—E-—Ft+A=+—H

4,300,000 0.714  20-2-2020 to 19-2-2025
—E-EF-_A-+HE
—E-_R¥-RA+AhH
2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2020 to 2-6-2025

TE-EFXAZHE
—F-HEXAZA

4,300,000 0.714 20-2-2021 to 19-2-2026
—_E_—F_AZ+HZE
—EZRFZA+ANB
2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2021 to 2-6-2026
== :_E/\ A=B=%
= —/\E'E/\ H — E
2,000,000 0.714  3-6-2022 to 2-6-2027
—E_FXA=HE
—E-+FXHAZH
28,800,000
* The exercise price of the share options is subject to * IEAR T B AR R AR AT AR 31T
adjustment in the case of rights or bonus issues, or other AR ARz A A S B (E L 3R

similar changes in the Company’s share capital.
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

No share option was granted during the year. The fair
value of the share options granted during the year ended
31 March 2020 was HK$1,652,000 (HK$0.11 each).
During the year, the Group recognised total share option
expense of HK$866,000 (2020: HK$733,000) in respect
of share options granted during the previous years.

The fair value of equity-settled share options granted
during the previous year was estimated as at the date
of grant using a binomial model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were
granted. The following table lists the inputs to the model
used:

34. W Mk B 5t & ()

RAFEREEREERL -REEZ
E_TFEZA=-+HLEFEARAREHZ
IR 2 A TFEE1,652,0000 7T (1)
011ETT) RAFE ~EERTFR
B EBREMERBRES HESE
866,000/ JT(— T — T 733,000/
JT) °

REFREZBRESE 2BREZ QT
EARH A2 ZHEAERE IR B
Pk 2 AR R B AR R (B 5 e TREIH
PrfE AR 2 B AE Y

2020

—TTF

Dividend yield (%) R B8R (%) 4.30
Expected volatility (%) T8 HOR 18 (%) 25.00 - 29.00
Historical volatility (%) JE 52K 18 (%) 25.00 - 29.00
Risk-free interest rate (%) 12 3B A1) 2 (%) 1.27 = 1.31
Expected life of options (year) B TBEA A (F) 5.00
Weighted average share price (HK$ per share) mniEFHERE (BRET) 0.714
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34. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

No share options were exercised during the year ended
31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
11,600,000 share options outstanding under the 2015
Option Scheme. The exercise in full of the outstanding
share options would, under the present capital structure
of the Company, result in the issue of 11,600,000
additional ordinary shares of the Company and additional
issued capital of HK$1,160,000 and additional share
premium of approximately HK$7,122,000 (before issue
expenses and excluding the transfer of relevant amount
from the share option reserve).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the
Company had 11,600,000 share options outstanding
under the 2015 Option Scheme, which if exercised in full
would represent approximately 0.83% of the Company’s
shares in issue as at that date.

34. W Mz FE w8 a0

BhEzAGAERHRBRBEBE=F2
FE S BB ER MR A Be HIRAO T (E1E
= o TR AR 18 S R SE R R AT FE R R 2K
BE 2 BR Mgt~ —E2ERER

HFFEQAFERIREMAR LB E
ZE M

Bz _T_—F=A=1T—HILFERX
MEBREETE(ZS_FF &) -

RIEBRKR BIE T AFEERE
2l AR B 11,600,00017 B A% #E i K
T - BEBEARBIRITRALERE - 2ET
158 18 AR AT 58 2 B AR AR S S B A R BB A
#£1711,600,0000% & i@ A% R BB INE BT
P& AN1,160,00058 TT A K BB IMNIZAD S (B 4Y
7,122,000 7T (FBRBITHZAATE
FERREFREBEB AR

REELETHHRRER RE-F
—hFEREST S A~ 711,600,000
DB RITE (W BEITE MG A
NEE BB BITIRM40.83% °
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39.

36.

226

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 89
and 90 of the annual report.

The reserve funds of the Group represent the non-
distributable statutory reserves of the Group’s subsidiaries
established in the PRC. The transfers to these reserves
are determined by the boards of directors of the
subsidiaries in accordance with the relevant PRC laws
and regulations. The reserve funds are restricted as to
use but can be used to offset against future losses or to
increase the capital of the subsidiaries.

PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

Details of the certain subsidiaries of the Group that have
material non-controlling interests are set out below:

395.

36.

ik ffe
AEBEEAFTERBAFE ZHER
BRAEREEZEHE 2R AFRFEIIRZ0
B HEEER-

AEBE 2 ERE /AEERP BARERK
M Z M B R R EE D K 2 A TE A o B
BRARAZESERREPEBEEREN
FRBEZEFHE - LEHEES AR
SR - R SR 2R 2 5 1R Y 5H S A R

P 2 2 B o
AfgEAFERER ZES

& W & 2 =

REEETHE QR RGERIFZRE
mZ A IRHEIIIT

2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
Percentage of equity interest held by — FE42 IR #E 25 P33 I AE 2
non-controlling interests ol
— Sleek Treasure Ventures Limited —JEEEIRBR AR K&
and its subsidiaries (“Sleek HE QA
Treasure Group”) (MNEE£=E]) 40% 40%
Profit/(loss) for the year allocated to 7 c &= JEHERR XS 2
non-controlling interests REZ RN, (EE)
— Sleek Treasure Group —EE & 7,180 (13,638)
Dividend paid to non-controlling BT AR S 2 IR B
interests
— Sleek Treasure Group —IBE & 100 420
Accumulated balance of non- REE BE 2 FEEREZRS 2
controlling interests at the reporting 25t 4554
date
— Sleek Treasure Group —EE & 2,341 (4,739)
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36. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIESWITH 36. EF&E kR #ESZ Z2EL

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING & It B 2 El s

INTERESTS (Continued)

The following tables illustrate the summarised TRINTIEEEE 2456 0B E RS
consolidated financial information of the Sleek Treasure BB ceBRTAARKERZ
Group. The amounts disclosed are before any inter- A

company eliminations:

Sleek Treasure Group

IEE & E
2021 2020
—E-—F —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FET
Revenue WA 234,643 329,937
Profit/(Loss) for the year REZ RN,/ (EE) 16,712 (32,141)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) ~ ANFEE2EUW A (E18) %
for the year 16,712 (82,141)
Current assets MEEE 51,758 46,028
Non-current assets, InBEE BEEE
including goodwill 134,862 153,525
Current liabilities mBEE (156,437) (178,577)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (22,857) (30,263)
Net cash flows from KEFFMBREREFE
operating activities 55,933 75,914
Net cash flows used in "B EBFTH
investing activities REMEFE (2,735) (49,873)
Net cash flows used in BB E BT
financing activities BWEmEFR (44,915) (31,550)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and R4 KRG ZHEIER
cash equivalents 1, (R ) F 5 8,283 (5,509)
* The above summarised consolidated financial information * UERAPBERMEE RMKESE LY
has reflected the effects of acquisition accounting, HTE REBELRATEAE-

including goodwill and fair value adjustments.

22
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

LUCKY WISDOM ACQUISITION

On 21 February 2020, the Group acquired 100% interests
in Lucky Wisdom Development Limited (“Lucky Wisdom”)
from Liu Long Fen.

Lucky Wisdom operates a poultry farm in Huizhou,
Guangdong province, Mainland China through its 80%
owned subsidiary. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash paid at the acquisition
date.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities
of Lucky Wisdom as at the date of acquisition were as

37. ¥ % A
e B AR
R_ZZE_ZEF_A_+—HB AEEMA
RIS REREEEAR AR ([BE])
Z100%7HE 25

TSR B 80% 2 [ B A 7 e B
REBNTEE—ARES KEEE
2R EN RS R A KB %
fit o

BENKEANAEIEERBENR
REEHAT:

follows:
2020
—TTF
HK$ 000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment (note 13) M S MR (MFEE13) 5,742
Right-of-use assets (note 15(a)) EAEEE (M:E15@)) 1,098
Cash and bank balances e RIRTTHER 503
Inventories e -1 1,474
Trade receivables, other receivables, FEWE 5 BR R - B E UK AR K -
deposits and prepayments e RTERMRIE 2,509
Other payables and accruals HMENERRRESTER (11,501)
Total identifiable net assets BRATEREZ
at fair value AR B EFERE (175)
Non-controlling interests IR S (69)
(244)
Goodwill on acquisition (note 16) W2 (KMis16) 26,244
Satisfied by cash AR & & 26,000
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (Continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition
of a subsidiary is as follows:

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

& B W B ORI At
—FZHZ—HILFE

37. ¥% A b m)

EHKE - HHBAR B REST
M

2020

—E_FF

HK$’000

FET

Cash consideration RERE (26,000)

Cash and bank balances acquired FriiE 2 38 & MIRTT A5 84 503
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FARBEEDReRECRER

included in cash flows from investing activites ¥R & 5 EE B i 1 F 58 (25,497)

Since the acquisition, Lucky Wisdom contributed
approximately HK$1,196,000 to the Group’s revenue and
approximately HK$342,000 to the Group’s consolidated
profit for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group
for the year ended 31 March 2020 would have been
approximately HK$1,039,892,000 and approximately
HK$17,717,000, respectively.

BREEERE BEALEBZKRAR
Br491,196, oooi%r‘n&WK%E&i_%?
—%E A=+—BLEFEZEE T
BE A i F 49342,0007% 7T ©

WA HFREVIEET MEE
TFE=ZA=+— H¢¢F$EIH&)\&
REE 27 F#E 5 5 A%1,039,892,000
BTt R #917,717,00078 7T °
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38. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES  38. BUi5 sk it B A 5] & iy & —

AND DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY fi] Fit )& 2w
2020
Deregistration of subsidiaries BUH B 2 Al —EETF
HK$'000
FHET
Net assets of subsidiaries deregistered: BN B AR 2 BEEFE:
Trade receivables, deposits and prepayments  EUE SR - 12 & KB KB 1,115
1,115
Non-controlling interests FEIE AR = (196)
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries (note 6)  BUHE M B AR 2 &8
(Kt3E6) 919
DISPOSAL OF SHENZHEN CHAO MEI LI HEFNTHHERRHRERA
DINING MANAGEMENT LIMITED PR 2 &
During the year, pursuant to an equity transfer agreement RAFE  REBEARE B EFTERE] A
entered into between the Group and Xu Ci Xin, the Group % #E B8 5 17 v 0 AN & B 7R2020F6 H13
completed the disposal of its entire 60% equity interest B & B #FE R ORI Eg R E R
in Shenzhen Chao Mei Li Dining Management Company EEBRAFZEHCONKE BREAR
Limited on 13 June 2020 for an aggregate consideration 235,000/ 7T.

of HK$235,000.
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38. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

(Continued)

DISPOSAL OF CHEERFUL GOAL LIMITED

During the year ended 31 March 2020, pursuant to an
equity transfer agreement entered into between the
Group and Huang Shin En, the Group completed the
disposal of its entire 80% equity interest in Cheerful Goal
Limited on 31 July 2019 for an aggregate consideration of

38. HUIH &k i M 8 2 5] & th & —

] fft B A 8] can)

&S AR
REE-_Z-_FTF=-A=+—HItF
B BREAEEESE T B UNRES
R - N B LAB K (E676,0008 TR
ZE-NFEtA=Z+—HEKEEER
Fmm AR AR 2 2 E80%A%#E

HK$676,000.
2021 2020
B —-F —TTF
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—ERBAF HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&ET
Net assets disposed of: HEZEFE:
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB Mk (MPEE13)

(note 13) 1,081 443
Right-of-use asset (note 15(a)) EAEEE (M3E150@)) 1,989 1,108
Trade receivables, deposits and EWE SRR Ze Rk

prepayments SEARE /L] 350 427
Inventories FE 40 42
Cash and bank balances e RIR1TH R 172 391
Trade payables EE SRR (914) (130)
Other payables, accruals and HiEMRER B ER

deposits received kB RS (5,132) (406)
Balances with non-controlling FEFERR AR R AR RE R R

shareholders, net (5657) (480)
Lease liabilities (note 15(0)) HEaE (ME150)) (2,079) (1,078)

(4,150) 317
Non-controlling interests FEERR R 402 (63)
(3,748) 054
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary mE—RHE A FRE
(note 6) (FMizE6) 3,983 422
235 676
Satisfied by: XA
Offsetting payables to HIEEMNFEMER Be
Xu Ci Xin/Cash 235 676
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38. DEREGISTRATION OF SUBSIDIARIES  38. HR ii§ &F ffft it 8 2 5 K i & —
AND DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY el i B 2~ 8] (%)
(Continued)
An analysis of the net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash EHALEMBRARACRERRESZEE
equivalents during the year in respect of the disposal of B ORE)/ RAFESTIOT
subsidiary is as follows:
2021 2020
—E-—fF —E=F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FHET
Cash consideration received BEREeRE - 676
Cash and bank balances disposed of & H &R & MR1T4E (172) (391)
Net (outflow)/inflow of cash and cash ZFERNHEMB AT ZIHE K&
equivalents during that year in Re&FEEB (RE),/RA
respect of the disposal of subsidiary — J#%8 (172) 285
39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 3. KA el ERMEE
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(A) MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS A FEFEIHE2XH
(@ During the year, the Group had non- @ FRN BHEEMENHEER
cash additions to right-of-use assets and s AEEFERAREE
lease liabilities of HK$34,011,000 (2020: RHEERENI R E jJu
HK$36,325,000) and HK$34,000,000 (2020: Al A&34,011,000% 7T (=
HK$35,957,000), respectively, in respect of — T : 36,325,000/ 7T ) )52
lease arrangements for leased properties. 34,000,000 L (ZE=F
% 135,957,000 7t ) & 7T
(ZFE—NF: 8\
(o) During the year, the Group had non-cash ) FA FEEREBRNHEER

2SN

lease modifications to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities of HK$537,000 (2020:
HK$5,837,000) and HK$537,000 (2020:
HK$5,837,000), respectively, in respect of
lease arrangements for restaurants.

HEn EIJ‘;“HWH%EFW if‘i
sl 7,%537,000,% 7T ( =
--:Ei : 5,837, ooo;%y_c) &
537,000 T (—ZZE =&
5,837,000/ 7T ) °
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39. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 39. ZABEHERMF =0
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)
(B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING B) MEFEHELrZARES
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Balances
with non-
controlling Interest-
shareholders, bearing bank Lease
net borrowings liabilities
FERRR
BE RE HERTEE HESE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEx TEn Tan
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NENA—-A 22,185 1,271,217 162,003
Changes from financing cash flows BEEH REREN 6,011 411,191 (72,292
Decrease arising from ARLE-HRBARSIR
disposal of a subsidiary LR (480) - (1,078)
Non-cash items FH2EH
New leases Mg - - 35,957
Remeasurement BEMiE = = 5,837
Interest expense FER% - - 6,795
Exchange realignment AR 171 (7,196) (2,572)
Termination of leases BERXIE - - (8,369)
At31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020 R =% ; ZEF=A=+-RARk
“E-EENA-H 27,887 1,675,212 126,371
Changes from financing cash flows BERB ASREN 158 (43,028) (58,127)"
Decrease arising from R E—RREARS
disposal of a subsidiary 2D (557) = (2,079)
Gain on lease modification REEFT e - - (8,451)
Non-cash items FH2EH
New leases HHE - - 34,000
Remeasurement B E - - 537
Termination of leases REKIE - - (1,930)
Interest expense MER% - - 4510
COVID-19-related rent concessions from 7 A 5 COVID-1918 B £ E
lessors (8,854)
Exchange realignment 5 AR (99) 6,015 1,670
At 31 March 2021 W-E--%=R=1-H 27,073 1,638,199 87,647
* Includes principal portion paid of HK$53,617,000 * B8 B NASE E1953,617,0007%
(2020: HK$65,497,000) and interest paid of T ( ZF = T4 :65,497,000%8
HK$4,510,000 (2020: HK$6,795,000). 7T) + B E 7 24,510,000 7T
(ZZ=Z4:6,795,000%7T) °
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40. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 40. %X & &

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not
provided for in the financial statements were as follows:

RBEHR RIAMBHRER2KAE
[CLUNNE

2021 2020
—E-—fF —ETF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Guarantees given for mortgage AMEBERERZ
loan facilities granted to property RZIBE R E mEH
purchasers RIE IR 1,858 3,619

The Group has arranged bank financing for certain
purchasers of their property units and provided
guarantees to secure the obligations of these purchasers
for repayments. The guarantees terminate upon either
(i) the issuance of the real estate ownership certificates
which will generally be available within one year upon the
completion of guarantee registration; or (i) the satisfaction
of mortgaged loans by the purchasers of properties.

Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, upon default
in mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group
is responsible for repaying the outstanding mortgage
principals together with any accrued interest and penalty
owed by the defaulted purchasers to the banks and
the banks are entitled to take over the legal titles and
possession of the related properties. The guarantee
period starts from the dates of grant of the mortgages.
The directors of the Company consider that the fair value
of the guarantees is not significant and in the case of
default on payment, the net realisable value of the related
properties will exceed the repayment of the outstanding
mortgage principals together with the accrued interest
and penalties. Therefore, no provision has been made for
the guarantees in the financial statements.

234

AEEDRETERZYMEREMRR
TRE WRHEERAERZSZERRE
TEFREE-AEERR)FHLEERE
(—RREFRELTRE —FR)EL
% K(NMEEREMNRBETIERRL-

U]]ﬁ

RBERGET HZFERERIZBN
P RAKREBREEEARER 2K
BAL BREREMNIRITZEMER
MBREIF MRTAEXETRADE
REMBRENERE FERABRE
RIS A HIERG - AARESRA  ER
ZRFEIFEXN WERAERNKE
o BRMEZ AR FEMER AR
ERRBASEREBAERIRKZE
Ko R BN B H R AL R
B



41.

42.

43.

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z - F - —

COMMITMENTS

The Group had the following capital commitments at the
end of the reporting period:
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41. & &
IR - AL AT A AR :

2021 2020

—E-—F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT

Contracted, but not provided for: ELRTHIME A AR B 4

Property, plant and equipment Y% - B Mk 19,158 25,797
Investment properties "EME 24,373 51,439
Properties under development BRPYE 1,896 13,911
45,427 91,147

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at the end of the reporting period, certain of the
Group’s property, plant and equipment, investment
properties, bank balances, time deposits, and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss with a total
carrying value of approximately HK$2,446,667,000 (2020:
HK$1,811,441,000) were pledged to secure certain
banking, trade finance and other facilities granted to the
Group. In addition, rental income generated in respect
of certain investment properties of the Group has been
assigned to certain banks to secure certain loan facilities
granted to the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(@ In addition to the transactions, arrangements
and balances detailed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following
transactions with related parties during the year:

42. & & #H

RBEEHAR AEEXBFAREEY
2,446,667,0008 L (ZE —_ T F:
1,811,441,0008 L) 2 & TYWE - K&
BB REWE  BITEH THER
UARZAFEINREMRBEETEREEZ ©
BMEECERE (EAAEEMERSE
FRIT EIRMEREMEEZER-
N REEEREEE TIREME A
%H&z ST A THRIT ERASBMER
ETERRE ZER-

13. FREANL XS

@ KBRECHERNZEVBHRREMEL
MR 5 RHE RGN NEE

HAEREATRFEFRET TR
5

Notes

B E

2020
ZE-TF
HK$’000
TET

Rentals paid to related NHEESHEBERT
companies

Sales of goods to related  [AIBAE A 7 #HE &S M
companies

2,715

885

3,704
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43. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)
(@ (Continued)

()  The rentals paid to related companies were
made based on mutually agreed terms. The
related companies are controlled by a director
of a subsidiary of the Group.

(i) The selling price was determined based on
mutually agreed terms. The related companies
are controlled by a director of a subsidiary of
the Group.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i)  The amounts due to directors are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

(i) The amounts due from/to non-controlling
shareholders are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

(i)  Details of the amounts due from associates
and loans to an associate as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 17 to the
financial statements.

(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the

43. HEANLER S ()

(@)

(%)

M

RBEHRAEZHERNT
BEQRZES - BERFT)
HARE—FHHBRRZ—
REEEH -

REETRBEZGREEE
B -BEARAAEE—H
MEBARZ —RESZEH -

HAREAL 2 REERH:

(i)

ENESFRASEER 28
RIRBERERE -

FE Uy B A< SE ¥ AR A% SR K18
REER RERZERE

PR & HI K e Wi B 2 2 =) R
ARG T—HBERRZE
RAFBEEHR M ®ER W
17 °

AREBTEZEIRAE Z R

236

Group:
2021 2020
—E-—F ZTZTF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Short term employee benefits 55 BA1E E 12 F 12,512 15,622
Post-employment benefits ERIREF 206 234
Equity-settled share option NS E R ERER S
expense 691 518
Total compensation paid to key B FEEERE AR
management personnel 4R B 13,409 16,374
Further details of directors’ emoluments are included BEMe 2 E—FHBHRYBER

in note 8 to the financial statements.

EA R
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 44 HEE#RNZz2M T H

CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of

TR RBENSBITANBERR

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period B BR E 1A
are as follows:
2021 =B —F
Financial assets SREE
Financial Financial
assets at assets at
fair value fair value
through through other
profit or loss Financial comprehensive
- Mandatorily assets at income
designated amortised - Equity
as such cost investments Total
BAFEIE
BEEE kREMZE
BATESIE BAREZ
RRERPRE SEHR AL SREE
MemEE BHEREE -EERE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn FEx TEn TEn
Due from associates BB & DR RE - 394,369 - 394,369
Loans to an associate BTY-BBENTZER - 41,680 - 41,680
Equity investments designated at fair value through 15 A& A FEFIH K
other comprehensive income REM2ZARAFREZ
BERE - - 154,168 154,168
Financial assets at fair value through profit orloss & A FEFE kB
RENCREE 223,990 - - 223,990
Trade receivables B E 5 R - 31,662 - 31,662
Financial assets included in other receivables, FARMERES BER
deposits and prepayment BRFECEBEE - 238,410 - 238,410
Due from directors EREEHE - 4,779 = 4,179
Due from non-controling shareholders SRR B - 8,280 - 8,280
Structured deposits HREEER 149,649 - - 149,649
Restricted cash XBRHRE - 106 - 106
Pledged time deposits BEETHER - 44,823 - 44,823
Cash and bank balances Re RBTEH - 413,573 - 413,573
373,639 1,177,682 154,168 1,705,489

a3
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 4. BRIz T R @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T AE—BENSRTANSRSER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2021 —E-—
Financial liabilities tRAaR
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
P8 £
RAFHEN
EA =i
HK$’000
FET
Trade payables JERTE Z RN 43,945
Financial liabilities included in other payables, FFAEMENERR BT EA R
accruals and deposits received Blizerema®E 227,065
Due to non-controlling shareholders FE A FEVE AR AR 3R 3B 35,353
Interest-bearing bank borrowings WEZIRITEE 1,638,199
Lease liabilities HEBE 87,647
2,032,209
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 4. RNz T R @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of Ty AE—BEMNSRTANRSER

financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)
are as follows: (Continued)

2020 —ETF
Financial assets TREE
Financial
Financial assets at
assets at fair value
fair value through through other
profit or loss Financial comprehensive
- Mandatorily assets at income
designated amortised - Equity
as such cost investments Total
HATER
SIS E RREM2E
RRTESIER L\ON:5:vd
RRBHERERE B SR ARG SREE
NeREE EMeREE ~BEakE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FAT THT TAT
Due from associates JEUH & AR 2 B - 320,801 - 320,801
Loans to an associate RT-BBELAZER - 43,437 - 43,437
Equity investments designated at fair value through 57 A% /A FEFI 8 J2
other comprehensive income REMZERAREEZ
BaRkE - - 143,229 143,229
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss & A F{&5I 8 kA B %S
REMSREAE 185,995 - - 185,995
Trade receivables W E 5 8&H - 52,245 - 52,245
Financial assets included in other receivables, SARMERES e R
deposits and prepayment BENRE SREE - 348,43 - 348,243
Due from directors EMESTE - 5,984 - 5984
Due from non-controling shareholders PR IRIR R 50 0E = 6 = 6
Structured deposits ERIEER 241,103 - - 241,108
Restricted cash XRHHRE - 167 - 167
Pledged time deposits BEATHER - 34,696 - 34,696
Cash and bank balances Re RFTER - 245,895 - 245,895
427,098 1,051,474 143,229 1,621,801
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44. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 4. BRIz T R @
CATEGORY (Continued)
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of T AE—BENSRTANSRSER
financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period WEREE: (&)

are as follows: (Continued)

2020 T -TF
Financial liabilities TRBE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised
cost
LA 55
PR AEHE R
CRIBE
HK$ 000
FET
Trade payables FERTE SRR 51,987
Financial liabilities included in other payables, STAEMEMIR  EEERA K&
accruals and deposits received Blikezemans 261,082
Due to directors JETE I8 654
Due to non-controlling shareholders JE < FE 12 IR AR 3R 5K I8 27,893
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M EZRITEE 1,675,212
Lease liabilities HERE 126,371

2,143,199
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45. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s management is responsible for determining
the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. At each reporting
date, management analyses the movements in the values
of financial instruments and determines the major inputs
applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and
approved by management.

The fair value of a financial instrument is the amount at
which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

Management has assessed that the carrying amounts
of financial assets included in trade receivables, other
receivables and deposits, loans to an associate, amounts
due from associates, amounts due from directors,
amounts due from non-controlling shareholders, restricted
cash, pledged time deposits, cash and bank balances,
trade payables, financial liabilities included in other
payables, accruals and deposits received, amounts due
to directors, amounts due to non-controlling shareholders,
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities
reasonably approximate to their fair values largely due to
the short term maturities/no fixed terms of repayment of
these instruments or because the effect of discounting
not reflected in the carrying amounts of these instruments
are not material. The fair values of the non-current portion
of financial assets included in other receivables, deposits,
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities have
been calculated and assessed mainly by discounting
the expected future cash flows using rates currently
available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities, as appropriate. The changes in fair
value as a result of the Group’s own non-performance
risk for finance lease payables, interest-bearing bank
borrowings and lease liabilities as at 31 March 2021 and
31 March 2020 were assessed to be insignificant.

45.

SR LTAZAFMHERATH
J& %

AEBEREEREBTERIANTE
SFECZBRNMER -RNEHMESEH &1
ErtremTAZEEEYUBTHE
FERAZIEBABE HEREEE
=B M -

ERMITANAFERZTIARENRS
RETBRETRS GRRFEERE T
) AIRBHEEARK

EREETETACREECESRENK
BRFK - A BUER R RIZS « 44 T —
ENERE K Y E QAR FRIE
JEWNZE E IR - FEUIEIE R AR R 5RIE - &
REIRE BEBEHER Re RiRT
EH EBNEZERKRFAZEBNEZ
HthEMER Bt BRARE KRS
JEREE B B IEERRRKIE
MEZIRITEE UKHEGENERER
B FTERIPERE ZEIATE
BEEFARIEALERZETLE KR
HERMZIFTRTERMTIEE WA
FTEEEEZEAEAEBER AR
FEEMEWARK - = B2 IRITE
ERHEREZIFANNA,EREEY
ATEXZEREAEBEMUER F
BEEBR KRS TR (@A) 2 TAMN
ERA BRI RBHARRERE
AERAE - RZE—F=A=+—
Bh—_ZE-_ZTF=ZA=+—H K5£HE
RENREEE WEZRITEERME
EHB2AFTBARKBUE N FENR
BT MBI TEK-
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45. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

45. e TR A FH k2 FHE

242

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of listed equity and debt investments
classified as equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income/financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are based on quoted
market prices. The fair values of unlisted investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and structured deposits that are stated at fair
value are based on market values/fair values provided by
financial institutions.

The fair values of unlisted investments designated at fair
value through other comprehensive income have been
estimated using the asset-based approach based on
assumptions that are not supported by observable market
prices or rates. The valuation approaches require the
directors to analyse the value of the underlying assets
which is then discounted for considerations such as
marketability.

Below is a summary of the significant unobservable input
to the valuation of financial instruments together with a
quantitative sensitivity analysis as at 31 March 2021 and
31 March 2020:

J& & (m)

DEBEERAFEINEMAEMEE
WARERRIEZ FitEm RESKENA
FE/RA $EW$&FE@¢F@W
CREENAFERMSHRETE -2
BRARATEIRENBETRENS
ﬂé?%%im&é&ﬁ@$@£ﬂm

RRUEFFRNAFERSBEEMIEH
mmﬁ/ FEE-

BERAFEIEREREMEEBAT
BRI 23 EM IR BN A FEEREAE
EMESFREIARAIFHNBRREREE
%%&ﬁﬁ'%ﬁﬁﬁ&xi%% oxil
BEZMEBEME EHEERERNTS
MABMEZERERELITE

XA mTAGENERNTAERE
WABBERN T -_—F=A=+—
BR_Z_ZF=-A=1+—BWNELEK
RE DM

Significant valuation Significant
technique unobservable input Range
BRAGERLM FABEBARE gE
2021 2020
—EB--F —T-TF
Unlisted investments Asset-based approach Discount for lack of 35% 35%

marketability

FEMERE BEER)
As at 31 March 2021, it was estimated that with all other
variables held constant, a decrease/increase in discount
for lack of marketability by 1% would result in increase/
decrease in the Group’s other comprehensive income by
approximately HK$533,000 (2020: HK$600,000).

Rz E R AR

ﬂ:z:—¢2ﬂ2+—a’%%ﬁﬁ

%ﬁ@&%%ﬂ&/@M%%§ﬁ$%
& > = 2 E U AL A, 5 4 #9533,000
BT (—Z —Z 4 : 600,000 7T ) °
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45. e T RZAFH R A FH

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL J& & (=)

INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY 2N F 1 JE R

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TREAAEESRIAZ ATERE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: B

Financial assets measured at fair value:
As at 31 March 2021

BAVHESEZ & MEE:
R-E-—fF=F=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AVLEHERRA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable  unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

RERMS EXTEE EXFUEE
ZHE BARE BAHE

(%5-8) (=) (=) okl
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TR TR T#R TR

Equity investments designated at fair value BERATEIRRREM
through other comprehensive income FHRAREZ EREE 119,511 - 34,657 154,168
Structured deposits ERMER - 149,649 - 149,649

Financial assets at fair value through BRTETIRRAERES

profit o loss BEZEHBEE 181,750 42,240 s 223,990
301,261 191,889 34,657 527,807

As at 31 March 2020

RZF-_FF=ZA=+—H

Fair value measurement using

AFEHEEA
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
R B T5 BAMEE EATHEE
8B BARE BARE

(B—18) (B=RE) (B=E) fek
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT THEx FHET TR

Equity investments designated at fair value EERATEIRRREM
through other comprehensive income 2EABAREZERTE 104,225 - 39,004 143,229
Structured deposits BEENER - 241,103 - 241,103

Financial assets at fair value through BRTETIR IR ERES

profit or loss REZCREE 148,522 37,473 = 185,995

262,747 278,576 39,004 570,327
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46.

244

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank borrowings, and cash and bank
balances. The main purpose of these financial instruments
is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group
has various other financial assets and liabilities such as
trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly
from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk,
credit risk, liquidity risk and equity price risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each
of these risks and they are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rate risks relates primarily to the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings with floating interest rates.
The effective interest rates and terms of repayment of
the interest-bearing bank borrowings of the Group are
disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements. Interest
rate risk is managed on an ongoing basis with the primary
objective of limiting the extent to which net interest
expense could be affected by adverse movements in
interest rates.

Assuming the bank borrowings outstanding at the end
of the reporting period were outstanding for the whole
year, a 100 basis point increase/decrease in interest rates
would decrease/increase the Group'’s profit before tax for
the current year by approximately HK$16,382,000 (2020:
HK$16,752,000).

In the opinion of the directors, the sensitivity to the interest
rate used above is considered reasonable with the other
variables held constant.

6. W o A By B H R K R

AEEZTESHTABEMEZRT
EE UEBRERBRTER -ZFER
TRAZIZENRRAKERKEERE
T AKRENTELZHRHEEBREBEL L
HiteMEENAG PIMEKE 5K
AN ENE R

AEEeBRIAS R ETRRERSH X
Rk SMNERR  EERR - RBESE
MR ERR EFTESRHALABER
7 EE R BOR - Btk o

EN
AEBEE < HIG5M S ER T RS
RSB FHMEFBZRITEE-
AEEZHERITEREZERN R RE
BRI BB I 75 Rk BT RES0 © FI R [
B EREER TEARRARMG
NMEFRXFRXNETINESZE 212
o

RERNMEBREREEZRITEE
REEFE AR EE - BFIEE 0,5
VI0EEBHESAEBRAEREE 2K
Tt A1 2 AR >, 18 0 %916,382,00078 7T
(ZZE-FF 16,752,000/ 7T °

EERH REMBERHTE 2 ER
T IR R 2 FIRBUE IR AR TE
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46. W i by HE R BUR
(%)
hh s R B

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong and Mainland
China with most of the Group’s monetary assets,
liabilities and transactions principally denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi (‘RMB”). The Group
does not anticipate significant transactional currency
exposures as the majority of the sales, purchases,
costs and expenditure incurred by the operating units
of the Group are denominated in the units’ functional
currencies, except for the outstanding consideration
receivable in relation to the disposal of Hunan Carrianna
of approximately RMB104,858,000 (equivalent to
HK$114,473,000) in the prior year, after taking into
account the effect of discounting. The Group has not
used any derivative to hedge its exposure to foreign
currency risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in
the RMB exchange rate on the consideration receivable
from the disposal of Hunan Carrianna with all other
variables held constant, of the Group’s profit before tax.

REEBFEEEBRTPEAELE M
REBRBOEKEE BERXSE
EUBTEARE (AR FHE K
SEEEBEMNEE T NIDHE  HE -
A R 2 A% & B B A 2 T BE B AT
B Atk AL E T &S K/NE R B
(REFERTEPREEDBER 2 M
RIUCER FE AR B 4) A R % 104,858,0007T
(*H* 114,473,000 7T) (&5 &I
WEE)RIN) - ANEEWLERAEMA
PTHE T AEhEINE R R o

TRETNRRE R L SRR EER
ZREREANARBEXRNSIEA 8L
S8 EMEEMEERFTIENBENR
N AR EBR B ATGEF A SRR

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in RMB rate before tax
AR® BRBE A=
FE(B2E) #®m CED)
% HK$’000
[ERadse FHERT
2020 —T_FF
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens WBETHARKERE
against RMB 5) 5,724
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens  fi#i7& 7T 55 A R FHE
against RMB (5) (5,724)
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

246

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK

The Group trades mainly with recognised and
creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that
customers who wish to trade on credit terms are
subject to credit verification procedures, as appropriate.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an
ongoing basis.

For properties that are still under development, the Group
typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with
individual customers’ borrowing of mortgage loans to
finance their purchase of the properties for an amount
up to 80% of the total purchase price of the properties.
If a purchaser defaults on the payment of its mortgage
loan during the term of the guarantee, the bank holding
the mortgage loan may demand the Group to repay the
outstanding amount under the loan and any accrued
interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is
able to retain the customer’s deposits and sell the related
property to recover any amounts paid by the Group to the
bank. Unless the selling price would drop by no less than
20%, the Group would not be in a loss position in selling
the property out and in this regard, the directors of the
Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is largely
mitigated.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the
maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s
credit policy, which is mainly based on past due
information unless other information is available without
undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification
as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

46.

B %5 ) B PR H R R B
()

f5 & Ja b
AEETERNLARERFNESS
BT 5 - RIRREEE B EREH
BRITRSNE S AKBRE N EE
BREAZF o Loh - AR B B SR P A
o

RERTHEME  AEEET HE 5
EFRBENEMEBEMELNRIEBEE
?’ME AR ERRITIREER  MER

K= SYMEBBEENB% - R
EEF\TW%HH R EERBERELN

EIJHE&TEE RHVERTT A RE & BSR AL
BEEEFAE TR REERARLZLER

IEE!’JETTf;Hr%W UL FEAR T A
SEARBFFPONREL HEBMEL
EMEEREM AARE SIS FIRITHIR
B BRIFEETREADN20% AEEBT
SEHEZVERAZBL Bt K
RABEERRAEENEERBRARR
-

N R
TRETNR=ZA=1T—HAREBELAEEN
13%&5(% (EENBHER BELE  BRIF
EEBZRALE NN ESEAM
ﬁﬂﬁ'ba{/ﬁ%u RIMNEELENREER
B ERUARFRERD B -FIREREA
TREEZREARE-



Notes to Consolidated Fi}lancial Statemenfs
G4 M & W

Year ended 31 March 2021 BZ=-F-—F=H=+—HIFF&E

46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. W7 A by H AR ROBOK
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (4)
CREDIT RISK (Continued) f5 B R By (a0
Maximum exposure and year-end staging Ja B b PR B 5 A B S s
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2021 R-ZEBZ—F=ZA=+—H
12-month Lifetime
ECLs ECLs
12BRAEH ZHEY
FEER FEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-RB FTRRB FERB S &t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TRT TRT TRT TRT TET

Due from associates** e D B 2 OB 394,369 - - - 394,369
Loans to an associate** BF-BBEELR2ER 41,680 - - - 41,680
Trade receivables* EWESER - - - 56,204 56,204
Financial assets included in other TARMERERR BER

receivables, deposits and prepayments** ENFEZ EBEE™ 223,504 - 31,973 - 255,477
Due from directors** ERESHE 4,779 - - - 4,779
Due from non-controlling shareholders** & U 3£ 42 B% It R 08+ 8,280 - - - 8,280
Restricted cash” FRHEARE" 106 - - - 106
Pledged time deposits" BEACHER" 44,823 - - - 44,823
Cash and bank balances" RERRITHER 413,573 - - - 413,573

1,131,114 = 31,973 56,204 1,219,291

a3
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

—FSAS+—AUEE

46. W % i by &

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CREDIT RISK (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

(Continued)
As at 31 March 2020

LR Y 3§
(4)

& &R ca)
i Bg b IR R 4 K B % (8)

R-_F-_FF=ZA=+—H

12-month Lifetime

ECLs ECLs

128 A BH ZHEH

FEFE FEFE

Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
F-RER FoRBR FZRBR Bt A% &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THT THT
Due from associates™ NI A Ll 320,801 = = = 320,801
Loans to an associate™ BT —REBE AR ER 43437 = = = 43437
Trade receivables* KB 583 - - - 78,890 78,890
Financial assets included in other receivables, &t AE (YR &L K

deposits and prepayments*™ BRRBEZEREE" 348,243 = = = 348,243
Due from directors™ EREEFTE 5,984 = = = 5,984
Due from non-controlling shareholders* RN IR B AR SR 6 - - - 6
Restricted cash” XBHIRS" 167 = = = 167
Pledged time deposits” BEATHEER 34,696 = = = 34,696
Cash and bank balances" Re RBITES 245,895 = = = 245,895
999,229 - - 78,890 1,078,119

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the
simplified approach for impairment, information based on
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial
statements.

= The credit quality of the financial instruments is considered
“normal”, as they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial instruments had a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.

Not yet past due

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s
exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables are
disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

Y HRASBERBBRET AR EK
B 5 8R HRAR A RE e B AR 5
KM T3 4R EE o

O SRIANGEREERREARIL
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. M % W By & H R R R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK REE2 R
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds rEEEEReREERBENIHA
by considering the maturity of its financial assets and NRFEFREMERERHEES R
liabilities and projected cash flows. e
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between AEERBRRBERERRITREME
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank B HESHAMEEEE 2 FAIET
and other borrowings. 10
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at TERAEFASERDEHRNESRAE"
the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual & QRITBA RETE R R BB R -
undiscounted payments, is as follows:
2021
—E--F
Within 1 year
or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
— T -5
FRERE ZRE EELE @t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
TER TERT TER TET
Trade payables EHESER 43,945 - - 43,945
Financial liabilities included in other FTAHMEMRR B ER
payables, accruals and deposits received REWEEZERMEE 223,662 3,403 - 227,065
Due to non-controlling shareholders EEFERRRAE 35,353 - - 35,353
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 30) 5.z 8BTEE (H330) 1,079,859 558,340 - 1,638,199
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank HfE 2 BTEEZ
borrowings FEXf 16,782 2,985 - 19,767
Lease liabilities HEER 46,935 44,544 5,889 97,368
Guarantees given to banks in connection ~ FYIEEZEREEM
with facilities granted to property BRTELER
purchasers 1,858 - - 1,858
1,448,394 609,272 5,889 2,063,555
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. M % W by & H R R R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) g RSN EE D)
2020
kSt 23
Within 1 year
or on demand 1105 years Over 5 years Total
—EHT —F
FREKE ZHF AENE ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET THx FTHET TR
Trade payables ERE SRR 51,087 - - 51,987
Financial liabilities included in other payables, &t AE MR - FE:T B
accruals and deposits received kEMZEzeREE 256,787 4,295 - 261,082
Due to directors ENEEHE 654 - - 654
Due to non-controlling shareholders IR R 5R 27,893 - - 27,893
Interest-bearing bank borrowings (note 30) fit 2 2 RITIEE (FIEE30) 1,000,079 657,359 17,774 1,675,212
Interest payments on interest-bearing bank MEZRTEEZ
borrowings FEZR 35,361 42,408 51 77,820
Lease liabilities HEBE 65,705 52,599 8,406 126,710
Guarantees given to banks in connection with ~ SN L EREREEM
facilities granted to property purchasers mRATIELER 3,619 - - 3,619

1,442,085 756,661 26,231 2,224,977
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 46. B A b B B HE R R
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued) (%)
LIQUIDITY RISK (Continued) REE2ERE &
Note: Included in interest-bearing bank borrowings are term izt MEZRITEEPBEAREEBED

loans with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$360,205,000 (2020: HK$211,648,000). The loan
agreements contain repayment on-demand clauses giving
the banks the unconditional right to call in the loans at any
time and therefore, for the purpose of the above maturity
profile, the total amount is classified as “on demand” and
has been classified as current liabilities.

Notwithstanding the above clauses, the directors do not
believe that the loans will be called in entirety within 12
months, and they consider that the loans will be repaid
in accordance with the maturity dates as set out in the
loan agreements. This evaluation was made considering
the financial position of the Group at the date of approval
of the financial statements; the Group’s compliance with
the loan covenants; the lack of events of default, and the
fact that the Group has made all previously scheduled
repayments on time.

In accordance with the terms of the loans which contain
repayment on-demand clauses, the maturity profile of
those loans as at the end of the reporting period, based on
the contractual undiscounted payments and ignoring the
effect of any repayment on-demand clauses, is as follows:

360,205,000 T2 EHPER (=ZE=
T : 211,648,000 7T) - E R
BE—E—KRERAEBTIER 4
FERITEAR BB R EE TR - B
et A B EAE RS 2 PRIETY
A MEER] RESEARE AR -

EEBN LG EEXTRAZA
ERER12E A ARERE2HEBE -
EXZRR/REERUREBEER G H
PRl B H B 58 - ZAT S E BA
SEAEHREMBRRE B ZMBERK
M AREEETERZL WEED
TR RARE—BERFETHAL
AR o

1B iR —E— @ B AR R
BB RGBS R S
BAA KR TR AT 33T R 2 B
BB B2 AE T (5 2 B MBI B R
mT -

Within 1 year

or on demand 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
—EHTH -

RERE ZRE BENE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TER
As at 31 March 2021 RZZZ—%5=A=+—H 161,922 170,665 41,502 374,089
As at 31 March 2020 RZZ-TE=A=+—H 106,177 86,067 36,588 228,832
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NTItiL .

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels
of equity indices and the values of individual securities.
The Group was exposed to equity price risk arising
from individual listed equity investments classified as
equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income (note 18) and listed equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (note 19) as at 31 March 2021.

The Group’s listed investments are listed on the Hong
Kong, Shenzhen and Shanghai stock exchanges and are
valued at quoted market prices at the end of the reporting
period.

The market equity index for the following stock
exchanges, at the close of business of the nearest trading

46.

Bt B B B E AR R BOK
(8)

fix 18 Bz

BB 7 8 4 L o AR R 9 BOK F %

FBEFEECEIMEBRAZS 2
AREETHZRAR RZTE=_—F=A
=+—H AEEMEH2BRAELR
R IR E DB AETERAFESERER
E%EEWAE@Z%\&Q/TT
BIRE (MizF18) 2 @R EmEz=RE &
DEARATEIERNEBERTEE .
TREE (19 P L hiERIRE -
AEBW EMEREERSE RIKLES
%?Q%%Lﬁ&ﬁ%ﬁ%%imﬁ%
WEME

MEBLHFEHE (RFRNEREHRZ &
TKLX% AEXERERERTE)  KFARZ

day in the year to the end of the reporting period, and the e MEREEENT
respective highest and lowest points during the year were
as follows:
High/low High/low
during the during the
Asat  year ended As at year ended
31 March 31 March 31 March 31 March
2021 2021 2020 2020
REZE NS
—E--fF 3
ZA=t-H =RA=+-H
R-ZB=-% LEER |R-_T-TF IEFER
=ZA=t-H 28/ |[=ZA=+—-8 &/ {E
Hong Kong - Hang Seng Index EBEE—fBEEY 28,378 31,183/22,520 23,603 30,280/21,139
Shenzhen - SZSE Component Index SE 1| — S8 &5 X 36 FE & 13,779  16,293/9,897 9,962 11,869/8,557
Shanghai - SSE Composite Index |5 — &4 4188 3,442  3,732/2,720 2,750  3,288/2,646
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

EQUITY PRICE RISK (Continued)

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to every
5% change in the fair values of the equity investments,
with all other variables held constant and before any
impact on tax, based on their carrying amounts at the end
of the reporting period. For the purpose of this analysis,
for the listed equity investments designated at fair value
through other comprehensive income, the impact is
deemed to be on the fair value reserve.

46. Bt % Ja by B H A R BUK
(40)

J 18 8 Be can)
TRERFTA A B BRI T R Rt
SEMBBIYET REEFZRERN
IR Y IR WENRE Y AT
B HI5%E B Y FURE - BAD N
2 HEF R A FEYIE RS2 A
BRIy FHERINAT S BEEBR
BAHATERBERTE-

Carrying
amount Changes Increase/
of equity in profit decrease
investments before tax in equity*
ERRE
REE BREAERN2E BAE/ B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT THL FAEL
2021 it 2
Investments listed in: LEHRER:
Hong Kong - Equity investment at fair value &8~ E 2 E U A
thought other comprehensive REZEHRE
income (note 18) (BizE18) 119,511 - 5,976
Hong Kong - Financial assets at fair value BE-REHETREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (:19) 74,230 3,712 -
Shanghai - Financial assets at fair value LE-RERTREZ
through profit or loss (note 19) SREE (:19) 4,728 236 -
2020 ZT-%%
Investments listed in: LTRER:
Hong Kong - Equity investment at fair value &8 — A E 4 2 E U AP
through other comprehensive REZEHRE
income (note 18) (MiE18) 104,225 - 5211
- Financial assets at fair value -RERPREL
through profit or loss cREE
(note 19) (PiEE19) 48,404 2,420 =
Shenzhen - Financial assets at fair value ~ RII-REBEPREZ
through profit or loss cREE
(note 19) (B5E19) 943 47 =
Shanghai - Financial assets at fairvalue - REFEFEEZ
through profit or loss cREE
(note 19) (B5E19) 1125 56 =
* Excluding effect on retained profits * TERERBRMNZFE
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46.

254

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group's capital
management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its businesses and
maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying
assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. The
Group is not subject to any externally imposed capital
requirements except for the undertaking by the Company
under a banking facility letter granted to a subsidiary
of the Group to maintain a minimum consolidated
tangible net worth of HK$3,000,000,000 (2020:
HK$3,000,000,000), which has been complied with
during the year. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020.

46.
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46. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

47.

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio,
which is defined as the Group’s interest-bearing bank
borrowings, net of cash and bank balances, structured
deposits, restricted cash and pledged time deposits as a
percentage of the Group’s total equity. The gearing ratios

46. B B by o E AR R BOOK

(#)

EAEH @)

AEBMNAERBEL R (AAKEKNE
ZRITEERBR S MRITER GBI
R XREBIRE MO EIRERERR
HAEERGREZADLL) BEER
EIEM - RIERREANBBLRWT -

as at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2021 2020

—t —E-FF

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

B 5 FERT FHET

Interest-bearing bank borrowings Fff & 2 1T E 30 1,638,199 1,675,212
Less: Cash and bank balances & : I & & R 1745 &% 26 (413,573) (245,895)
Structured deposits HEEBMETR 20 (149,649) (241,103)
Restricted cash ZRHIBEE 26 (106) (167)
Pledged time deposits EHEFEBHFR 26 (44,823) (34,696)

Net debt =R 1,030,048 1,153,351
Total equity EmRE 3,831,208 3,563,004
Gearing ratio BEXRBELE 27% 32%

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING A7. FEY B EN

PERIOD

On 21 June 2021, DL Securities (HK) Limited (the
“Placing Agent”) and the Company entered onto a
placing agreement pursuant to which the Placing Agent
conditionally agreed to procure, on a best effort basis,
placees to subscribe for the convertible bonds to be
issued by the Company in an aggregate principal amount
of up to HK$75,425,251.80 at the initial conversion price
of HK$0.60. The interest rate is 3% per annum payable
on a semi-annual basis and the maturity date is the date
of the second anniversary of the issue date. Please refer
to the Company’s announcement dated 21 June 2021 for
further details.

R-ZE-—EXA-+—H EHNBEE
(BB)ARA A ([RERE])ERR
AFIVESHE B EEREES
BHEREZRENEE RIS EIRE0L
BT R EAEARBRAAGEITA
t BB & % 575,425,251.8058 JT 2 ]
BMRES IR F N EI%FT B FFFX
T -REETHBRE ME —HAFER o
FEBLEARQRBHA-T - —F X
AZ+—BzR%-
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47.

256

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING
PERIOD (Continued)

On 24 June 2021, Tak Sing Asia Inc. (“Tak Sing”), a direct
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, as purchaser,
entered into the sale and purchase agreement with
Quentin Tsang, as vendor, in relation to the sale and
purchase of the sale shares and sale loan of Power Aim
Holdings Limited (“Power Aim”) (“SPA (Power Aim)”).
On the same day, Tak Sing, as vendor, entered into the
sale and purchase agreement with Jun Gao Holdings
Company Limited (“Jun Gao”), as purchaser, in relation
to the sale shares of Fine Trade Developments Limited
(“Fine Trade”) (“SPA (Fine Trade)”). The formation of such
joint venture companies is to engage in the holding of
the property at the twelfth floor and flat roof B2 on the
seventh floor of Tower Two of Ever Gain Plaza No.88
Container Port Road, Hong Kong with a total gross floor
area of approximately 29,919 sq.ft. (the “Property”) and
the operation of data centre business on the Property.

The aggregate consideration for the sale and purchase
of the sale shares (representing 87% of the issued share
capital of Power Aim) and the sale loan (representing 87%
of the shareholder’s loan due by Power Aim to Quentin
Tsang) under the SPA (Power Aim) is in the amount of
HK$11,773,773. The consideration for the sale and
purchase of the sale shares (representing 13% of the
issued share capital of Fine Trade) under the SPA (Fine
Trade) is HK$101.

Pursuant to the shareholders’ agreement of Power Aim,
Tak Sing and Quentin Tsang shall provide unsecured
interest-free shareholder’s loans of HK$21,750,000 and
HK$3,250,000 respectively to Power Aim. In addition, Tak
Sing shall provide an additional unsecured shareholder’s
loan of HK$82,000,000 to Power Aim, which shall carry
interest at the rate of 3% per annum. Pursuant to the
shareholders’ agreement of Fine Trade, Tak Sing and Jun
Gao shall provide unsecured interest-free shareholder’s
loans of HK$21,750,000 and HK$3,250,000 respectively
to Fine Trade.

Further details of the above were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 24 June 2021.

47.

WmEHEEE @

R-ZZTE-—F,xA=-+MA Tak Sing
Asia Inc. ([Tak Singl) (RAAREEZ
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 48. AN El Zz M BRI &«

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

R|EBRKR RRAB M BEIRRK 2 E

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: BT
2021 2020
—E-—F —EEF
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT F&T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries M B A FlAERS 1,999,575 1,965,095
Total non-current assets IERBEERE 1,999,575 1,965,095
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Other receivables, deposits and H b EUER K -
prepayments e MIERFRIAE 1,277 49
Due from a subsidiary JE Uk — FEI B /B R B3R I8 80,000 80,000
Cash and bank balances He MIRTTE R 126,457 1,753
Total current assets MEEERE 207,734 81,802
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings e ZIR{TIEE (154,262) (127,577)
Other payables and accruals HE SRR ERER (8,194) (8,973)
Due to directors BN EERIE (94,727) (9,369)
Total current liabilities mBBEBE (257,183) (145,919)
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFHE (49,449) (64,117)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT XEHZERABAMR
LIABILITIES 1,950,126 1,900,978
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBEE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings e ZRITIEE (87,203) (39,978)
Due to associates FETESE 2 A A 3RIR (182,597) (180,934)
Total non-current liabilities EMBBEEE (269,800) (220,912)
Net assets BEFE 1,680,326 1,680,066
EQUITY =
Issued capital BB TR 138,280 125,709
Reserves (note) fFEfE (PfaE) 1,542,046 1,554,357
Total equity R aE 1,680,326 1,680,066
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48. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL

POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

48. A& 2 H) Z B B K I A

)

Note: B 5T
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: AARZEBHENT :
Share Capital Share
premium  Contributed redemption option Retained
account surplus reserve reserve profits Total
RAEEE EHEH EABOREE BRERE  REEN @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THr T Thn THr TEn THn
At 1 April 2019 RZE-NEFNA-A 1,397,359 59,759 316 3,799 155,547 1,616,780
Loss for the year and total TrEEBRRAEE
comprehensive loss for the year 2ABEAE - - - - (25,443) (25,443)
Equity-settled share option arrangements WX %8 2 ERERH - - - 733 - 733
Final 2019 dividend “T-NERBRE - - - = (37,713) (37,713)
At31 March 2020 and at 1 April 2020 R-E-FF=B=+-AK
R-Z-EEMA-H 1,397,359 59,759 316 4,532 92,391 1,554,357
Loss for the year and total AEEFBERAEE
comprehensive loss for the year 2AFRAE - - - - (18,729) (18,729)
Equity-settled share option arrangements A% £ E 2 BRER # - - - 866 - 866
Issue of shares upon placing of shares EERGBRITHRHA 43,265 - - - - 43,265
Final 2020 dividend —E-BERYURE - - - - ey L)
At 31 March 2021 R-BE--£=ZF=+-H 1,440,624 59,759 316 5,398 35,949 1,542,046

The contributed surplus of the Company arose as a
result of the Group reorganisation on 12 August 1991
and represented the difference between the nominal
value of the share capital issued by the Company and
the combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group reorganisation, less the effects of

the bonus issue of shares in previous years.
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48.

49.

Year ended 31 March 2021 #Z —

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as
amended), the contributed surplus is distributable to
shareholders under certain specific circumstances.

The share option reserve comprises the fair value of
share options granted which are yet to be exercised, as
further explained in the accounting policy for share-based
payments in note 2.4 to the financial statements. The
amount will either be transferred to the share premium
account when the related options are exercised, or be
transferred to retained profits should the related options
expire or be forfeited.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised
for issue by the board of directors on 29 June 2021.

48.

49.

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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Schedule of Principal Properties

FTEYEBE

31 March 2021 —ZFE_-—F=A=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group

as at 31 March 2021 are as follows:

Name/location

BB/

Tenure

ERHE

Type
A

R-E-_—F=ZA=+—BAKEFAENT
BREMEFBEWT

Approx. gross
floor area

HREEROR
(m?)
(F7XK)

Effective
% held
BERES
Bt

Stage of
completion

52 7 P R

Hong Kong
B

Unit B, 26th Floor

Wyler Centre, Phase I

200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories
R

KB E2005%
BfaP.0E 5

2612B=E

Ground Floor and Cockloft
61 South Wall Road
Kowloon City, Kowloon
NENEWIHMEE
G155 T R A&

Shop on Ground Floor
No. 188 Hai Tan Street
Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
NEERKS

ygiokeal

1885k 1 4

15th Floor and

Car park space No. 5
Young Ya Industrial Building
381-389 Sha Tsui Road
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
MAEE

0 1H #E381-3895%
BOTERE

158 &

T S 55R B L

Notes:

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

RHETEA

Medium term lease

RHETEA

Medium term lease

IR A

Medium term lease

R

I¥

GES

[GES

I¥

1,568

87

114

2,694

B &

100

100

60

100

Completed

[R5359

Completed

[R5359

Completed

B

Completed

MEFER 1% R—EE C—E%



Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWEME

31 March 2021 —ZF_-—F=HA=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -ZE-—F=A=+—HAEBFAENT
as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: (Continued) SIREYEFEOT : (B)

Name/location

BB

Tenure

ERKE

Type
]

Approx. gross
floor area

HREEROR
(m?)
(FF7XK)

Effective Stage of
% held completion
BEREE

Bolk THER

Hong Kong
'R

Shop No. 1 on G/F
together with the loft
thereto, Beverly Court

Nos. 151-159 Hai Tan Street
Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
NLEERKY

/@i@ £5151-159%%

=P

T 5% 48

HEREE

5/F and main roof

No. 35 Tsing Yuen Street
Tai Po, New Territories
AN

IR 355
TERTERR

Ground Floor,

No. 102 Main Street Ap Lei Chau

Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong
EE M

BS BN A H71025%

bl

Shop on Ground and Cockloft
No. 186A Hai Tan Street
Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
NEERKS

BIBE186A

T R 2 [F R A2

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

TR A

Medium term lease

A

Medium term lease

TR A

Medium term lease

REHA

GRS

GRS

GES

104 60 Completed

50 90 Completed

B

102 100 Completed

BERK

89 100 Completed

[R52359

iy
YRR I-T¥ R—{FE C—m%

F'I'i,:




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2021 —ZFE_-—F=A=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group

as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

BB/

Tenure

ERKE

Type
A

R-E-_—F=ZA=+—BAKEFAENT
RREMEFBEOT  (F)

Approx. gross
floor area

HREEROR
(m?)
(FF7XK)

Effective
% held
BERES
Btk

Stage of
completion

52 7 P R

Hong Kong
B

Shop on Ground Floor
No. 270 Ki Lung Street
Sham Shui Po, Kowloon
NEERKY

EIE 5527058

T4

Flat F on 1st Floor
Gold Reserved Count
No. 16 Tai Main Lane
Tai Po, New Territories
WRKE

AR B 1698

—EFE

Ground Floor

No. 355 Sha Tsui Road
Tsuen Wan, New Territories
HRE

1 B 3555

bl

2nd Floor including Flat Roof and
Car Parking Space No. 19 on
Ground Floor

Shui Sum Industrial Building
Castle Peak Road/Kwai Sau Road
Kwai Chung, New Territories
R

SHI=VE S5

W IEAE2E

Kot 1957 JAE L

Notes:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial

Medium term lease

FHED

Medium term lease

FHED

Medium term lease

FHED

Medium term lease

R A

GES

GES

Ix

7

50

53

1,082

i3]

ﬁl{‘:

100

100

70

67

Completed

B

Completed

B

Completed

B

Completed

[R5:359

MERR I -T%¥ R—EE C—H%



Schedule of Principal Properties
i?%%ﬁ?
= H

31 March 2021 —ZF=Z—#F=H=

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R -Z - —F=A=+—HAEBFHEHN T

as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: (Continued) SIREYEFEOT : (B)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
BERER
&8/ HRAME ] ﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ% B THER
(m
(F7HK)

Hong Kong
B

Lot No 423 on D.D. 292 Medium term lease R 70 90 Completed
No. 18 Ko Tong Ha Yeung

Sai Kung, New Territories

MATEE H ERAR 4 T=E BIEK
=& NE185%

EEMLENN

292401 B 842355

Ground floor & 1st floor Medium term lease R 83 90 Completed
Lot No. 424 on D.D. 292

No.17 Ko Tong Ha Yeung

Sai Kung North, New Territories

MABEIL FEIFR A (EE=S =354
=B THFIT5R

EEMLEND

F2024) 10 R 42457

TR R —1&

Mainland China
GE PN

Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease  C 28,390 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone \
RYIE S = fEIA A EES BEX
AR RERERZR

EERREES

A building at Hua Shan Road Medium term lease | 4,647 100 Completed
Chaotian Industrial Area
Shilou Town

Panyu District
Guangdong Province
ﬁ%%%é

HBE

RiEH

BHIXR
ENK sz —BEF

Notes: B

R HIAR A % [R5359

F'I'i,:

Types of properties: |-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIERER: I-T%¥ R—F=E C-&%




Schedule of Principal Properties

TEHEME

31 March 2021 —ZFE_-—F=A=+—H

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group
as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: (Continued)

Name/location

BB/

Tenure

ERKE

Type
A

R-E-_—F=ZA=+—BAKEFAENT
RREMEFBEOT  (F)

Approx. gross
floor area

HREEROR
(m?)
(FF7XK)

Effective
% held
BERES
Btk

Stage of
completion

52 7 P R

Mainland China
K B

Imperial Palace
Hong Yi Cun
Baoan South Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RY B R
Bk
A1
BESE

14 Zu Miao Road
Chancheng District
Foshan Municipal
I

B2

1H R BR 1455

A building at Xi Huan Road
Chaotian Industrial Area
Shilou Town

Panyu District

Guangdong Province
fRERE

E=8E

AIEHE

BHIXR

AREZ —BETF

Long term lease

RHHY

Medium term lease

LD

Medium term lease

R A

C/R

Bx/
FE

GES

Ix

4,899

6,838

18,922

100

100

100

Completed

BEK

Completed

B

Completed

[R5359

Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease ~ C/R 4,210 100 Completed
Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RYIAS B [ HERFR A wE/
ARBERREEREZA =
EEMRREES

B

Notes: 5T
YEER |- T¥ R—E®= C—HE

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWE ﬁ %
= H

31 March 2021 —ZF=Z—#F=H=

Particulars of principal investment properties held by the Group R-_ZE-—F=A=+—HAEBFANT

as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: (Continued) DIREYEFEOT : (&)
Approx. gross Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type floor area % held completion
EBEE
&8/ HR%E %5l BEEEHENH Bolk ZTHER
(m?)
(RFHXK)
Block 5, Hui Bo Commercial Centre, Medium term lease ~ C 9,203 100 Completed

Guangzhou South Station

Shibi Street, Pany District,

Guanzhou City,

Guangdong Province

BR4 F HAE 4 [EES BEK
BMmEREAES

&M Ea vh

SEEED LR

An industrial complex at Medium term lease | 15,907 65 Completed
18 Xingye Road

Xiuying District

Haikou City, Hainan Province

R EEasAm R EARE 4 T% BEX
K185 2 — BB B

Service Apartments Located Medium term lease ~ C/R 3,682 100 Completed
at Block 3 the northern portion of

Wandao Road

Quhai Community, Wanijiang District,

Dongguan City, Guangdong Province

BREREM R HITH A wE/ =354
Bl =

55 1 LT B B R

PSES

KUAES) 7N

Notes: B&E:
Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIEER - T R—FE C—H%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2021 —ZFE_-—F=A=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZT-—F=ZA=+—BAEBFEEE
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: RZEEMEFBFOAT

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
BERFE
8/ HR%tE 5l BEEEHENH Bolk ZTHER
(m?)
(RFHXK)

Hong Kong
gE

Unit A, 26th Floor and Medium term lease | 812 100 Completed
Car park space Nos. 19, 20, 21,

22, 39 and 40 on 2nd Floor and

Lorry Parking Space No. L.21

on 1st Floor, Wyler Centre, Phase |l

200 Tai Lin Pai Road

Kwai Chung, New Territories

AR EATE A I% BIERK
KB 5820055

XYl

26IEAE R2IEE1955 -

2055 2155 ~ 2255 -

395 RA0SR B AL K

L2 EEAEN

Unit 18 and 19 on 8th Floor Medium term lease | 298 60 Completed
Wah Sang Industrial Building

Nos. 14-18 Wong Chuk Yeung Street

Shatin, New territories

¥R H  HAE 4 IT%¥ BIERK
B E14-185

EHETEAE

BEE18ER19E

ﬁl{‘:

Notes: e

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I- T R—F= C—&%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEWE ﬁ %
= H

31 March 2021 —E=—#=H=+4—
Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE-—F=F=+—HBHAEBZHEIEAY
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: % -HERRBZ ESWEFBO T (B)
(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
BEREE
£/ HR%tE Al BEEHENH Bolk THER
(m?)
(RFHXK)

Mainland China
B kB

Nos. 3-6, 5/F Medium term lease  C 1,068 100 Completed
Carrianna Friendship Square

Junction Renmin Road South

and Chunfeng Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN BE R FHITRA) BE =354
AREEIERBERZR

EERRERES

A 183-65%

Units A, B, Cand D Medium term lease  C 557 100 Completed
14th Floor and Unit South B on

17th Floor, Lianhua Building

Renmin South Road, Luohu District

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RYIAS B [ HERFE A [EES BIERK
BHEAREE

BEXE

14#2A B CRDER17ZEBE

Notes: e

ﬁl{‘:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YIEER: I- T R—FE C—HX




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2021 —ZFE_-—F=A=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held as property, plant and R-ZE-—F=F=+—HAEBHEIEAY
equipment by the Group as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: % -HERRBZ EEWEFBUO T (B)
(Continued)

Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
BEREE
8/ HR%E 5l BEEEHENH Bolk THER
(m?)
(RFHXK)

Mainland China
RE KM

Room 301-304, 321-326 Long term lease C 1,570 100 Completed
Shenzhen Centre

Commercial Building, Min Tian West

Road, Futian Centre District

Futian District

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

R BEE REALD RS BEK
‘AR

BHPLERAEA

FIRLEBRE

301-304% [ 321-326F

14 Zu Miao Road Medium term lease  C 12,954 100 Completed
Chancheng District

Foshan Municipal

Il R HITHA) [EES BIERK
B &

18 B RE 1457

Sales Centre Medium term lease  C 1,739 100 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

BEEE R ERRE A [EES 2EX
BEBLERMAER

mEEXER

R AE B ECR

ZHP L

Notes: B

lx:.q:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T¥ R—F=E C—E%




Schedule of Principal Properties
iE%%ﬁE
= H

31 March 2021 —ZF=Z—#F=H=

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the R-ZE-—F=ZA=+—HAAEEFELE

Group as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: R EEMEFFET
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
BEREE
&8/ HR%tE ] HEEEHENH B THER
(m?)
(RFHXK)
Mainland China
B AR
Carrianna Friendship Square Medium term lease  C/R 212 100 Completed

Junction Renmin Road South
and Chunfeng Road
Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RIS B = EAFE A EEY4 BIERK
AREERERERR F=

EEFRERES

Imperial Palace Long term lease C/R 153 100 Completed
Hong Yi Cun

Baoan South Road

Shenzhen Special Economic Zone

RN B E REALD EEYS BIEK
BELmK T=x

B

BERE

Notes: B

'13';{,:

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial PIEER: I-T% R—FE C-&%




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2021 —ZFE_-—F=A=+—H

Particulars of principal properties held for sale held by the R-ZT-—F=ZA=+—BAEEFAEL

Group as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: (Continued) EZEEMEFBOT : (&)
Approx. Effective Stage of
Name/location Tenure Type gross floor area % held completion
BEREE
&8/ HR%E A BEEEHENH Bolk THER
(m?)
(RFHXK)
Mainland China
Bl KB
Leather Trade Centre Medium term lease  C 34,510 100 Completed

East of Xin Guang Road/South of
Da Gang Road B section

Lin Gang Industrial Area
Lianyungang Eco & Tech
Development Zone

Lianyungang

EEE TR A [GES 2573014
EEBEAERMAE R

BEEXRRE

# LB R A B R BER

HEREZHH L

Building Materials Trade Centre Medium term lease  C 49,157 100 Completed
East of Xin Guang Road/South of

Da Gang Road C section

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

EE) RETHA GES [R52359
RBEXR

HICBE R A BRI CR

EMZHH 0

ﬁl{‘:

Notes: e

Types of properties: I-Industrial, R-Residential, C-Commercial YRR I-T¥ R—F=E C—&%




Schedule of Principal Properties
i?%%ﬁ?
= H

31 March 2021 —ZF=Z—#F=H=

Particulars of principal properties under development held by R-E-—F=ZA=+—HAAEEFELE

the Group as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: (Continued) P EFEYEFBOT: (B)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BERER
1 B A® THEE 5T F P& ER Bl ESTHAH
(m?)
(FHK)
Mainland China
B K pE
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 26,069 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road B section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

BER BE/x ETRETH TER
BEBKERMAER

BEEXRRE

# LB R A B R BER

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 77,757 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road F section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

HE; mE/E METRETH TEA
EEELBERMAER

mEEXR

B RABBEFR

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 22,731 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road C section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

HE; HE/EE WETRETH NEH
BEBLERMAE R

BEEXRE

IR AB B ECR




Schedule of Principal Properties
FTEDEME

31 March 2021 —ZFE_-—F=A=+—H

Particulars of principal properties under development held by R-ZT-—F=ZA=+—BAEBFEEE

the Group as at 31 March 2021 are as follows: (Continued) RZEEMEFBOT: (&)
Expected
Site Stage of Effective completion
Location Use area completion % held date
BEREH
1y B A® THEE 5T F P ER Bot BrtxERBH
(m?)
(FHK)
Mainland China
thE AR
East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 93,643 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road E section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

EEE BE/Ex ETRETH TiER
EEBEAERMAE R

BEEXRRE

LB RAERFEER

East of Xin Guang Road/South of Commercial/ 122,577 Foundation work 100 N/A
Da Gang Road G section residential in progress

Lin Gang Industrial Area

Lianyungang Eco & Tech

Development Zone

Lianyungang

BEE mE/Ix WETRETH NiE R
EEBLERMAER

mEEXR

B RABRAGER
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